
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 2:05-cv-2299-KHV-GLR 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 
 

 
NOVATION, LLC, VHA INC., 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM 
ROBERT BAKER AND CURT NONOMAQUE’S  

MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF’S  
MOTION TO STRIKE DEFENDANTS’ RENEWED MOTION TO DISMISS 

 
TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF THIS COURT: 

 
Defendants Novation, LLC (“Novation”), VHA Inc. (“VHA”), University Healthsystem 

Consortium (“UHC”), Robert Baker, and Curt Nonomaque (collectively, “Defendants”) 

respectfully request that the Court deny Plaintiff’s Motion to Strike Defendants’ Renewed 

Motion to Dismiss .   

Plaintiff argues, among other things, that Defendants’ Renewed Motion to Dismiss 

constitutes a “second” motion to dismiss prohibited by Rule 12.  That is patently untrue, as 

Defendants have simply renewed their Motion to Dismiss, originally filed in the U.S. District 

Court for the Western District of Missouri, because such motion was not addressed prior to 

transfer.  To the extent that Plaintiff’s Motion to Strike includes arguments directed at the merits 

of Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, Defendants hereby incorporate the arguments and authorities 

contained in Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and in Defendants’ reply brief. 
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PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, for all of these reasons, Defendants request that the Court deny 

Plaintiff’s Motion to Strike and also request all other relief to which Defendants are entitled. 

HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By:     /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on September 16, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 
clerk of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to 
the following:: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Jonathan H. Gregor   jgregor@stklaw.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Bret D. Landrith   landrithlaw@cox.net 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 

 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) 
v.      ) Case No. 05-2299-KHV 
      ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
 

MEMORANDUM OF DEFENDANTS US BANCORP, U.S. BANK, 
JERRY S. GRUNDHOFER, ANDREW CECERE, 

THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES AND ANDREW S. DUFF IN OPPOSITION 
TO PLAINTIFF’S FIRST MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

The “First Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment” should be denied.  Not only 

does the motion fail on the merits of its legal arguments, the “statement of facts” also cannot support 

the plaintiff’s request for partial summary judgment.  The supposed “facts” are largely inadmissible 

statements of legal conclusion, mere allegation, contain irrelevant and immaterial information, and 

otherwise constitute inadmissible hearsay.  Plaintiff’s motion is in reality a disguised and belated 

attempt to respond further to the defendants’ various motions to dismiss.  Moreover, plaintiff seeks 

improper advisory opinions from the Court through its motion.  Because of the numerous procedural 

and substantive deficiencies in plaintiff’s motion, it must be denied. 

RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF’S “STATEMENT OF FACTS FOR 
PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON LEGAL ISSUES” 

Defendants hereby respond to plaintiff’s “statement of facts” as follows: 

1. Controverted.  Objection.  Plaintiff’s “statement” is based solely upon a “news story,” 

is hearsay and, thus, is inadmissible evidence for purposes of summary judgment.  See Kephart v. 

Data Sys. Intern., Inc., 243 F. Supp.2d 1205, 1209 (D. Kan. 2003); Wells Dairy, Inc. v. Travelers 

Indem. Co., 241 F. Supp.2d 945, 956 (N.D. Iowa 2003); Countryside Oil Co. v. Travelers Ins. Co., 
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928 F. Supp. 474, 482 (D.N.J. 1995); see also Villodas v. HealthSouth Corp., 338 F. Supp.2d 1096, 

1104 (D. Ariz. 2004) (“news stories” not admissible evidence).  Moreover, the supposed “facts” are 

irrelevant to these defendants. 

2. Controverted.  Objection.  Plaintiff’s “statement” is based solely upon unsworn 

comments in a “news story,” is hearsay and, thus, is inadmissible evidence for purposes of summary 

judgment.  See Kephart v. Data Sys. Intern., Inc., 243 F. Supp.2d 1205, 1209 (D. Kan. 2003); Wells 

Dairy, Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co., 241 F. Supp.2d 945, 956 (N.D. Iowa 2003); Countryside Oil Co. 

v. Travelers Ins. Co., 928 F. Supp. 474, 482 (D.N.J. 1995); see also Villodas v. HealthSouth Corp., 

338 F. Supp.2d 1096, 1104 (D. Ariz. 2004) (“news stories” not admissible evidence).  Moreover, the 

supposed “facts” are irrelevant to these defendants. 

3. Controverted.  Objection.  Plaintiff’s “statement” is based solely upon hearsay and, 

thus, is inadmissible evidence for purposes of summary judgment.  See Kephart v. Data Sys. Intern., 

Inc., 243 F. Supp.2d 1205, 1209 (D. Kan. 2003); Wells Dairy, Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co., 241 

F. Supp.2d 945, 956 (N.D. Iowa 2003); Countryside Oil Co. v. Travelers Ins. Co., 928 F. Supp. 474, 

482 (D.N.J. 1995); Villodas v. HealthSouth Corp., 338 F. Supp.2d 1096, 1104 (D. Ariz. 2004).  

Moreover, the supposed “facts” are irrelevant to these defendants. 

4. Controverted.  Objection.  Plaintiff’s “statement” is based solely upon hearsay and 

legal argument and, thus, is inadmissible evidence for purposes of summary judgment.  See Kephart 

v. Data Sys. Intern., Inc., 243 F. Supp.2d 1205, 1209 (D. Kan. 2003); Wells Dairy, Inc. v. Travelers 

Indem. Co., 241 F. Supp.2d 945, 956 (N.D. Iowa 2003); Countryside Oil Co. v. Travelers Ins. Co., 

928 F. Supp. 474, 482 (D.N.J. 1995); Villodas v. HealthSouth Corp., 338 F. Supp.2d 1096, 1104 (D. 

Ariz. 2004).  Moreover, the supposed “facts” are irrelevant to these defendants. 
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5. Controverted.  Although plaintiff did file an amended complaint in 2002 against 

certain individuals and companies, those claims were dismissed by the district court and affirmed on 

appeal by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, 2003 WL 

21479192 (D. Kan. 2003), aff’d 112 Fed. Appx. 730 (10th Cir. 2004).  Plaintiffs may not properly 

rely upon allegations in their complaint, Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e), particularly one that has been 

dismissed by the court. 

6. Controverted.  Although plaintiff did file an amended complaint in 2002 against 

certain individuals and companies, those claims were dismissed by the district court and affirmed on 

appeal by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, 2003 WL 

21479192 (D. Kan. 2003), aff’d 112 Fed. Appx. 730 (10th Cir. 2004).  Plaintiffs may not properly 

rely upon allegations in their complaint, Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e), particularly one that has been 

dismissed by the court. 

7. Controverted.  Although plaintiff did file an amended complaint in 2002 against 

certain individuals and companies, those claims were dismissed by the district court and affirmed on 

appeal by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, 2003 WL 

21479192 (D. Kan. 2003), aff’d 112 Fed. Appx. 730 (10th Cir. 2004).  Plaintiffs may not properly 

rely upon allegations in their complaint, Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e), particularly one that has been 

dismissed by the court.  Moreover, the supposed “affidavit” does not make clear what “facts” are 

based upon personal knowledge or, as the “affidavit” states, are based upon “information” or 

“belief,” which is improper.  See Hughes v. Amerada Hess Corp., 187 F.R.D. 682, 685 (M.D. Fla., 

1999) (“Where there is a strict statutory requirement that an affidavit be based upon personal 

knowledge, as in Rule 56(e), then an affidavit based on information and belief is insufficient.”) 

(citation omitted). 
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8. Defendants admit that plaintiffs’ attempts to obtain injunctive relief failed but deny 

any and all claims of “monopolization.”  Plaintiffs’ claims were dismissed by the district court and 

affirmed on appeal by the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. 

US Bancorp, 2003 WL 21479192 (D. Kan. 2003), aff’d 112 Fed. Appx. 730 (10th Cir. 2004). 

9. Controverted.  Objection.  The evidence supporting plaintiff’s supposed statement of 

“fact” is the current complaint and its allegations which are wholly insufficient to support summary 

judgment.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e); Earwood v. Norfolk So. Ry. Co., 845 F. Supp. 880, 884 (N.D. 

Ga. 1993). 

10. Controverted.  Objection.  The evidence supporting plaintiff’s supposed statement of 

fact is the current complaint which is wholly insufficient to support summary judgment.  See 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56; Earwood v. Norfolk So. Ry. Co., 845 F. Supp. 880, 884 (N.D. Ga. 1993).  

Moreover, the supposed “facts” are irrelevant to these defendants. 

11. Controverted.  Objection.  Defendants dispute that any submission to the Kansas 

Disciplinary Council was “fraudulent.”  Not only is plaintiff’s “statement” a legal conclusion, but the 

material supporting plaintiff’s supposed statement of fact clearly demonstrates the validity of the 

submission.  Finally, the supposed statement of “fact” is irrelevant to these defendants. 

12. Controverted.  Objection.  The evidence supporting plaintiff’s supposed statement of 

fact is the current complaint and its allegations which are wholly insufficient to support summary 

judgment.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e); Earwood v. Norfolk So. Ry. Co., 845 F. Supp. 880, 884 (N.D. 

Ga. 1993).  In addition, defendants dispute that any submission to the Kansas Disciplinary Council 

was “fraudulent.”  The material supporting plaintiff’s supposed statement of fact clearly 

demonstrates the validity of the submission.  Moreover, the statement of “fact” is irrelevant to these 

defendants. 
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13. Controverted.  Objection.  Plaintiff’s “statement” is based solely upon hearsay and, 

thus, is inadmissible evidence for purposes of summary judgment.  See Kephart v. Data Sys. Intern., 

Inc., 243 F. Supp.2d 1205, 1209 (D. Kan. 2003); Wells Dairy, Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co., 241 

F. Supp.2d 945, 956 (N.D. Iowa 2003); Countryside Oil Co. v. Travelers Ins. Co., 928 F. Supp. 474, 

482 (D.N.J. 1995); Villodas v. HealthSouth Corp., 338 F. Supp.2d 1096, 1104 (D. Ariz. 2004).  

Moreover, the supposed “facts” are irrelevant to these defendants. 

14. Controverted.  Objection.  The evidence supporting plaintiff’s supposed statement of 

“fact” include the current complaint and its allegations which are wholly insufficient to support 

summary judgment.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e); Earwood v. Norfolk So. Ry. Co., 845 F. Supp. 880, 

884 (N.D. Ga. 1993).  Moreover, the supposed “affidavit” does not make clear what “facts” are 

based upon personal knowledge or, as the “affidavit” states, are based upon “information” or “belief” 

which is improper.  Hughes v. Amerada Hess Corp., 187 F.R.D. 682, 685 (M.D. Fla., 1999) (“Where 

there is a strict statutory requirement that an affidavit be based upon personal knowledge, as in 

Rule 56(e), then an affidavit based on information and belief is insufficient.”) (citation omitted).  The 

“affidavit” is filled with speculation and innuendo inappropriate for consideration as “personal 

knowledge.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e). 

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD 

Although Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 permits the filing of motions for partial summary judgment, 

some courts have held that partial summary judgment motions are disfavored.  See Tilcon Minerals, 

Inc. v. Orange and Rockland Util., Inc., 851 F. Supp. 529, 531 (S.D.N.Y. 1994).  That certainly is 

the case here where plaintiff’s motion adds nothing to the ultimate disposition of the entire matter 

and, like many of its other filings, plaintiff’s piecemeal effort is wasting valuable resources of the 

Court and parties.  No efficiencies are created by these improvident and spurious filings, yet 

defendants remain compelled to continue responding.  Enough is enough. 
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Moreover, plaintiff’s motion is procedurally and substantively deficient in that plaintiff relies 

upon inadmissible and irrelevant evidence of its supposed “facts” and inapposite law to support the 

underlying the motion.  That is wholly insufficient.  Earwood v. Norfolk So. Ry. Co., 845 F. Supp. 

880, 884 (N.D. Ga. 1993).  In these circumstances, defendants are not obligated to put forth 

additional evidence.  Id. 

ARGUMENT 

Plaintiff’s motion and memorandum are nothing more than a belated effort to save its 

meritless RICO claim from dismissal.1  Plaintiff seeks only an advisory ruling from this Court 

concerning what it might prove or be permitted to prove should this case ever reach trial.  But that is 

not the purpose of a dispositive summary judgment motion.  Because the motion is insufficient as a 

matter of law, it must be denied. 

Plaintiff’s motion is a virtual cut-out of an opinion from the district court in United States v. 

Philip Morris USA, 327 F. Supp.2d 13 (D.D.C. 2004).  While plaintiff argues that the present case is 

somehow parallel to the United States’ action against the tobacco industry, notwithstanding the 

spurious and caustic nature of those of those characterizations, any factual basis for the comparison 

is utterly lacking.  The United States’ motion sought to address certain affirmative defenses pleaded 

in that case; however, here most of the defendants have filed dispositive motions to dismiss and have 

not yet filed answers and affirmative defenses.  Thus, unlike in Philip Morris, any court ruling on 

this motion would be premature and advisory.  The motion should be denied. 

PLAINTIFF HAS NOT PLEADED THAT THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS 
ARE DISTINCT FROM THE RICO ENTERPRISE. 

Although plaintiff seeks by its motion to have the Court rule as a matter of law that the 

defendants in this case are separate and distinct from the supposed RICO enterprise, nowhere in 
                                                 

1 Defendants’ motion to dismiss the plaintiffs’ complaint remains pending. 
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Count XV of plaintiff’s complaint does it even plead that allegation.  Nor has any affirmative 

defense been raised as to this issue at this time.  Moreover, there are no “facts” in plaintiff’s 

“statement of facts” to support its proposition and, therefore, nothing has been proven to demonstrate 

that each defendant is distinct from the supposed RICO enterprise.  Whether the point is ultimately 

disputed, plaintiff’s motion should be denied at this time on the sole basis that plaintiff has not 

demonstrated uncontroverted facts–nor has it even pleaded an allegation in its complaint–that each 

defendant is distinct from the alleged RICO enterprise.   

Finally, because an affirmative defense has not been raised as to this issue as yet, plaintiff is 

seeking through this motion an improper advisory opinion as to its viability.  Gusdonovich v. 

Business Information Co., 705 F. Supp. 262, 266 (W.D. Pa., 1985) (“The defendants have not raised 

this defense in their pleadings, and therefore the plaintiff is seeking, through his motion for summary 

judgment, an advisory opinion which this court is not empowered to make.”) (citation omitted). 

Accordingly, plaintiff’s first argument for partial summary judgment should be denied. 

PLAINTIFF’S ARGUMENT THAT IT MAY ESTABLISH LIABILITY 
UNDER 28 U.S.C. § 1962(d) WITHOUT PROOF OF PARTICIPATION 

IN THE OPERATION OR MANAGEMENT OF AN ENTERPRISE FAILS 

As with its first argument, plaintiff has not adduced any facts nor has it pleaded that it need 

not prove participation in the operation or management of a RICO enterprise for purposes of a claim 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1962(d).  In fact, the burden plaintiff has taken upon itself by its pleading is to 

show that the defendants did participate in the operation and management of a RICO enterprise.  See 

Complaint ¶ 577.  Based upon the statements and allegations in its complaint, plaintiff cannot now 

seek summary judgment contrary to its stated legal theory. 

As above, plaintiff recites much of the court’s order in United States v. Philip Morris, 327 

F. Supp.2d 13 (D.D.C. 2004) to support its views.  Significantly, however, that court distinguished 

the government’s case against the tobacco industry from a private civil RICO claim like Medical 
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Supply Chain asserts here.  Id. at 20 n.10.  Nothing in Philip Morris can or should be read to expand 

its reach outside of a criminal case or the government’s claim for equitable relief. 

Regardless of the Phillip Morris decision’s application to the present case, plaintiff is again 

seeking an improper advisory opinion from the Court.  Plaintiff requests “partial summary judgment 

that a Defendant’s liability for RICO conspiracy does not require that Defendant to [sic]  participate 

in the operation or management of the enterprise should be granted.”  (Pl. Mo. p. 9.)  Plaintiff’s 

motion seeks an advisory opinion concerning what it may at some future time try to prove.  

Gusdonovich , 705 F. Supp. at 266; U.S. v. Seymour Recycling Corp., 686 F. Supp. 696, 700 (S.D. 

Ind., 1988) (“[A] ruling by the Court in favor of the Generator Defendants would be an advisory 

opinion without a sound basis in fact or law.”). 

Accordingly, plaintiff’s second request for a preliminary ruling by this Court must be denied. 

PLAINTIFF’S “CLAIM” OF AIDING AND ABETTING 
IS INSUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW 

Plaintiff asserts in its third argument that it need do nothing more than claim aiding and 

abetting liability in order for it to stand at trial.  Plaintiff’s request is that the Court hold that “a 

Defendant’s liability for RICO aiding and abetting liability does not have to be determined at trial.”  

(Pl. Mem. p. 11.)  Once again, not only has plaintiff failed to plead “aiding and abetting” in its RICO 

claim (Count XV), it also has not provided any factual basis for this argument to support summary 

judgment. 

Moreover, plaintiff is incorrect as a matter of law.  Although the Tenth Circuit Court of 

Appeals has apparently not yet decided whether aiding and abetting liability under the RICO statute 

remains cognizable in a private RICO cause of action (following the United States Supreme Court 

decision in Central Bank of Denver v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, 511 U.S. 164 (1994)) the 

weight of authority holds that aiding and abetting under a private civil RICO claim is not available.  
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See Pennsylvania Assoc. of Edwards Heirs v. Rightenour, 235 F.3d 839, 844 (3rd Cir. 2000); Rolo v. 

City Investing Co. Liquidating Trust, 155 F.3d 644, 657 (3rd Cir. 1998); King v. Deutsche Bank Ag., 

2005 WL 611954 *28 (D. Ore., Mar. 8, 2005); Jubelirer v. Mastercard Intern., Inc., 68 F. Supp.2d 

1049, 1054 (W.D. Wisc. 1999); Wuliger v. Liberty Bank, N.A., 2004 WL 3377416 (N.D. Ohio 2004); 

Heffernan v. HSBC Bank USA, 2001 WL 803719 *7 (E.D.N.Y., Mar. 29, 2001).  Plaintiff relies 

exclusively upon criminal cases which are decidedly inapposite. 

Accordingly, based upon the weight of legal authority, plaintiff’s argument for partial 

summary judgment must be denied. 

CONCLUSION 

For all of the above reasons, plaintiff’s motion for partial summary judgment should be 

denied.2 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF KS FED #70339 
JONATHAN H. GREGOR KS #16005 
LOGAN W. OVERMAN KS #21398 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 

                                                 
2 Plaintiff’s final argument seeking partial summary judgment is asserted solely against the 

law firm defendant in this case.  Accordingly, because plaintiff seeks no relief on its summary 
judgment motion against these defendants for that argument, defendants do not respond.  However, 
to the extent any response is necessary, defendants hereby incorporate the response of the law firm 
defendant. 
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     and 
ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES, 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, ANDREW CECERE 
AND ANDREW S. DUFF 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing document was filed electronically 
with the above-captioned court, with notice of case activity to be generated and sent electronically 
by the Clerk of said court (with a copy to be mailed to any individuals who do not receive electronic 
notice from the Clerk) this 29th day of September, 2005, to: 

Bret D. Landrith, Esq. 
2961 SW Central Park #G33 
Topeka, KS  66611 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
John K. Power, Esq. 
Husch & Eppenberger, LLC 
1700 One Kansas City Place 
1200 Main Street 
Kansas City, MO  64105-2122 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq. 
Natausha Wilson, Esq. 
Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott 
34th Floor 
50 California Street 
San Francisco, CA  94111 
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq. 
Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq. 
Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. 
2300 First City Tower 
1001 Fannin 
Houston, TX  77002 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
Kathleen Hardee, Esq. 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
(816) 421-3355 
(816) 374-0509 (FAX) 
 
Attorney for Defendant Shughart 
Thomson & Kilroy, P.C. 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 05-2299-KHV 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 
 

DEFENDANT SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY P.C.’S MEMORANDUM IN 
OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy P.C., for its opposition to Plaintiff’s “Motion for 

Partial Summary Judgment,” states as follows: 

Response to Plaintiff’s Statement of Facts 

1. Controverted. 

  a. Objection.  Plaintiff’s alleged factual allegation contained in Item No. 1 is not 

properly supported by “pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file” or 

by affidavits, as is required by Rule 56(c), F.R.Civ.P. and Rule 56.1, D.Kan.R. (“…shall refer with 

particularity to those portions of the record on which movant relies.”).   

  b. Objection. Item No. 1 is merely supported by the attachment of a 

newspaper article and as such constitutes hearsay and, thus, is inadmissible evidence for purposes of 

summary judgment.  See Kephart v. Data Sys. Intern., Inc., 243 F. Supp.2d 1205, 1209 (D. Kan. 

2003); Wells Dairy, Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co., 241 F. Supp.2d 945, 956 (N.D. Iowa 2003); 

Countryside Oil Co. v. Travelers Ins. Co., 928 F. Supp. 474, 482 (D.N.J. 1995); see also Villodas v. 

HealthSouth Corp., 338 F. Supp.2d 1096, 1104 (D. Ariz. 2004) (“news stories” not admissible 

evidence).   
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  c. Moreover even if properly supported and admissible, the alleged “facts” 

contained in Item No. 1 are irrelevant to Shughart Thomson, to the claims raised in this litigation, 

and to plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment. 

2. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  Plaintiff’s alleged factual allegation contained in Item No. 2 is not 

properly supported by “pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file” or 

by affidavits, as is required by Rule 56(c), F.R.Civ.P. and Rule 56.1, D.Kan.R. (“…shall refer with 

particularity to those portions of the record on which movant relies.”).   

  b. Objection. Item No. 2 is merely supported by the attachment of a 

newspaper article which references comments allegedly made by an individual.  As such, the support 

for Item No. 2 constitutes hearsay within hearsay and, thus, is inadmissible evidence for purposes of  

summary judgment.  See Kephart v. Data Sys. Intern., Inc., 243 F. Supp.2d 1205, 1209 (D. Kan. 

2003); Wells Dairy, Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co., 241 F. Supp.2d 945, 956 (N.D. Iowa 2003); 

Countryside Oil Co. v. Travelers Ins. Co., 928 F. Supp. 474, 482 (D.N.J. 1995); see also Villodas v. 

HealthSouth Corp., 338 F. Supp.2d 1096, 1104 (D. Ariz. 2004) (“news stories” not admissible 

evidence).   

  c. Moreover even if properly supported and admissible, the alleged “facts” 

contained in Item No. 2 are irrelevant to Shughart Thomson, to the claims raised in this litigation, 

and to plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment. 

3. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  Plaintiff’s alleged factual allegation contained in Item No. 3 is not 

properly supported by “pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file” or 
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by affidavits, as is required by Rule 56(c), F.R.Civ.P. and Rule 56.1, D.Kan.R. (“…shall refer with 

particularity to those portions of the record on which movant relies.”).   

  b. Objection. Item No. 3 is supported in part by the attachment of a 

newspaper article and in part by hearsay in a pleading in an unrelated matter.  As such, the support 

for Item No. 3 constitutes hearsay and, thus, is inadmissible evidence for purposes of  summary 

judgment.  See Kephart v. Data Sys. Intern., Inc., 243 F. Supp.2d 1205, 1209 (D. Kan. 2003); Wells 

Dairy, Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co., 241 F. Supp.2d 945, 956 (N.D. Iowa 2003); Countryside Oil Co. 

v. Travelers Ins. Co., 928 F. Supp. 474, 482 (D.N.J. 1995); see also Villodas v. HealthSouth Corp., 

338 F. Supp.2d 1096, 1104 (D. Ariz. 2004) (“news stories” not admissible evidence).   

  c. Moreover even if properly supported and admissible, the alleged “fact” 

relating to an unrelated case involving unrelated claims and naming unrelated parties, is irrelevant to 

Shughart Thomson, to the claims raised in this litigation, and to plaintiff’s motion for summary 

judgment. 

4. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  Plaintiff’s alleged factual allegation contained in Item No. 4 is not 

properly supported by “pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file” or 

by affidavits, as is required by Rule 56(c), F.R.Civ.P. and Rule 56.1, D.Kan.R. (“…shall refer with 

particularity to those portions of the record on which movant relies.”).   

  b. Objection. Item No. 4 is solely supported by hearsay contained in a 

pleading filed in an unrelated matter.  The support for Item No. 4 constitutes hearsay and, thus, is 

inadmissible evidence for purposes of  summary judgment.  See Kephart v. Data Sys. Intern., Inc., 

243 F. Supp.2d 1205, 1209 (D. Kan. 2003); Wells Dairy, Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co., 241 F. Supp.2d 
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945, 956 (N.D. Iowa 2003); Countryside Oil Co. v. Travelers Ins. Co., 928 F. Supp. 474, 482 (D.N.J. 

1995); see also Villodas v. HealthSouth Corp., 338 F. Supp.2d 1096, 1104 (D. Ariz. 2004).   

  c. Moreover even if properly supported and admissible, the alleged “fact” 

relating to an unrelated case involving unrelated claims and naming unrelated parties, is irrelevant to 

Shughart Thomson, to the claims raised in this litigation, and to plaintiff’s motion for summary 

judgment. 

5. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  Plaintiff filed an amended complaint in 2002 against certain 

individuals and companies in a separate action.  Shughart Thomson affirmatively states that those 

claims were dismissed by the district court and such dismissal was affirmed on appeal by the Tenth 

Circuit Court of Appeals.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, 2003 WL 21479192 (D. Kan. 

2003), aff’d 112 Fed. Appx. 730 (10th Cir. 2004).  Plaintiffs may not properly rely upon allegations 

in a complaint that has been dismissed by the Court. 

  b. Objection.  Plaintiff has failed to attach a complaint which is either certified, 

sworn, or even signed by counsel.  Pursuant to Rule 56(e), F.R.Civ.P., Item No. 5 constitutes a 

factual allegation not properly supported by the record. 

  c. Moreover even if properly supported and admissible, the alleged “facts” 

contained in Item No. 5 are irrelevant to Shughart Thomson and to plaintiff’s motion for summary 

judgment. 

6. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  Plaintiff filed an amended complaint in 2002 against certain 

individuals and companies in a separate action.  Shughart Thomson affirmatively states that those 

claims were dismissed by the district court and such dismissal was affirmed on appeal by the Tenth 
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Circuit Court of Appeals.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, 2003 WL 21479192 (D. Kan. 

2003), aff’d 112 Fed. Appx. 730 (10th Cir. 2004).  Plaintiffs may not properly rely upon allegations 

in a complaint that has been dismissed by the Court. 

  b. Objection.  Plaintiff has failed to attach a complaint which is either certified, 

sworn, or even signed by counsel.  Pursuant to Rule 56(e), F.R.Civ.P., Item No. 6 constitutes a 

factual allegation not properly supported by the record. 

  c. Moreover even if properly supported and admissible, the alleged “facts” 

contained in Item No. 6 are irrelevant to Shughart Thomson and to plaintiff’s motion for summary 

judgment. 

7. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  Plaintiff filed an amended complaint in 2002 against certain 

individuals and companies in a separate action.  Shughart Thomson affirmatively states that those 

claims were dismissed by the district court and such dismissal was affirmed on appeal by the Tenth 

Circuit Court of Appeals.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, 2003 WL 21479192 (D. Kan. 

2003), aff’d 112 Fed. Appx. 730 (10th Cir. 2004).  Plaintiffs may not properly rely upon allegations 

in a complaint that has been dismissed by the Court.   

  b. Objection.  Plaintiff has failed to attach a complaint which is either certified, 

sworn, or even signed by counsel.  Pursuant to Rule 56(e), F.R.Civ.P., Item No. 7 constitutes a 

factual allegation not factually supported by the record. 

  c. Objection.  The referenced affidavit does not make clear what “facts” are 

based upon personal knowledge or, as the affidavit states, are based upon “information” or “belief,” 

which is improper.  See Hughes v. Amerada Hess Corp., 187 F.R.D. 682, 685 (M.D. Fla., 1999) 

(“Where there is a strict statutory requirement that an affidavit be based upon personal knowledge, 
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as in Rule 56(e), then an affidavit based on information and belief is insufficient.”) (citation 

omitted). 

  d. Moreover even if properly supported and admissible, the alleged “facts” 

contained in Item No. 7 are irrelevant to Shughart Thomson and to plaintiff’s motion for summary 

judgment. 

8. Admit.  Defendant admits that plaintiff’s attempts to obtain injunctive relief were 

unsuccessful.  Plaintiff’s claims were dismissed by the district court and affirmed on appeal by the 

Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, 2003 WL 21479192 (D. 

Kan. 2003), aff’d 112 Fed. Appx. 730 (10th Cir. 2004). 

9. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  The evidence supporting plaintiff’s supposed statement of fact in 

Item No. 9 is the current complaint and its allegations which are wholly insufficient to support 

summary judgment.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e); Earwood v. Norfolk So. Ry. Co., 845 F. Supp. 880, 

884 (N.D. Ga. 1993). 

  b. Moreover even if properly supported and admissible, the alleged “facts” 

contained in Item No. 9 are irrelevant to Shughart Thomson and to plaintiff’s motion for summary 

judgment.  

10. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  The evidence supporting plaintiff’s supposed statement of fact in 

Item No. 10 is the current complaint which is wholly insufficient to support summary judgment.  See 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 56; Earwood v. Norfolk So. Ry. Co., 845 F. Supp. 880, 884 (N.D. Ga. 1993). 
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  b. Shughart Thomson & Kilroy has taken no efforts to “obstruct justice” or 

“prevent [M]edical Supply from having representation and legal resources.  See Affidavit, attached 

hereto.  

11. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  Plaintiff’s alleged factual allegation contained in Item No. 11 is 

not properly supported by “pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on 

file” or by affidavits, as is required by Rule 56(c), F.R.Civ.P. and Rule 56.1, D.Kan.R. (“…shall refer 

with particularity to those portions of the record on which movant relies.”).   

  b. Objection.  Not only is plaintiff’s “statement” a legal conclusion, but the 

material supporting plaintiff’s supposed statement of fact clearly demonstrates the validity of the 

submission.   

  c Neither Shughart Thomson & Kilroy nor Andrew DeMarea filed any Kansas 

Disciplinary complaint against Medical Supply’s counsel which was allegedly “fraudulent” or 

improper in any way.  See Affidavit, attached hereto.  

12. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  Plaintiff’s alleged factual allegation contained in Item No. 12 is 

not properly supported by “pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on 

file” or by affidavits, as is required by Rule 56(c), F.R.Civ.P. and Rule 56.1, D.Kan.R. (“…shall refer 

with particularity to those portions of the record on which movant relies.”).   

  b. Objection.  The evidence supporting plaintiff’s supposed statement of fact in 

Item No. 12 is in part the current complaint and its allegations which are wholly insufficient to 

support summary judgment.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e); Earwood v. Norfolk So. Ry. Co., 845 F. Supp. 

880, 884 (N.D. Ga. 1993). 
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  c. Moreover even if properly supported and admissible, the alleged “facts” 

contained in Item No. 12 are irrelevant to Shughart Thomson and to plaintiff’s motion for summary 

judgment.  

13. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  Plaintiff’s alleged factual allegation contained in Item No. 13 is 

not properly supported by “pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on 

file” or by affidavits, as is required by Rule 56(c), F.R.Civ.P. and Rule 56.1, D.Kan.R. (“…shall refer 

with particularity to those portions of the record on which movant relies.”).   

  b. Objection.  Plaintiff’s “statement” is based solely upon hearsay and, thus, is 

inadmissible evidence for purposes of summary judgment.  See Kephart v. Data Sys. Intern., Inc., 

243 F. Supp.2d 1205, 1209 (D. Kan. 2003); Wells Dairy, Inc. v. Travelers Indem. Co., 241 F. Supp.2d 

945, 956 (N.D. Iowa 2003); Countryside Oil Co. v. Travelers Ins. Co., 928 F. Supp. 474, 482 (D.N.J. 

1995); Villodas v. HealthSouth Corp., 338 F. Supp.2d 1096, 1104 (D. Ariz. 2004).   

  c. Moreover even if properly supported and admissible, the alleged “facts” 

contained in Item No. 13 are irrelevant to Shughart Thomson and to plaintiff’s motion for summary 

judgment.  

14. Controverted.   

  a. Objection.  Contrary to Rule 56(e), F.R.Civ.P., the affidavit supporting Item 

No. 14 does not make clear what “facts” are based upon personal knowledge or, as the affidavit 

states, are based upon “information” or “belief” which is improper.  Hughes v. Amerada Hess Corp., 

187 F.R.D. 682, 685 (M.D. Fla., 1999) (“Where there is a strict statutory requirement that an 

affidavit be based upon personal knowledge, as in Rule 56(e), then an affidavit based on information 
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and belief is insufficient.”) (citation omitted).  Furthermore, the “affidavit” is filled with speculation 

and innuendo inappropriate for consideration as “personal knowledge.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e). 

  b. Shughart Thomson & Kilroy has no knowledge of and has not participated in 

the outrageous claims of plaintiff as set forth in paragraph 14.  See Affidavit, attached hereto.  

 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Plaintiff’s Motion Is Procedurally Improper 

Plaintiff’s motion should be denied because it is procedurally inadequate and improper.  As 

described in detail above, the statement of material facts is not properly supported by “pleadings, 

depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file” or by affidavits, as is required by 

Rule 56(c), F.R.Civ.P. and Rule 56.1, D.Kan.R. (“…shall refer with particularity to those portions of 

the record on which movant relies.”).  Additionally, even if plaintiff’s factual allegations were 

accepted as true, those facts do not warrant the granting of summary judgment under the standards of 

Rule 56(c), F.R.Civ.P.   

As a wholly separate procedural flaw, plaintiff has filed what it refers to as a “pure legal 

question summary judgment”.  (Memorandum in Support, p.1).  Plaintiff’s motion seeks not a 

judgment against any particular defendant, or even a judgment on any particular claim.  Instead, 

plaintiff asks this Court to issue certain statements of law in the abstract, “pure legal questions,” 

(Memorandum in Support, p.1), without any necessary application to this case or these parties.   

Plaintiff’s motion “requests rulings” (Memorandum in Support, p.1), as follows: 

 a. that each defendant is distinct from the RICO enterprise, 

 b. that a defendant’s liability for RICO conspiracy does not require that 

defendant to participate in the operation or management of the enterprise, 

 c. that RICO liability extends to aiders and abettors, and 
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 d. that the law firm of Shughart Thomson & Kilroy is somehow a RICO 

defendant. 

Summary judgment is permissible only as authorized pursuant to the provisions of  Rule 56.  

Subsection (a) authorizes summary judgment for plaintiffs.  Subsection (b) authorizes summary 

judgment for defendants.  Subsection (c) defines the standard whereby motions should be granted 

only if “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact.” 

Plaintiff’s motion is not authorized within any of the first three provisions of Rule 56.  

Essentially, plaintiff is attempting to proceed under Rule 56(d), captioned “Case Not Fully 

Adjudicated on Motion,” for his motion for partial summary judgment.  But a party may not make an 

independent Rule 56(d) motion.  SFM Corp. v. Sundstrand Corp., 102 F.R.D. 555, 558 

(N.D.Ill.1984);  see also Arado v. Geberal Fire Extinguisher Corp., 626 F.Supp. 506, 508-09 

(N.D.Ill.1985);  Capitol Records, Inc. v. Progress Record Distrib., 106 F.R.D. 25, 29-30 

(N.D.Ill.1985); Oberweis Dairy v. Associated Milk Producers, Inc., 553 F.Supp. 962, 970-71 

(N.D.Ill.1982); Mendenhall v. Barber-Greene Co., 531 F.Supp. 947, 948 (N.D.Ill.1981).  Nor may 

Rule 56(d) be used to single out limited issues on which the court's advice may be obtained. 

Wetherill v. University of Chicago, 548 F.Supp. 66, 67 n. 3 (1982); Mendenhall, 531 F.Supp. at 948. 

Rather, Rule 56 is ancillary to a motion for summary judgment and designed to " 'salvage some 

results from the judicial effort involved in the denial of a motion for summary judgment.' " 10A C. 

Wright, A. Miller & M. Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure § 2737 (quoting Yale Transp. Corp. v. 

Yellow Truck & Coach Mfg. Co., 3 F.R.D. 440, 441 (D.C.N.Y.1944));  SFM Corp., 102 F.R.D. at 

558;  Arado, 626 F.Supp. at 509;  Capitol Records, Inc., 106 F.R.D. at 29. 

"[S]ummary judgment must be brought pursuant to Rule 56(a) or 56(b) and must be 

reasonably justified under 56(c)."  SFM Corp., 102 F.R.D. at 558.  Rule 56(d) does not authorize the 
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initiation of motions for summary judgment, the sole object of which is to adjudicate issues which 

are not dispositive of any claim or part thereof.  Id. 

Plaintiff’s motion attempts to mimic an opinion from the Washington, DC district court in 

United States v. Philip Morris USA, 327 F. Supp.2d 13 (D.D.C. 2004).  The distinction between 

these cases are significant.  The United States’ motion sought to obtain summary judgment 

pertaining to certain affirmative defenses, or whole “claims,” pleaded in that case.  Here most of the 

defendants, including Shughart Thomson, have filed dispositive motions to dismiss and have not yet 

filed answers or any affirmative defenses.  Thus, unlike in Philip Morris, any court ruling on this 

motion would be premature and advisory.  The motion should be denied as being procedurally 

improper. 

B. Plaintiff’s Motion Should Substantively Be Denied 

1. Plaintiff Has Not Plead or Proven That the Individual Defendants are 
Distinct From the Alleged RICO Enterprise 

 
Plaintiff’s motion asks that the Court rule as a matter of law that each defendant in this case 

is separate and distinct from the alleged RICO enterprise.  Unfortunately, that issue is not plead in 

either plaintiff’s complaint or any answer or affirmative defense from any defendant.  Plaintiff’s 

statement of material undisputed facts does not include any factual contention which would purport 

to substantiate that each defendant is distinct from the supposed RICO enterprise.   

Because the legal issue has not been plead and no facts have been proven to substantiate the 

“pure legal question summary judgment” which plaintiff seeks, plaintiff is essentially seeking an 

improper advisory opinion from this Court.  Gusdonovich v. Business Information Co., 705 F. Supp. 

262, 266 (W.D. Pa., 1985) (“The defendants have not raised this defense in their pleadings, and 

therefore the plaintiff is seeking, through his motion for summary judgment, an advisory opinion 

which this court is not empowered to make.”) (citation omitted). 
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2. Plaintiff Has Not Plead or Proven Participation in the Operation and 
Management of the Enterprise   

Plaintiff claims that it is entitled to a legal ruling from this Court that a defendant’s liability 

for RICO conspiracy does not require proof that defendant participated in the operation or 

management of the RICO enterprise.  Contrary to the position it now takes, plaintiff plead in its 

Complaint that the defendants did participate in the operation and management of a RICO enterprise.  

See Complaint ¶ 577.   And as with its first argument, plaintiff’s bizarre statement of material 

undisputed facts does not include any factual contention which would purport to substantiate that 

any particular defendant did or did not participate in the operation or management of any alleged 

RICO enterprise.   

Plaintiff is again seeking an improper advisory opinion from the Court.  Plaintiff requests 

“partial summary judgment that a Defendant’s liability for RICO conspiracy does not require that 

Defendant to [sic]  participate in the operation or management of the enterprise should be granted.”  

(Pl. Mo. p. 9.)  Plaintiff’s motion seeks an advisory opinion concerning what it may at some future 

time try to prove.  Gusdonovich , 705 F. Supp. at 266; U.S. v. Seymour Recycling Corp., 686 

F. Supp. 696, 700 (S.D. Ind., 1988) (“[A] ruling by the Court in favor of the Generator Defendants 

would be an advisory opinion without a sound basis in fact or law.”). 

As in plaintiff’s previous argument, plaintiff relies upon the court’s order in United States v. 

Philip Morris, 327 F. Supp.2d 13 (D.D.C. 2004) to support its position that a defendant’s liability for 

RICO conspiracy does not require proof that defendant participated in the operation or management 

of the RICO enterprise.  Significantly, however, the Phillip Morris court distinguished the 

government’s criminal case against the tobacco industry from a private civil RICO claim like 

Medical Supply Chain asserts here.  Id. at 20 n.10.  Therefore, besides being unsupported by 

plaintiff’s factual allegations and pleadings, plaintiff’s legal position is unsupported by the law. 
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 3. Plaintiff’s Aiding and Abetting Claim is Inadequate  

Plaintiff requests in its third argument that the Court hold that “a Defendant’s liability for 

RICO aiding and abetting liability does not have to be determined at trial.”  (Memorandum In 

Support, p. 11).  Once again, plaintiff’s statement of material undisputed facts does not include any 

factual contention which would purport to substantiate “aiding and abetting,” nor has it plead “aiding 

and abetting.”  

Moreover, plaintiff’s request for summary judgment is incorrect as a matter of law.  

Although the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals has not yet addressed whether aiding and abetting 

liability under the RICO statute remains cognizable in a private RICO cause of action (following the 

United States Supreme Court decision in Central Bank of Denver v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, 

511 U.S. 164 (1994)) the weight of authority holds that aiding and abetting under a private civil 

RICO claim is not available.  See Pennsylvania Assoc. of Edwards Heirs v. Rightenour, 235 F.3d 

839, 844 (3rd Cir. 2000); Rolo v. City Investing Co. Liquidating Trust, 155 F.3d 644, 657 (3rd Cir. 

1998); King v. Deutsche Bank Ag., 2005 WL 611954 *28 (D. Ore., Mar. 8, 2005); Jubelirer v. 

Mastercard Intern., Inc., 68 F. Supp.2d 1049, 1054 (W.D. Wisc. 1999); Wuliger v. Liberty Bank, 

N.A., 2004 WL 3377416 (N.D. Ohio 2004); Heffernan v. HSBC Bank USA, 2001 WL 803719 *7 

(E.D.N.Y., Mar. 29, 2001).   

4. Plaintiff Has Not Plead or Proven that Shughart Thomson & Kilroy is 
Properly a RICO Defendant 

 
Plaintiff’s final request for summary judgment asks that the Court issue a legal ruling that a 

law firm, such as Shughart Thomson, is not immune from RICO liability.  Plaintiff is again seeking 

an improper advisory opinion from the Court.  Shughart Thomson & Kilroy has filed a motion to 

dismiss, and has not yet filed an answer or any affirmative defense asserting that it is immune from 

RICO liability.  Plaintiff’s motion seeks an advisory opinion on a legal issue which has not yet even 
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been plead by a party.  Gusdonovich v. Business Information Co., 705 F. Supp. 262, 266 (W.D. Pa., 

1985) (“The defendants have not raised this defense in their pleadings, and therefore the plaintiff is 

seeking, through his motion for summary judgment, an advisory opinion which this court is not 

empowered to make.”) (citation omitted); see also, U.S. v. Seymour Recycling Corp., 686 F. Supp. 

696, 700 (S.D. Ind., 1988). As filed by plaintiff, this motion for summary judgment should be 

denied. 

Liability under §1962(c) extends only to those persons associated with or employed by an 

enterprise who “conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise’s 

affairs through a pattern of racketeering.”  18 U.S.C. §1962(c).  The Supreme Court has held that this 

“conduct” requirement authorizes recovery only against defendants who participate in the operation 

or management of the enterprise itself.  Reves v. Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 185, 113 S.Ct. 1163, 

1173, 122 L.Ed.2d 525 (1993).  The Eighth Circuit opinion upon which plaintiff relies, Handeen v. 

Lemaire, 112 F.3d 1339 (8th Cir. 1997), itself holds that “it is difficult to fathom any scenario in 

which an attorney might expose himself to RICO liability” because the provision of legal services do 

not entail the operation or management of an enterprise.  Id. at 1349. 

Paragraphs 10 through 12 and 14 of plaintiff’s “material facts” are the only items which 

purport to substantiate any allegations pertaining to Shughart Thomson.  As detailed above, these 

allegations are not properly supported as required for entry of summary judgment pursuant to Rule 

56.  Such material facts have also been contradicted by defendant Shughart Thomson, and thus are 

not undisputed as is necessary for purposes of entry of summary judgment.  Plaintiff’s motion is 

therefore inadequate and must be denied. 
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CONCLUSION 

WHEREFORE, defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy respectfully requests that plaintiff’s 

Motion for Partial Summary Judgment be denied in its entirety, that this defendant be awarded its 

costs and expenses incurred herein, and for such other and further relief as the Court deems just and 

proper. 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
/s/ Kathleen A. Hardee  
ROBERT A. HENDERSON  
KATHLEEN A. HARDEE #36071 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT SHUGHART 
THOMSON & KILROY P.C. 
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VERIFICATION 
 

State of Missouri    ) 
                 ) ss 
County of Jackson       ) 
 
 The above and foregoing Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, 
and the factual statements relating to Shughart Thomson & Kilroy P.C., contained therein, are true 
and accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief. 
 
 Further affiant sayeth not. 
 
 
      _____________________________ 
      Kathleen A. Hardee 
      Shughart Thomson & Kilroy P.C. 
 
 The foregoing was subscribed and sworn to before me this 29th day of September, 2005. 
 
 
      ______________________________ 
      Notary Public 
 
 My commission expires: 
 
 __________________ 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing document was filed electronically 
with the above-captioned court, with notice of case activity to be generated and sent electronically 
by the Clerk of said court (with a copy to be mailed to any individuals who do not receive electronic 
notice from the Clerk) this 29th day of September, 2005, to: 

Bret D. Landrith, Esq. 
#G33 
2961 SW Central Park 
Topeka, KS  66611 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
John K. Power 
Husch & Eppenberger, LLC 
1700 One Kansas City Place 
1200 Main Street 
Kansas City, MO 64105 
 
Stephen Roberts 
Natausha Wilson 
34th Floor 
50 California Street 
San Francisco, CA 94111 
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Bruce Blefeld 
Kathleen Spangler 
Vinson & Elkins, LLP 
2300 First City Tower 
1001 Fannin 
Houston, TX 77002 
 
Mark Olthoff 
Jonathan Gregor 
Shughart Thomson & Kilroy PC 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
 
Andrew DeMarea 
Shughart Thomson & Kilroy PC 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, KS 66210 
 
 

 
 
/s/ Kathleen A. Hardee  
Attorney for Defendant Shughart Thomson & 
Kilroy 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 2:05-cv-2299-KHV-GLR 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 
 

MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF’S 
MOTION FOR LEAVE TO JOIN ADDITIONAL DEFENDANTS 

Defendants US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A. 

Grundhofer, Andrew Cecere and Andrew S. Duff, by and through counsel, join and adopt Novation, 

LLC, Volunteer Hospital Association, Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium and 

Robert J. Baker’s Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to Join Additional 

Parties.  For the reasons set forth in the Memorandum in Opposition, defendants US Bancorp, 

U.S. Bank National Association, Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cecere and 

Andrew S. Duff respectfully request the Court enter its Order denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Leave 

to Join Additional Defendants.    

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF KS FED #70339 
JONATHAN H. GREGOR KS #16005 
LOGAN W. OVERMAN KS #21398 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 
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     and 
ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES, 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, ANDREW CECERE 
AND ANDREW S. DUFF 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing document was filed electronically 
with the above-captioned court, with notice of case activity to be generated and sent electronically 
by the Clerk of said court (with a copy to be mailed to any individuals who do not receive electronic 
notice from the Clerk) this 29th day of September, 2005, to: 

Bret D. Landrith, Esq. 
2961 SW Central Park #G33 
Topeka, KS  66611 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 
Kathleen Hardee, Esq. 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
(816) 421-3355 
(816) 374-0509 (FAX) 
 
Attorney for Defendant Shughart 
Thomson & Kilroy, P.C. 
 

John K. Power, Esq. 
Husch & Eppenberger, LLC 
1700 One Kansas City Place 
1200 Main Street 
Kansas City, MO  64105-2122 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq. 
Natausha Wilson, Esq. 
Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott 
34th Floor 
50 California Street 
San Francisco, CA  94111 
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq. 
Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq. 
Vinson & Elkins L.L.P. 
2300 First City Tower 
1001 Fannin 
Houston, TX  77002 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 

 
 

/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 2:05-cv-2299-KHV-GLR 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 
 

 
NOVATION, LLC, VHA INC., 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM 
ROBERT BAKER AND CURT NONOMAQUE’S  

MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO  
PLAINTIFF’S FIRST MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT  

 
Defendants Novation, LLC (“Novation”), VHA Inc. (“VHA”), University Healthsystem 

Consortium (“UHC”), Robert Baker, and Curt Nonomaque (collectively, “Defendants”) 

respectfully request that the Court deny Plaintiff’s First Motion for Partial Summary Judgment:   

 1. Currently pending before the Court is Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s 

Complaint for failure to state a claim.   

2. Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss establishes numerous independent bases for the 

dismissal of this lawsuit with prejudice.  This lawsuit is essentially Plaintiff’s third effort to 

pursue these claims, despite prior warnings from this Court and the 10th Circuit regarding the 

fundamental legal defects of its claims.  Indeed, the 10th Circuit recently affirmed the dismissal 

of one of Plaintiff’s prior cases and held that Rule 11 sanctions against Plaintiff were appropriate 

because the Complaint alleged frivolous claims against an individual officer of GE without any 

allegations that the officer had any connection to Plaintiff’s injury.  See Medical Supply Chain v. 

General Elec.Co., et al., Case No. 04-3075 (10th Cir. July 26, 2005). 
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3. Defendants have also filed a Motion for Sanctions in this case and that motion is 

currently pending.  As established in Defendants’ Motion for Sanctions, Plaintiff’s Complaint 

not only fails to state a legally viable claim, but also that the filing of the Complaint violates 

Plaintiff Counsel’s responsibilities under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11 and 28 U.S.C. 

1927.   

4. In its First Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Plaintiff seeks to impose 

additional burdens on the parties and this Court in its effort to have the Court issue advisory 

opinions regarding some issues pertaining to Racketeering Influenced Corrupt Organizations Act 

(RICO).  However, Plaintiff’s effort in this regard is often incoherent and has but the most 

fleeting and tenuous connection to the issues before the Court in this litigation.   For example, 

Plaintiff’s summary judgment “evidence” consists of materials from unrelated litigation, i.e. 

RICO claims against Shook, Hardy & Bacon (a law firm with no connection to this lawsuit), and 

Plaintiff’s counsel’s efforts to avoid sanctions and disbarment.   As established in Defendants’ 

Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff is precluded from asserting RICO claims against Defendants 

because, Plaintiff has wholly failed to adequately plead a pattern of racketeering (or, indeed, a 

single act of racketeering) or a RICO injury.  Thus, the questions of RICO law Plaintiff seeks to 

resolve by its motion are moot.    

5. Plaintiff’s continued motion practice during the pendency of the motions to 

dismiss and motions for sanctions in this case only serves to impose additional damages on 

Defendants’ caused by Plaintiff’s disregard of Rule 11 and 28 U.S.C. 1927.  Because the 

numerous defects in Plaintiff’s purported summary judgment evidence and arguments are fully 

set forth in the Memorandum in Opposition of Defendants UA Bancorp, U.S. Bank, Jerry S. 

Grundhofer, Andrew Cecere, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff to Plaintiff’s 
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First Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Defendants will avoid multiplying the briefing 

before the Court any further.  Instead, Defendants hereby join and incorporate, for all purposes 

and as if set forth in full herein, the arguments and objections set forth in the Memorandum in 

Opposition of Defendants UA Bancorp, U.S. Bank, Jerry S. Grundhofer, Andrew Cecere, The 

Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff to Plaintiff’s First Motion for Partial Summary 

Judgment. 

WHEREFORE, for all of these reasons, Defendants request that the Court deny 

Plaintiff’s First Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and grant Defendants all other relief to 

which they are entitled. 

HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on September 29, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 
clerk of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to 
the following:: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Jonathan H. Gregor   jgregor@stklaw.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Bret D. Landrith   landrithlaw@cox.net 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
NOVATION, LLC, et al., 
 
  Defendants. 
 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 05-2299-KHV 
 

 

DEFENDANTS NEOFORMA, INC. AND ROBERT ZOLLARS MEMORANDUM IN 
OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF’S SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION 

This response is submitted on behalf of defendants Neoforma, Inc. and Robert 

Zollars. 

Defendant Neoforma hereby joins in the opposition to the summary judgment 

motion being filed by defendants US Bancorp, et al.  Defendant Neoforma also has pending a 

motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 8. 

Defendant Robert Zollars has a motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction 

pending and is cognizant of the doctrine that such an objection to personal jurisdiction may be 

waived by “formal submission in a cause, or by submission through conduct.”  Moore’s F. 

Practice 3d, § 12.31[3], pp. 12-46; see also Hamilton v. Ellis Turner, Inc., 197 F.3d 58, 60 (2nd 

Cir. 1999).  To the extent that the Court needs a response from defendant Zollars with respect to 

the summary judgment motion, he would join with the response of the other defendants.  

However, he does not wish to waive his right to object to personal jurisdiction through the 

pending motion by such an agreement deemed a formal submission in the matter. 

WHEREFORE, for all the reasons stated, defendants request that the Court deny 

Plaintiff’s First Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and grant the defendants the relief to 

which they are entitled. 
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HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on September 29, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 
clerk of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to 
the following:: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Jonathan H. Gregor   jgregor@stklaw.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Bret D. Landrith   landrithlaw@cox.net 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS  

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS  

 

 MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,   ) 

  Plaintiff,     ) 

v.       ) Case No. 05-2299-KHV 

NOVATION, LLC     ) Formerly W.D. MO. Case No. 05-0210 

NEOFORMA, INC.     ) Attorney Lien 

ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 

VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 

CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM   ) 

ROBERT J. BAKER     ) 

US BANCORP, NA     ) 

US BANK       ) 

JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 

ANDREW CESERE     ) 

THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 

ANDREW S. DUFF     ) 

SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY     ) 

WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.      ) 

Defendants.    ) 

 

MOTION TO SUBSTITUTE PLAINTIFF UNDER F.R.C.P. RULES 17(A), 15(A) AND 25(A) 

 

Comes now the plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc. and makes the present motion to substitute 

the plaintiff party Medical Supply Chain, Inc. with the corporation’s founder, chief executive and sole 

owner of registered stock1 Samuel K. Lipari. Samuel K. Lipari is the real party in interest under the facts of 

the complaint. The plaintiff is entitled to the substitution under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rules 

17(A), 15(A) AND 25(A). The plaintiff respectfully requests the substitution for the following reasons. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. Maintaining the Missouri corporate registration, franchise fee and tax records for a hospital supply 

corporation barred from participation in the market for hospital supplies by the conduct of the defendants 

has been burdensome for the corporation’s founder and owner Samuel K. Lipari. 

2. The plaintiff’s complaint against Novation, LLP et al describes tortious conduct against Medical 

Supply Chain, Inc. and predecessor corporations to Medical Supply Chain, Inc. founded and operated by 

Samuel K. Lipari. 

                                                
1
 A distribution of 5000 shares has been promised to another stakeholder upon increase of shares available 

for subscription to ten million. That transaction, awaiting payment to the Missouri registrar of corporations 

has not been completed. 
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3. The intellectual property subject to the averments of racketeering and antitrust prohibited conduct 

is solely the property of Samuel K. Lipari. 

4. The state law claims are based on contracts Samuel K. Lipari personally made and was personally 

subject to. 

5. Under the facts of the complaint and a subsequent affidavit by Samuel K. Lipari (See exhibit 1), 

the defendants through their agents Andrew DeMarea, Magistrate James O’Hara have been successful at 

depriving Medical Supply Chain, Inc. of counsel in the US Supreme Court and have a great probability of 

depriving the plaintiff of counsel in the Kansas District Court as soon as October 20th, 2005. 

6. The repeated sanctioning of Medical Supply’s present counsel for correctly pleading the law and 

making a non-frivolous appeal is fully the foreseeable deterrent to obtaining substitute counsel and the 

furtherance of injustice an impartial observer would recognize had been intended. 

7. As a corporation, the entity Medical Supply cannot be represented in this forum through its officer 

Samuel K. Lipari and would forfeit all rights without licensed counsel. 

8. Samuel K. Lipari has at all times been in privity with Medical Supply and would forfeit his rights 

against the defendants unjustly should a dismissal with prejudice result from Medical Supply’s deprivation 

of counsel in the present action. 

9. Samuel K. Lipari losses would be irreparable because the State of Kansas lacks the resources to 

compensate him for the deprivation of property resulting from state officials Abuse of Process2 and 

violating his right to access federal courts protected under 42 U.S.C. 1985(2) and(3) all of which are 

actionable under 42 U.S.C. 1983. 

10. The failure of the sanctions against counsel to deter Medical Supply from pursuing the prosecution 

of the defendants for antitrust prohibited conduct they have officially admitted to creates a certainty that 

sanctions will now be brought against the plaintiff itself.  

11. The substitution of parties from a lawful Missouri corporation in good standing to Samuel K. 

Lipari would spare the State of Missouri the serious affront of a Kansas or Tenth Circuit court unlawfully 

sanctioning a jurisdictional entity created under the laws of the State of Missouri and exercising rights 

                                                
2
 Unlike malicious prosecution Abuse of Process does not require a outcome in favor of the plaintiff, 

merely proof of unlawful purpose. 
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provided for by the State of Missouri and United States Code to vindicate important state interests (See 

exhibit 2) as a private attorney general. 

12. The US Senate Antitrust Subcommittee of the US Senate Judiciary Committee, having lost faith in 

this forum’s willingness to uphold the rule of law in the market for hospital supplies is now seeking to 

substitute the reliance on private antitrust enforcement with two new bills for the institution of a regulatory 

and bureaucratic enforcement schemes on October 19th, 2005. 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF SUBSTITUTION 

The plaintiff is entitled to the substitution under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rules 17(A), 

15(A) AND 25(A). Samuel K. Lipari is the real party in interest. The plaintiff could not have known of the 

existence of a doctrine opposing the enforcement of federal antitrust laws in the market for hospital 

supplies in the Kansas District Court and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals or a secession from the rule of 

law over this market. No order has directly described the doctrine against the enforcement of antitrust law 

in the market for hospital supplies and the reviewing court’s memorandum and orders were unpublished. 

Absent any basis for discretion to deny claims describing a defendant with market power acting in 

combination and conspiracy with another identified legally separate entity to restrain trade in the market for 

hospital supplies, bringing the present action in the name of Medical Supply Chain, Inc. was an 

understandable mistake. 

As the present action now moved against the plaintiff’s objections to the District of Kansas is in 

danger of proceeding with the venue’s doctrine opposing antitrust enforcement in the market for hospital 

supplies beyond the express statutes of Congress and the repeated precedents of the United States Supreme 

Court into discrediting the fact finding of the US Senate Judicial Committee’s Sub Committee on Antirust’s 

now four year investigation into the claims made by the plaintiff, the substitution of Samuel K. Lipari for 

the plaintiff corporation is appropriate in that the complained of misconduct of the defendants will not 

prevent the vindication of rights sought by this suit. The appropriateness is identical and parallel to the 

unfortunate necessity of Republican Senators opposed to increasing federal government regulation and 

bureaucracy yet never the less having to introduce legislation on October 19th, 2005 to control the market 

for hospital supplies and protect the nation against illegal anticompetitive conduct supported by the Kansas 

District Court and the Tenth Circuit. 
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A. Substitution under Rule 17(a) 

The court is required to permit the substitution of parties under Rule 17(a) of the Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure: 

“Rule 17(a) requires the district court to grant leave to substitute or join the real party in interest 

prior to dismissing an action for failure to name the real party in interest: 

 

        No action shall be dismissed on the ground that it is not prosecuted in the name of the real 

party in interest until a reasonable time has been allowed after objection for ratification of 

commencement of the action by, or joinder or substitution of, the real party in interest; and such 

ratification, joinder, or substitution shall have the same effect as if the action had been commenced 

in the name of the real party in interest. 

 

        Fed. R. Civ. P. 17(a).” 

 

Esposito v. United States, No. 03-3183 at pg.1  (Fed. 10th Cir. 5/26/2004) (Fed. 10th Cir., 2004). 

The mistake of the plaintiff in bringing the action in the name of Medical Supply is understandable and 

correctable without prejudice to the defendants. In fact it is a necessary response to the legal and extra legal 

maneuvering of the defendants. 

In this circuit, courts have never required a plaintiff seeking substitution to show that his mistake 

was "understandable" in addition to being" honest." Instead, Tenth Circuit cases focus primarily on whether 

the plaintiff engaged in deliberate tactical maneuvering (i.e. whether his mistake was "honest"), and on 

whether the defendant was prejudiced thereby. See, e.g., Scheufler, 126 F.3d at 1270 (upholding district 

court's joinder of real party in interest because plaintiff's failure to include certain parties" was not the result 

of some tactic designed to prejudice defendant" and "there has been no tangible showing that defendant was 

prejudiced by the joinder"); Metro. Paving, 439 F.2d at 306 (permitting substitution of corporations for 

joint venture where" it was clear from the outset that the three corporations were the real parties in interest" 

and "there was no prejudice to the defendant," even though applicable statute of limitations had run at time 

of substitution). Interestingly, Metropolitan Paving suggests that even a mistake that should have been 

patently obvious does not automatically foreclose a later substitution, so long as the plaintiff did not act in 

bad faith and the defendant has not been prejudiced thereby. 439 F.2d at 306.” 

1. Real party in interest 

 

As the real party in interest, Samuel K. Lipari is required to be substituted for Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc. 
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“Rule 17(a) provides that "[e]very action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party 

in interest." Since Mr. Esposito could not bring this action, his right had to be asserted, if at all, by a 

party on whom the right devolved at his death. The identity of this real party in interest is 

determined by referring to the governing substantive law. See 6A Federal Practice & Procedure § 

1543, at 334; Audio-Visual Mktg. Corp. v. Omni Corp., 545 F.2d 715, 719 (10th Cir. 1976).” 

 

Esposito v. United States, No. 03-3183 at pg.1  (Fed. 10th Cir. 5/26/2004) (Fed. 10th Cir., 2004). 

The Kansas District court in Schrag v. Dinges described the Tenth Circuit authority on substitution of a real 

party in interest: 

“However, there is some indication that the issue is actually one of real party in interest and should 

be handled according to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 17(a). Rule 17(a) provides in pertinent 

part: 

        Every action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest.... No action shall be 

dismissed on the ground that it is not prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest until a 

reasonable time has been allowed after objection for ratification of commencement of the action by, 

or joinder or substitution of, the real party in interest; and such ratification, joinder, or substitution 

shall have the same effect as if the action had been commenced in the name of the real party in 

interest. 

The Tenth Circuit has stated in a case in which the defendants challenged the joinder of a 

shareholder-plaintiff both under Rule 17(a) and the standing doctrine: 

        [T]he standing challenge is not properly raised in connection with real party interest analysis 

under Rule 17(a). Professor Wright has explained that "`[t]he concept of real party in interest should 

not be confused with the concept of standing. The standing question arises in the realm of public 

law, when governmental action is attacked on the ground that it violates private rights or some 

constitutional principle....' `Real party in interest' is very different from standing." 

        K-B Trucking Co. v. Riss Int'l Corp., 763 F.2d 1148, 1154 n. 7 (10th Cir.1985)” 

 

Schrag v. Dinges, 825 F.Supp. 954 at 958 (Kan., 1993). 

 

2. Capacity to sue 

 

        Samuel K. Lipari possesses the substantive rights being asserted in the present under the applicable 

laws. Medical Supply will in effect lose its capacity to litigate. Neither the law of the State of Missouri or 

the State of Kansas permit a non attorney to represent a corporation in litigation. 

“Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 17 governs both the determination of a party's capacity to 

sue and be sued and his or her status as the real party in interest. The "real party in interest" 

principle requires that an action "be brought in the name of the party who possesses the substantive 

right being asserted under the applicable law." 6A Charles A. Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay 

Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1541 at 321 (2d ed. 1990) (hereinafter Federal Practice & 

Procedure). Capacity, by contrast, refers to "a party's personal right to litigate in a federal court." Id. 

§ 1542, at 327. 

 Rule 17(b) provides that issues of capacity are determined by the law of the individual's 

domicile.” 

 

Esposito v. United States, No. 03-3183 at pg.1 (Fed. 10th Cir. 5/26/2004) (Fed. 10th Cir., 2004). 

This view is consistent with other circuits and the State of Missouri. In Levin Metals Corp. v. Parr-Rich-

mond Terminal Co., 817 F.2d 1448, 1451 (9th Cir. 1987) the Ninth Circuit reasoned that Rule 17(b) 
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requires the court to apply the law of the state of incorporation when the state law is a "capacity statute." 

Louisiana-Pacific Corp. v. Asarco, Inc., 5 F.3d 431, 432 (9th Cir. 1993) (Washington[] [state's] two-year 

corporate capacity statute is not preempted by CERCLA's three-year statute of limitations). See United 

States v. Northeast Pharmaceutical & Chem. Co., Inc., 579 F. Supp. 823, 827 n.1 (W.D. Mo. 1984) (stating 

that it is well settled in the federal courts and in Missouri common law that state capacity statutes control 

under Rule 17(b)). 

Medical Supply Chain, Inc. has the capacity to sue and be sued even after it is dissolved. A 

corporation administratively dissolved is not prevented from commencing a proceeding in its corporate 

name. Section 351.476.2(5);  Reben v. Wilson , 861 S.W.2d 171, 176 (Mo.App. 1993). Unison Realty Corp. 

v. RKO Theatres, Inc., ; National Council of Young Israel, Inc., v. Feit Co., 347 F.Supp. 1293, 1295 n. 4 

(S.D.N.Y.1972); 7A C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1958 at 663-64 (1972). 

 Samuel K. Lipari is the real party in interest for claims against Medical Supply. The Missouri 

Court of Appeals has held the corporate veil will be pierced where: (1) the corporation is completely 

dominated by a person or other corporation to the extent that the corporation has no separate mind, will or 

existence of its own. K.C. Roofing Center v. On Top Roofing, Inc., 807 S.W.2d 545, 548-49 (Mo. App. 

W.D. 1991). See also Mitchell v. K. C. Stadium Concessions, Inc., 865 S.W.2d 779 (Mo. App. W.D. 1993). 

These results accord with the Tenth Circuit where assets of a dissolved corporation subject their holder to 

liability. See City and County of Denver v. Adolph Coors Co. 813 F. Supp. 1471, 1474-75 (D. Colo. 1992). 

B. Substitution Under Rule 15(a) 

 

 The plaintiff’s motion to substitute Samuel K. Lipari for Medical Supply Chain, Inc. under Rule 

17(a) is also consistent with Rule 15(a): 

“ Appellants' application to amend the complaint to name new plaintiffs, Lady and Kongsung, 

pursuant to Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, should also have been granted.  Rule 

15(a) may be used to substitute new plaintiffs. Hackner v. Guaranty Trust Co., 117 F.2d 95 (2d 

Cir.), cert. denied, 313 U.S. 559, 61 S.Ct. 835, 85 L.Ed. 1520 (1941) (new plaintiff allowed to 

come into a case by amendment, although action dismissed as to all original plaintiffs because of 

lack of jurisdictional amount). 

        The Supreme Court has recently admonished: 'Rule 15(a) declares that leave to amend 'shall 

be freely given when justice so requires'; this mandate is to be heeded. See generally, 3 Moore 

Federal Practice (2d ed. 1948), PP15.08, 15.10. If the underlying facts or circumstances relied 

upon by a plaintiff may be a proper subject of relief, he ought to be afforded an opportunity to test 

his claim on the merits. In the absence of any apparent or declared reason-- such as undue delay, 

bad faith or dilatory motive on the part of the movant, repeated failure to cure deficiencies by 

amendments previously allowed, undue prejudice to the opposing party by virtue of allowance of 

the amendment, futility of amendment, etc.-- the leave sought should, as the rules require, be 
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'freely given.' Of course, the grant or denial of an opportunity to amend is within the discretion of 

the District Court, but outright refusal to grant the leave without any justifying reason appearing 

for the denial is not an exercise of discretion; it is merely abuse of that discretion and inconsistent 

with the spirit of the Federal Rules.'  Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182, 83 S.Ct. 227, 230, 9 

L.Ed.2d 222 (1962).” 

 

Staggers v. Otto Gerdau Co., 359 F.2d 292 at 296-297 (C.A.2 (N.Y.), 1966).  

 

C. Substitution Under Rule 25(c) 

 

The plaintiff’s motion to substitute Samuel K. Lipari for Medical Supply Chain, Inc. under Rule 

17(a) is also consistent with Rule 25(c). If Samuel K. Lipari dissolves or fails to renew the corporate 

registration of Medical Supply Chain, Inc. its assets would revert back to the personal property of Samuel 

K. Lipari effectively transferring the interest in this litigation from the company to the founder and owner. 

Rule 25(c) provides: 

“(c) Transfer of Interest. In case of any transfer of interest, the action may be continued by or 

against the original party, unless the court upon motion directs the person to whom the interest is 

transferred to be substituted in the action or joined with the original party. Service of the motion 

shall be made as provided in subdivision (a) of this rule.” 

 

 Samuel K. Lipari is the proper party as plaintiff in this action and was at the time the action 

was initiated against Novation LLC and the other defendants.  

“Because Froning's, Inc., was clearly the proper real party in interest at the time the action was 

commenced, the procedure to be followed in this situation is governed by Fed.R.Civ.P.25(c) dealing 

with the substitution of parties due to a transfer of interest.  Unison Realty Corp. v. RKO Theatres, 

Inc.,35 F.R.D. 232 (S.D.N.Y.1964); 3B Moore's Federal Practice P 25.08 at 25-321 (2d Ed. 1977); 

7A C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1958 at 663 (1972).” 

 

Froning's, Inc. v. Johnston Feed Service, Inc., 568 F.2d 108 at 110 (C.A.8 (Iowa), 1978) 

 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

Whereas for above stated reasons, the plaintiff Medical Supply respectfully requests that the court 

substitute Samuel K. Lipari as plaintiff in this action. 

Respectfully Submitted 

S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith  

Kansas Supreme Court ID # 20380 

2961 SW Central Park, # G33,  

Topeka, KS 66611 

1-785-876-2233 

1-785-267-4084 

landrithlaw@cox.net 
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Certificate of Service 

 

 I certify that on October 9th,  2005 I have served the foregoing with the clerk of the court by using 

the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the  following: 

 

Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C.  1700 

Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929       

 

Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian Creek Parkway  Overland 

Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 (FAX) 

 

John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  1200 Main Street  Kansas 

City, MO  64105-2122    (also local counsel for the General Electric Defendants and Jeffrey Immelt) 

 

Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott  34th Floor  50 

California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     

 

Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 First City Tower  1001 

Fannin  Houston, TX  77002     

 

Attorneys for Defendants 

 

 

     

 S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI  

KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI  

 

 Medical Supply CHAIN, INC.,    ) 

  Plaintiff,     ) 

v.       ) Case No. 05-0210-CV-W-ODS 

NOVATION, LLC     ) Attorney Lien 

NEOFORMA, INC.     ) 

ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 

VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 

CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM   ) 

ROBERT J. BAKER     ) 

US BANCORP, NA     ) 

US BANK       ) 

JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 

ANDREW CESERE     ) 

THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 

ANDREW S. DUFF     ) 

SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY     ) 

WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.      ) 

Defendants.    ) 

 
Affidavit of Sam Lipari on The Unsuitability of Transfer 

 
1. My name is Samuel Lipari, I reside at 297 Bayview in Lee’s Summit Missouri. I am 

the chief executive officer of Medical Supply Chain, Inc., a company I incorporated in 

May of 2000. I chose to bring this new action in Missouri District court because I have a 

responsibility to Medical Supply’s stakeholders and to the shareholders of US Bancorp 

NA, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Neoforma, Inc. to adjudicate these claims in 

accordance with laws of the United States. I brought two earlier and related actions to 

Kansas District court based on the advice of my counsel. I witnessed first hand that no 

decision or outcome in either case including from the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals had 

any relationship to the pleadings of my company or applicable law. I make this 

determination based on my considerable personal experience as a clerk and researcher for 

a Missouri legal firm and upon discussions with what I believe are the foremost 

healthcare antitrust authorities in our nation. 
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2. I know first hand the consequences to Medical Supply and the additional liabilities 

US Bancorp NA, The Piper Jaffray Companies and Neoforma, Inc. have incurred as a 

result of the Kansas District court outcomes and the Tenth Circuit delays. I believe 

several of these defendants will no longer be viable after a judgment at law is made on 

their conduct. 

3. I received a confidential decision by Chief Judge Deanell R. Tacha dated March 23, 

2005; a complaint with extensive documented evidence including official court 

transcripts and affidavits I made to the Tenth Circuit about the conduct of the Kansas 

District Court Magistrate James P. O’Hara and the attorneys of the law firm Shughart, 

Thomson & Kilroy described in the lawsuit before this court. Chief Justice Tacha 

determined that the conduct described presented an issue about the bias of the forum 

Medical Supply suffered. Included in the complaint was evidence that the bias reached 

the Office of the Clerk for the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals and the person of Patrick 

Fischer, Chief Clerk. 

4. Early in the Kansas District Court case against the US Bancorp defendants, I 

instructed my counsel to write a letter to the Chief Administrative Judge of the Kansas 

District Court inquiring as to weather the Kansas District court had the resources to 

adjudicate an antitrust matter based on a Sherman Act refusal to deal claim and if we 

should transfer the action to a different forum. The Kansas District Court never had the 

time, resources or manpower to answer my inquiry and it is my belief after observing first 

hand that the Kansas District Court does not have the resources required for me to 

prosecute my claims against these defendants.  
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5. Beyond the lack of sufficient resources, I was repeatedly struck by the bias and 

open hostility exhibited by the Kansas District Court and Tenth Circuit personnel against 

the claims of my company and how Kansas government attorneys were enlisted to 

retaliate against my counsel for bringing these actions. I believe this is the bias that Chief 

Judge Deanell R. Tacha described in her decision dated March 23, 2005. I became 

concerned and attended the trial phase of my counsel’s representation of James Bolden, 

an African American small business man who had sought out my counsel when Kansas 

government attorneys had discouraged or intimidated four of his previous attorneys, the 

last of which still has not been found. I assisted in the trial preparation for this case 

believing it would be good practice for Medical Supply’s jury trials. 

6. I have now known James Bolden for some time and believe him to be an 

extraordinarily honest god-fearing man. I also know that his work vehicle was 

firebombed while it was parked next to his home and the Topeka Police Department 

refused to even take a police report and that he feared for his life while his case was being 

litigated in the Kansas District Court. The injuries and threats made against his witnesses 

who I also know and believe are honest made affidavits of the incidents, including the 

opposing city attorney, Sherri Price’s threat to criminally prosecute the Topeka business 

owner Fred Sanders if he testified in federal court on behalf of James Bolden.  

7. The City of Topeka and the Topeka office of the US Attorney threatened and 

intimidated other witnesses I have met because of their testimony in Mr. Landrith’s cases. 

Affidavits of these incidents were filed in the various Kansas District Court cases and the 

response of the Kansas judicial branch was to increase its threats against Mr. Landrith, 

one of which was mailed the afternoon Mr. Landrith had called Mark Hunt a former US 
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Army officer and an African American to testify in a Topeka Federal courtroom. Mark 

Hunt was severely retaliated against for that testimony and Melvin Johnson, a retired US 

Postal worker client of Mr. Landrith was also retaliated against by city officials that 

night, leaving him homeless. The Topeka office of Eric Melgran the US Attorney caused 

Melvin Johnson’s key witness, Rosemary Price to be retaliated against for her 

participation in a deposition held in the Topeka federal courthouse a week later. 

8. The Kansas District court repeatedly rebuked Mr. Landrith for documenting the 

obstruction and deliberate interference of justice that seems to be commonplace in the 

Kansas legal culture. Magistrate James P. O’Hara issued a very harsh report against Mr. 

Landrith in the Bolden case that seems to be more about Medical Supply’s case and what 

has happened to Shughart, Thomson and Kilroy. The Kansas Disciplinary Administrator 

Stanton Hazlett used the report to justify his investigation and prosecution of Mr. 

Landrith. 

9. I advised Mr. Landrith to file in Kansas District Court to stop the state disciplinary 

administrator from prosecuting him for representing an African American and his 

American Indian witness. Affidavits in both cases revealed that Kansas state officials 

repeatedly obstructed justice and that the opposing counsel Sherri Price had threatened 

minority business men with criminal prosecution if they testified in Kansas District court 

against the City of Topeka. I knew that since none of this testimony was ever disputed the 

District of Kansas would certainly prevent the state from retaliating against Mr. Landrith 

for his protected speech on behalf of an African American and his American Indian 

witness. Surprisingly, however the District of Kansas judges recused themselves and the 
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Tenth Circuit assigned the Chief Judge Dee Benson of the District of Utah who made no 

findings of fact or law and dismissed the case with prejudice. 

10. I attended the pre trial order conference of the Kansas Disciplinary Administrator 

before a three-attorney panel consisting of Sally H. Harris, Michael K. Schmitt and 

presided over by Randall D. Grisell. Stanton Hazlett admitted to the panel that the secret 

probable cause hearing had excluded official court records and evidence including a reply 

brief in the adoption appeal that matched court transcripts refuting each evidentiary point 

raised by the adoption attorney seeking to terminate Mr. Price’s parental rights. Stanton 

Hazlett admitted he had secured the probable cause to prosecute Mr. Landrith by stating 

there was no evidence behind the appeal. 

11. Randall D. Grisell and the panel ruled that Mr. Landrith would not be able to 

present any evidence or witnesses related to the discriminatory prosecution of himself 

while the felony threats to obstruct justice documented in the case and including 

opposing counsel were being ignored. Strangely, the panel also ordered the exclusion of 

any evidence or witnesses supporting the truth of the underlying litigations. Randall D. 

Grisell also ruled that the substantial family interest of Stanton Hazlett in the private 

adoption industry and that the chief complaining witness, Kansas state Judge G. Joeseph 

Pierron, Jr. held a position on the board of directors of a private $40 million dollar 

commercial adoption contractor with the State of Kansas, Kansas Children’s Service 

League, Inc. did not require the dismissal and reinvestigation of the complaint. Judge G. 

Joeseph Pierron, Jr. had refused to disqualify himself when Mr. Price’s appeal raised 

questions about widespread Kansas adoption law violations and the failure of the Kansas 
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Social and Rehabilitation Services to ensure compliance with laws designed to prevent 

interstate child trafficking. 

12. A few days after Mr. Landrith asked to call Frank D. Williams as a witness to 

Stanton Hazlett’s pattern and practice of not reading or familiarizing himself with the case 

before seeking to prosecute an individual, Kansas state officials in the judicial branch 

attempted to seize $50,000.00 in Southwestern Bell stock owned by Frank D. Williams 

on a ten year old judgment that had expired without being renewed or served on Mr. 

Williams. I believe this was an effort by state officials in the Kansas legal community to 

retaliate against witnesses and to threaten and harass witnesses with their misconduct. 

Since the Medical Supply complaint addresses misconduct related to influencing the 

Kansas District court, I believe that similar efforts will be made against Medical Supply’s 

witnesses if the case is tried in a Kansas forum.   

13. I witnessed the stress mount on Mr. Landrith leading up to the pretrial conference 

for the ethics prosecution. It was a dark holiday season as he had to spend an enormous 

amount of time preparing evidence for the ethics trial in January. I offered to clerk for Mr. 

Landrith during the trial and sat with him during its entirety at the counsel table.  

14. On January 19th 2005 Stanton Hazlett sent another disciplinary complaint letter to 

Mr. Landrith. I saw that the ethics trial was not going well for Stanton Hazlett who 

seemed entirely unfamiliar with the evidence and exhibited shock and surprise when the 

testimony of Hazlett’s own witnesses revealed that court records had been withheld from 

Mr. Landrith violating the due process and Sixth Amendment rights of his clients and that 

actions had been taken to deceive the court in the underlying cases. 
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15. Even though the bad faith basis for the prosecution had become overwhelmingly 

clear, Stanton Hazlett argued (looking to Andrew DeMarea’s complaint for the 

inspiration that an appeal could be frivolous even though the ruling contradicts both 

statue and controlling case law and in the face of documented trial court misconduct) that 

Mr. Landrith should never have accepted the appeal of the indigent David Price when his 

appointed attorney had withdrawn before the conclusion of the trial court case and the 

trial court had refused to hear any of Mr. Price’s pro se motions or allow him access to 

records required for post trial representation. This struck me as a living nightmare that the 

State of Kansas was so far removed from lawfulness and the constitution that I was 

thankful I don’t live there.  

16. At the conclusion of Mr. Landrith’s ethics trial, Sally H. Harris, Michael K. Schmitt 

and Randall D. Grisell stated that they had found Mr. Landrith guilty of something but 

were not sure yet what it was. Stanton Hazlett then argued that the only possible 

punishment was disbarment. 

17. Following the hearing I observed Magistrate O’Hara lagging behind in an effort to 

communicate with Stanton Hazlet and the three judge panel. Throughout this hearing 

there were several occasions were Stanton Hazlet and the three-judge panel had what 

appeared to be private off the record conversations.  

18. Mr. Landrith asked me to accompany him to a meeting with John Ambrosio, a 

Topeka attorney Stanton Hazlett had directed to investigate the complaint made by 

Andrew DeMarea of Shughart Thomson and Kilroy who was representing counsel for the 

defendant US Bank in the Medical Supply case. Mr. Landrith had told me he had 
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answered the complaint and sent additional documents, but John Ambrosio had sent 

several letters threatening disbarment if Mr. Landrith did not attend a meeting. 

19. Bret Landrith also arranged for Mr. Dennis Hawver to accompany us to the meeting 

since Mr. Hawver was investigating filing a legislative claim on behalf of Mr. Landrith 

for the enormous burden the repeated bad faith prosecutions by Stanton Hazlett in 

retaliation for Mr. Landrith’s representing minority Kansans who were injured by state 

officials violating Kansas law. When we got there John Ambrosio’s wife Kathleen 

Ambrosio who Janice King, a voluntary process server for Mr. Landrith told me had been 

assigned by the Kansas Judicial branch to assist a divorce attorney opposing her claims 

for child support in the Tenth Circuit stood around listening to our conversations. Then 

we were taken to John Ambrosio’s office. 

20. John Ambrosio was introduced to me and did not recognize my name even though 

he had insisted Mr. Landrith attend this meeting to be questioned about the Medical 

Supply case. I heard Mr. Landrith call his attention to the fact that he had been threatened 

several times by John Ambrosio if he did not make himself available for questioning 

about the case yet Ambrosio had clearly made no preparations and was unfamiliar with 

the complaint or the documents furnished by Stanton Hazlett. Furthermore Mr. Landrith 

complained that Stanton Hazlett had been prosecuting him for over two years, making it 

impossible to earn a living and that he had been told he would be disbarred on the earlier 

claims. 

21. John Ambrosio insisted I leave and that I not witness the meeting but Mr. Hawver 

could stay. Mr. Landrith declined to be interviewed without my presence and I heard 

John Ambrosio threaten Mr. Landrith again with disbarment stating that if Mr. Landrith 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume IV  1270



 9 

didn’t cooperate he would respond to Stanton Hazlett stating that everything Andrew 

DeMarea had alleged would be reported as true since Mr. Landrith was unwilling to 

refute it. 

22. At that moment I knew the meeting had been arranged solely to harass Mr. Landrith 

for representing me. Despite being paid by the State of Kansas to do an ethics 

investigation, John Ambrosio had not even bothered to read Andrew DeMarea’s 

complaint. Like Sherri Price, the City of Topeka attorney relaying Magistrate James 

O’Hara’s order, Andrew DeMarea was smart enough to sign his name only to the cover 

page relaying without subjective comment a ruling designed to injure Mr. Landrith for his 

representation, neither alleged any wrongdoing against Mr. Landrith. I could see that 

despite John Ambrosio’s visible intent to severely frighten Mr. Landrith if he did not 

meet without a witness, John Ambrosio had not bothered to review the case. 

23. When the defendants realized they had to answer my action in Missouri, I 

experienced the intensified presence of law enforcement officials. Including uniformed 

and plain-clothes surveillance. I believe two plain clothes officers arranged to meet and 

question me. I was questioned extensively about GPO practices and how I was able to 

finance my litigation. I believe the justification for this investigation was the USA 

PATRIOT Act suspicious activity report filed against my company and me over two 

years ago.   

24. I know the suspicious activity reports were filed because my father has my same 

name and the secret reports disrupted the financial operations of my father’s trucking 

company at the time causing him significant loses in income and stress arising from the 

decreased income and the threats of foreclosure on the home he and my stepmother 
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shared. The stress aggravated their physical health and my stepmother died from a stroke 

later that year. 

25. I believe the impetuous for the investigation however was the requests made by the 

defendants to government officials in Missouri starting once the Missouri action was 

filed. I went to the FBI office in Kansas City, Missouri with supporting documentation 

and the information described in the complaint about the defendants actions to retaliate 

against my attorney Mr. Landrith in their plan to impede the administration of justice.  

26. No action was taken on my complaint and the law enforcement officials did not 

start surveillance of my home until the defendants requested it. I believe the surveillance 

was unproductive in that it did not serve the goals of the government officials who had 

attempted to accommodate the defendants. I believe this resulted in my fiancé who I lived 

with for four years and whose daughter we were arraigning for me to adopt as father was  

being targeted.  When she was pressured repeatedly to find something unlawful I was 

doing, it led to our relationship being canceled and I lost my home.  

27. I moved in with my father and live in his basement. I believe that this residence and 

my office in it has been searched while we were out, again under the justification of the 

USA PATRIOT Act suspicious activity report filed against my company and me over 

two year ago but for the purpose of finding something that could be used to stop my 

litigation. 

28. I continue to experience Internet research interruption and email delays even though 

I believe the Missouri officials are satisfied as to Medical Supply’s claims and the 

lawfulness of our litigation against the defendants. I am hopeful they will enforce the law 

and protect the witnesses of every party. The events that appeared to have occurred in 
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Texas, California and Kansas when persons have challenged the defendants’ monopoly 

make this action’s location in Missouri necessary for all the safety of all involved. 

29. Unfortunately, I am experiencing the fallout from law enforcement officials on the 

Missouri side discovering that Medical Supply’s claims were justified and that nothing 

unlawful is being done in my litigation against the defendants. Kansas state officials in 

the judicial branch, including Stanton Hazlett have contacted persons in the last two 

weeks to relay their intentions to me. This is on its face unlawful because Stanton Hazlett 

is required to keep that information confidential until the complaint is filed. One such 

person who had a conversation with Stanton Hazlett has made it clear that Mr. Landrith 

will be disbarred regardless of the law or evidence in the record. While this threat 

imperils Medical Supply’s chance for justice in this litigation, the threat accompanied 

offers to “save” Medical Supply. This involves replacing Medical Supply’s counsel with 

a Kansas attorney as lead counsel I feel Stanton Hazlett believes he and Magistrate 

O’Hara can control. I was offered the $300,000.00 US Bancorp deprived Medical Supply 

of to capitalize my company’s entry to market if I would agree to this arrangement. While 

this is being suggested to me repeatedly to the point that it is becoming a pressure, the 

suggested attorneys have no antitrust experience or familiarity with the present actions. 

30. I believe Stanton Hazlett and Magistrate O’Hara are acting in the interests of the 

defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy to use their control over the enforcement of 

Kansas Attorney Ethics rules to change counsel so that evidence of Shughart Thomson & 

Kilroy’s actions in furtherance of the defendant’s conspiracy will not be subjected to 

discovery, accomplishing the conspiracy’s short term objective of concealing what was 

done to influence the Kansas District Court and the defendant conspiracy’s long term 
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objective of eliminating liability for their conduct. Because the conspiracy so overtly 

seeks to control and prevent the presentation of evidence regarding the occurrences in 

Kansas District court and the motivations for what was done to Mr. Landrith while 

suppressing evidence of misconduct including felony obstruction of justice, witness 

intimidation and harassment related to Mr. Bolden and Mr. Price’s entirely unrelated 

cases. 

31. Chief Judge Deanell R. Tacha’s confidential decision clearly casts the Sherman 

Antitrust Act and 18 U.S.C.§ 241 as “frivolous” laws. This also comports with the Tenth 

Circuit’s formal opinions regarding Medical Supply’s antitrust claims. Since my 

company cannot enter the market unless the conspirators exerting monopolistic control 

over the market are enjoined from further planned actions to exclude competition and 

discouraged from the belief that US antitrust law will not be enforced in the ecommerce 

delivery of hospital supplies, I must bring my company’s claims to a jurisdiction that will 

follow US Antitrust law. I believe that excludes the Kansas District court and its 

appellate circuit. 

32. At the time my counsel has twelve days to answer about 20 motions seeking the 

dismissal and transfer of this case, Stanton Hazlett is misleading the Tenth Circuit into 

dismissing the motion to enjoin further disbarment proceedings during the pendancy of 

Mr. Landrith’s civil rights cases (he still has to represent Mr. James Bolden) based on 

Stanton Hazlett’s misrepresentations that the appeal is moot because Mr. Landrith is not 

being disciplined, then, Stanton Hazlett filed a recommendation of disbarment against 

Mr. Landrith in the Kansas Supreme Court on April 14, 2005 without retracting his Tenth 

Circuit Motion to dismiss.  
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33. The defendants seek to transfer Medical Supply’s case to Kansas. I have feared for 

my life during parts of this litigation especially after calling the Ft. Worth, TX office of 

the US Attorney to ask to speak to the attorney that issued the criminal subpoenas against 

my cases defendants and being told she was dead and then finding out that the FCA 

attorney had died shortly before her. It is my belief that I would be putting witnesses in 

jeopardy if this action were conducted in Kansas and that would principally be a result of 

the hostility the Kansas District court has for victims of witness intimidation and 

harassment and the obvious willingness of the Kansas judicial branch to assist in the 

harassment and intimidation. Certainly, it would be unlikely that law enforcement 

officials could bring anyone to justice in that environment.  

34. I do believe the State of Missouri will uphold the laws against witness and victim 

harassment and secure the protection of all parties. In Missouri, law enforcement officials 

appear to have already looked into this litigation at the request of the defendants and I 

also have my up most confidence in them 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS  

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS  

 

 Medical Supply CHAIN, INC.,    ) 

  Plaintiff,     ) 
v.       ) Case No. 05- 
NOVATION, LLC     ) Formerly W.D. MO. Case No. 05-0210 
NEOFORMA, INC.     ) Attorney Lien 
ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 
CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 
UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM   ) 

ROBERT J. BAKER     ) 
US BANCORP, NA     ) 
US BANK       ) 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 
ANDREW CESERE     ) 
THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 
ANDREW S. DUFF     ) 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY     ) 
WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.      ) 

Defendants.    ) 
 

ANSWER MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF RECONSIDERATION OF TRANSFER 

 

Comes now the plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc. and makes an answer to defendants’ 

suggestion opposing reconsideration of the court’s order transferring this action to Kansas. Because the 

papers of this case have been transferred to Kansas District court even while the transfer is to be 

reconsidered, the plaintiff is required under Chrysler Credit Corp. v. Country Chrysler, Inc., 928 F.2d 1509 

(10th Cir.1991) to file its answer memorandum in the transferee court. In Chrysler Credit, the Tenth Circuit 

held that "[o]nce the files in a case are transferred physically to the court in the transferee district, the 

transferor court loses all jurisdiction over the case, including the power to review the transfer." Id. at 1516-

17 (footnote omitted). 

The Plaintiff is entitled to Choice of Forum 

Medical Supply brought this action in the Western District of Missouri. “In general, federal courts 

give considerable deference to a plaintiff's choice of forum and thus the party seeking a transfer under 

section 1404(a) typically bears the burden of proving that a transfer is warranted. See Jumara, 55 F.3d at 

879;  Scheidt v. Klein, 956 F.2d 963, 965 (10th Cir.1992).” Terra Intern., Inc. v. Mississippi Chemical 

Corp., 119 F.3d 688 at 695 (C.A.8 (Iowa), 1997). Deference to the plaintiff's choice of forum is particularly 

strong where the plaintiff has chosen his home forum. See Nichols v. United States Bureau of Prisons, 895 
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F.Supp. 6, 8 (D.D.C.), pet. for writ of mandamus den., 1995 WL 551095 (D.C.Cir.1995). 

Plaintiff and The State of Missouri Have Substantial Interests in This Action  

Both the forum state of Missouri and the plaintiff Medical Supply have substantial interests in the 

litigation proceeding in the Western District of Missouri because the claims are based conduct committed 

against the plaintiff in Missouri and in violation of Missouri’s state antitrust and contract laws. This state 

interest is immense. While this reconsideration of transfer motion is being argued, the first 65,000 Missouri 

residents were cut off of Medicaid benefits on July 1, 2005. A July 2nd , 2005 Los Angeles Times article 

stated 1/3 of the  Missourians losing insurance coverage are children: “An estimated 24,000 children are 

expected to lose their benefits, dental coverage is being cut for adults, and disabled people are losing 

coverage for crutches and other aids.” See  Missouri's Sharp Cuts to Medicaid Called Severe-More than 

68,000, a third of them children, may lose benefits in the move to avoid tax hikes. LA Times, July 1, 2005. 

On June 29, 2005, David Moskowitz MD, was invited to testify before the Missouri Medicaid 

Reform Commission and in his released pretestimony stated for the 65,000 patients losing coverage; “Since 

oxygen tanks are among the items no longer covered, many patients will soon die”[emphasis added]. Of 

course patients are the consumers in the market for hspital supplies that is the primary relevant market of 

Medical Supply’s antitrust claims. Doctor Moskowitz also stated; "The Missouri Legislature is wrestling 

with the most critical domestic issue of our time. It is literally a life and death issue for tens of millions of 

Americans. It seems to me profoundly un-American, on the eve of our nation's birthday, to have people die 

simply because Medicaid is still paying retail for drugs.” 

The plaintiff’s complaint alleges that the costs of hospital supplies including equipment like 

oxygen tanks and consumables like prescription drugs are artificially inflated from the defendants’ market 

manipulations in violation of the State of Missouri’s antitrust laws and the Sherman Antitrust Act as part of 

the defendants’ common enterprise to overcharge Medicaid and Medicare. This court is required to make 

its initial determinations on the merits of the plaintiff’s complaint for both jurisdiction and sufficiency of 

the claims based on the averments in the plaintiff’s complaint and to take them as true.  

Medical Supply and the State of Missouri’s Interests Can Only Be Served By Civil 

Enforcement 

 

On July 11th, 2005, Jeffrey Hill, a correspondent for The Hill, The Newspaper For and About 

Congress, reported that with the support of Kansas Senator Sam Brownback, the hospital supply industry 
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will not be regulated for the abuses of the defendants in their Group Purchasing Organization practices and 

that instead a voluntary disclosure scheme to counter act the serious conflicts of interest recognized in the 

industry: 

 “After a series of behind-the-scenes talks with key senators, companies that supply medical 
devices, drugs and other products appear to have dodged an onerous regulatory bullet.  
 The suppliers, known as hospital group-purchasing organizations (GPOs), received a boost when 
three senators and the hospital industry backed new voluntary ethical guidelines for the industry.  
 The Judiciary Committee has scrutinized the potentially anti-competitive practices of these 
GPOs. But today Sens. Jon Kyl (R-Ariz), Sam Brownback (R-Kan.) and Charles Schumer (D-N.Y.), 
all members of the judiciary panel, plan to offer their support of the GPOs' guidelines.  

 In a statement to be released today, Schumer praises the "strong" code of conduct issued by the 
Healthcare Group Purchasing Industry Initiative. "I am hopeful that, with the steps the industry has 
taken, the Senate will not have to intervene," Schumer said.  
 The Senate Judiciary Committee's Antitrust Subcommittee has held a series of hearings in the 
past few years, and the panel's chairman, Mike DeWine (R-Ohio), and ranking Democrat, Herb 
Kohl (Wis.), have pressured the industry to provide safeguards to ensure that GPOs are engaging in 
fair business practices and providing their clients with lower prices. 
 Though unknown to most outside of the healthcare sector, GPOs act as middlemen, making 
large-volume buys from healthcare-products manufacturers for hospitals and other healthcare 

providers. The industry estimates it moves about $80 million worth of supplies each year. 
 Kohl and DeWine co-wrote the Medical Device Competition Act in the 108th Congress that 
would have directed the Department of Health and Human Services to design ethics standards for 
the industry. The measure has not been introduced in the 109th Congress. 
 Demands from Kohl, DeWine and other senators resulted in ever-stricter guidelines' being 
considered by the GPOs over the past several years. "As this initiative has developed, the degree of 
disclosure [required for GPOs] we committed to has been ratcheted up many times," said Richard 
Norling, CEO of Premier Inc., a GPO and hospital chain.  
 The policies represent "a gold standard for public disclosure and best practices," Norling said in 

a written statement. 
 The hospital industry praised the guidelines. 
"The initiative offers stakeholders greater insight into GPO business practices and decisionmaking," 
six hospital organizations said in a joint statement. "It also ensures that GPOs who are part of the 
initiative operate ethically and are held accountable."  
 The organizations include the American Hospital Association and the Federation of American 
Hospitals. The National Rural Health Association is slated to release a supportive statement of its 
own today. 

 The hospital industry's endorsement of the GPO guidelines suggests confidence that they will 
result in fair competition and deeper discounts. Supply costs are topped only by labor among 
hospitals' expenses.  
Issued in April, the ethics standards rely heavily on the GPOs' willingness to report accurately 
company policies designed to prevent conflicts of interest involving GPO board members and 
officers with the GPOs' business partners. Questionnaires measuring GPOs' adherence to the 
standards must be answered each year; the results are made available to policymakers, competitors 
and the public.  
 The initiative says that 80 percent of GPOs are endorsing the guidelines.” 

 
 Jeffrey Hill “Healthcare Providers Look To Dodge New Mandates”,The Hill, July 11th, 2005.  

 On July 12th, 2005, the defendants UHC, VHA and Novation strongly endorsed this substitute for 

regulation in a press release by their lobbying organization Healthcare Group Purchasing Industry Initiative 

entitled “Key Senators And Largest Hospital Groups Express Support For New Initiative Promoting 
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Greater GPO Transparency-Initiative is Most Extensive, Voluntary Disclosure of Ethical and Business 

Practices Undertaken by Any U.S. Industry, Experts Say.” 

 Of course, for Medical Supply and its counsel Bret Landrith to have suggested in a Kansas District 

Court in October of 2002 that conflicts of interest between US Bank, US Bancorp NA (USB), Piper Jaffray 

Companies (PJC) arising from their exclusive heathcare technology company capitalization agreements 

with the GPO Novation LLC and their investment relationships and coverage with Neoforma, Inc. were 

harming hospitals and patient consumers in the nationwide market for hospital supplies invited the Kansas 

District judge who had heard no evidence to admonish Medical Supply’s counsel to check his facts. When 

Medical Supply brought the clear errors of law on appeal, the Tenth Circuit demonstrating no independent 

consideration dismissed the appeal with a show cause order and sanctioned Medical Supply’s counsel with 

its harshest sanctions for a “frivolous” appeal. The defendants continue to this day quoting these biased and 

ill informed decisions and failing to provide legal support for motions in opposition to the plaintiff’s 

claims.  

 On July 13th, 2005, The Kansas State Disciplinary Administrator, Stanton Hazlett served notice he 

would formally prosecute Medical Supply’s counsel for making an appeal in the earlier Kansas District 

court case. This is despite his admission in the previous prosecution that he omitted exculpatory evidence 

from the two ex parte probable cause hearings before commencing the earlier prosecution. Medical 

Supply’s counsel lost his family, his house and income as result of the earlier two year prosecution in 

furtherance of the defendants’ obstruction of justice.  

 The earlier prosecution which is still ongoing has materially harmed Medical Supply’s 

representation, being temporally coordinated to disrupt Medical Supply’s counsel in the trial court jury trial 

and appeal of Bolden v. City of Topeka, the case that was pretextually used by the defendants.  

 Kansas utterly flunks as a forum where litigation on these issues can be pursued in the interest of 
justice. State of Kansas Judicial Branch officials including Stanton Hazlett certainly have no governmental 
interest in preventing competition in the hospital supply market or in punishing claims or appeals for being 
in the form of proper complaints under the federal antitrust statutes and the USA PATRIOT Act. The State 

of Kansas also suffers from Medicaid overcharging that has led to budget shortfalls and a finding by 
Governor Sebelius’s administration that the state’s minorities continue to suffer from lack of access to 
healthcare. See the Kansas Health Institute Report entitled Racial and Ethnic Minority Health Disparities in 
Kansas:A Data and Chartbook, State of Kansas Judicial Branch officials certainly could have no legitimate 
interest in retaliating against victims or their counsel who are seeking redress in federal court. Similarly, 
State of Kansas Judicial Branch officials and their agents shouldn’t interfere in representation agreements 
of private litigants on behalf of the defendants or offer $300,000.00 bribes in an attempt to fix this case 
while it was in the Missouri Western District Court. See attached affidavit of Sam Lipari, exb. 1.   
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 5 

 In contrast with Stanton Hazlett’s felonious criminal  use of his Kansas Judicial Branch Office to 

punish each and every ethical act of Medical Supply’s counsel, the Texas solution described in the 

plaintiff’s complaint of merely terminating attorneys capable of enforcing the federal antitrust laws against 

the defendants now seems commendably humane.  

The Kansas District Court And The Tenth Circuit Do Not Honor Federal Antitrust Statutes 

In the Hospital Supply Market 

 

The Kansas District court abused its discretion in dismissing an injunction to prevent the 

defendants from keeping Medical Supply out of the market for hospital supplies and even admonished the 

plaintiff’s counsel in the mistaken belief that artificially created shortages of hospital supplies from contract 

price manipulation could not cause patient deaths. These are determinations that could only be made by the 

court after evidence had been presented. The Tenth Circuit panel never the less sanctioned the plaintiff’s 

counsel for even appealing the trial court’s clear mistake and error regarding the USA PATRIOT Act used 

by the defendants to keep Medical Supply out of the market for hospital supplies and in contradiction to 

established Tenth Circuit precedent on identified but uncharged antitrust coconspirators and discoverable 

unknown defendants.  

Kansas Has No Developed State Antitrust Law 

There is no body of state antitrust law in Kansas that has been developed like that of the State of 

Missouri’s and under which the plaintiff has brought its claims. The Kansas Supreme Court described the 

Kansas antitrust statutes in 1999: 

“That the statutes are broad may not be denied. That there has been no meaningful 
interpretation of these statutes in Kansas is also true. For a comprehensive discussion of the state of 

antitrust law under the Kansas statutes at the time Noah filed the underlying antitrust action, see 
Kenton C. Granger, A Glimpse at a Plaintiff's Remedies Under Kansas' Antitrust Laws, 8 Washburn 
L.J. 1 (1968). The statutes relied upon by Noah were enacted 1889, 1897 (a year before Congress 
passed the Sherman Act), and 1899. The statutes have been virtually ignored by the bar, with 

only a few cases coming to this court since their enactment.” [emphasis added] 
 
Bergstrom v. Noah, 974 P.2d 520 at 530, 266 Kan. 829 (Kan., 1999). 

The Kansas District court which was unable to rule consistently with federal antitrust acts and 

Tenth Circuit established precedent will now be called upon to interpret Missouri’s antitrust laws while 

Missouri’s own residents are being subjected to the hell the plaintiff sought to prevent and to which Kansas 

officials have no interest in stopping (The affidavit of Samuel Lipari even reveals State of Kansas officials 

including Stanton Hazlett are actively trying to obstruct justice and prevent these claims from being 
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litigated by depriving Medical Supply of counsel). 

The Interests of Justice Favor The Western District of Missouri 

The Interests of Justice Favor The Western District of Missouri, the plaintiff’s chief executive has 

been witness to the injustice, intimidation and harassment that has been meted out in Kansas against the 

plaintiff, the plaintiff’s representation and witnesses in federal actions in Kansas as a direct result of the 

defendants’ conduct averred in the complaint.  

“Section 1404(a) governs the ability of a federal district court to transfer a case to another district. 

This provision reads: "For the convenience of the parties and witnesses, in the interest of justice, a 
district court may transfer any civil action to any other district or division where it might have been 
brought." 28 U.S.C. § 1404(a) (1994). The statutory language reveals three general categories of 
factors that courts must consider when deciding a motion to transfer: (1) the convenience of the 
parties, (2) the convenience of the witnesses, and (3) the interests of justice. Id.” 

 
Terra Intern., Inc. v. Mississippi Chemical Corp., 119 F.3d 688 at 691 (C.A.8 (Iowa), 1997). The 

plaintiff’s suggestion opposing transfer of this action to the District of Kansas concentrated on the third 

element, the interests of justice that would be disserved by a transfer to Kansas District Court. The plaintiff 

explained how many of the issues raised by the defendants in their response to the complaint would be 

resolved in the favor of the plaintiff under Kansas District court precedent and when applying the law of 

the transferee forum state.  The defendants unanimously answered, acknowledging the plaintiff’s 

arguments regarding the change of venue’s modification of the parties’ substantive rights without 

controverting the plaintiff’s arguments.  

The Interests of Justice Are Defeated By The Choice of Law Rule 

Of particular note is the defendants’ lack of informing argument and acceptance of the plaintiff’s 

assertion on which venue’s law will apply. Normally, the rule is contrary to the plaintiff’s assertion: 

"The rule is settled that when a district court grants a venue change pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 
1404, the transferee court is obligated to apply the law of the state in which the transferor court sits."  

Benne v. International Business Machines Corp., 87 F.3d 419, 423 (10th Cir.1996) (citing Van 

Dusen v. Barrack, 376 U.S. 612, 639, 84 S.Ct. 805, 820, 11 L.Ed.2d 945 (1964) (rule applies 
whether defendant or plaintiff initiates change of venue)).” 

 
Yoder v. Honeywell Inc., 104 F.3d 1215 at 1219 (C.A.10 (Colo.), 1997). However, the defendants 

asserted in their initial response to the complaint that personal jurisdiction over some of the defendants was 

lacking. “When the transferor court lacks personal jurisdiction, however, the choice of law rules of the 

transferee court apply. “Doering v. Copper Mountain Inc., 259 F.3d 1202 at 1209 (10th Cir., 2001). The 

Tenth Circuit has ruled that when jurisdiction is corrected by the transfer, 28 U.S.C. § 1631 is properly 
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used, mandating the law of the transferee forum: 

“In such cases, the transferee jurisdiction's substantive and choice of law rules apply so long as the 
transfer did in fact cure a jurisdictional defect, as we note below. Trierweiler, 90 F.3d at 1532. We 
note below that the proper course of action since the enactment of 28 U.S.C. § 1631 is to transfer 

pursuant to that statute, which requires that the transferee court apply that jurisdiction's law.  Ross v. 

Colorado Outward Bound School, Inc., 822 F.2d 1524, 1526-27 (10th Cir.1987).” 
 

Viernow v. Euripides Development Corp., 157 F.3d 785 at 793 (C.A.10 (Utah), 1998). 

The transfer of this action to the Kansas District court is a situation in which the transferee court 

should consider the transfer "clearly erroneous," and therefore seeks to transfer the case back to the 

transferor court, the doctrine of the law of the case provides that such retransfers "should necessarily be 

exceptional," and "if the transferee court can find the transfer decision plausible, its jurisdictional inquiry is 

at an end." Christianson v. Colt Industries Operating Corp., 486 U.S. 800, 819, 108 S.Ct. 2166, 100 

L.Ed.2d 811 (1988). 

The Court Is In Error Because of The Affidavit of Intimidation and Harassment Outweighs 

Any Experience Or Efficiency In A Kansas District Court or Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals That In 

Its Prejudice And Bias Refused To Read The Plaintiff’s Pleadings or Briefs 

 

No evidence was heard in two emergency preliminary injunction hearings and no findings of fact 

or law were made in the Tenth Circuit interlocutory appeal of denial of preliminary injunctive relief which 

was later dismissed as moot. The defendants’ reply tries to argue that the Tenth Circuit appellate panel’s 

handling of the Medical Supply vs. US Bancorp appeal lends efficiency in the conservation of judicial 

resources since the circuit has become familiar with the parties and the facts of the case. The show cause 

order and the judgment of the same panel belies this contention. Medical Supply sought en banc 

reconsideration precisely because the panel had demonstrated no familiarity with any of Medical Supply’s 

filings. See 

The Western District of Missouri transferor court has ruled interpreting the interest of justice 

factor similar to the court in Reiffin v. Microsoft Corp., 104 F.Supp.2d 48 (D.C., 2000) responded to many 

of the same issues regarding venue as raised in this action. However, as will be explained infra, important 

differences exist between Medical Supply and Reiffin that cause a similar outcome to be an abuse of 

discretion.  The Reiffin court examined transfer where facts and claims are identical or closely related to an 

earlier action in transferee forum and the transferee forum had extensive familiarity with parties, facts and 

legal issues. The Reiffin court observed: 
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"[t]he interest-of-justice factor encompasses the desire to avoid multiple litigation from a single 
transaction [and] to try related litigation together ...." See Vencor Nursing Centers, L.P. v. Shalala, 
63 F.Supp.2d 1, 6 (D.D.C.1999) (emphasis added); Hawksbill Sea Turtle v. FEMA, 939 F.Supp. 1, 3 
(D.D.C.1996). A court considering transfer of venue "may consider the interest of conserving 
judicial resources and practical considerations which will facilitate a final resolution of the litigation 

in an expeditious and inexpensive manner." Harris v. Republic Airlines, 699 F.Supp. 961, 962 
(D.D.C.1988). 

 
Reiffin v. Microsoft Corp., 104 F.Supp.2d 48 at 55 (D.C., 2000). Medical Supply’s claims are not 

based on the same transactions as the earlier litigation as clearly stated in Lawlor v. Nat'l Screen Services, 

349 U.S. 322 (1955) and Wilford Banks v. International Union Electronic, Electrical, No. 03-3982 at pg. 5-

6 and fn 2 (Fed. 8th Cir. 12/3/2004) (Fed. 8th Cir., 2004)( distinguished from Lawlor on other grounds ) 

and Engelhardt v. Bell & Howell Co., 327 F.2d 30 at pg. 36 (C.A.8 (Mo.), 1964). 

The Reiffin court noted the steps the plaintiff could have taken instead of re-filing his complaint in 

another district court:  

“[T]he plaintiff has a strong belief, forcefully expressed, that Microsoft acted dishonestly and in bad 
faith in the related California proceeding, and that that conduct led the Northern District Judge to 
issue an erroneous ruling. This court expresses no opinion on the merits of those beliefs. However, 
there were several potential avenues for the plaintiff to raise these concerns, and none of them 
involve filing a largely duplicative action in this district. Specifically, the plaintiff might have filed a 
motion for reconsideration, with the Northern District Judge, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 
Procedure 59(e). Alternately, if he believes that Microsoft's alleged dishonesty led the Northern 
District Judge to issue an erroneous ruling, he could file a motion for relief from judgment pursuant 
to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b). Lastly, the plaintiff can ask that court to impose sanctions 

on Microsoft or its counsel.” 
 

Reiffin v. Microsoft Corp., 104 F.Supp.2d 48 at 55 (D.C., 2000). In the earlier action in Kansas 

District court, Medical Supply sought a reconsideration under Rule 59(e). The trial court did not 

acknowledge the clear error in failing to recognize coconspirators when identified in the complaint and the 

express language in the USA PATRIOT Act granting private rights of action, supplemented by quotes from 

a legal article on anti money laundering suspicious activity reporting liability after implementation of the 

USA PATRIOT Act.  

When Medical Supply made an appeal, seeking the only remedy for errors of law and the only 

remedy for the court’s misconduct, a Tenth Circuit panel made no independent findings of fact or law and 

issued a show cause order against the plaintiff and its counsel. Medical Supply answered that show cause 

order, citing several private rights of action in the text of the USA PATRIOT Act contradicting the Tenth 

Circuit panel’s formal memorandum and order.  

In its findings on the show cause response, the Tenth Circuit panel acknowledged that Medical 
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Supply’s issue on appeal was indeed wrongly decided when it admitted that there are private rights of 

action under the USA PATRIOT Act. The same panel went on to rule contradicting the circuit’s controlling 

opinions on unnamed but identified antitrust coconspirators and on dismissals related to discoverable 

unknown civil defendants and sanctioned Medical Supply’s counsel over $23,000.00. 

The Tenth Circuit’s Overt Retaliatory Hostility To Medical Supply And To Federal Law 

Being Applied In The Market For Hospital Supplies Transcends Concerns Over Forum Shopping  

 

While the above may be seen as mere bad out comes a forum shopper may seek to avoid, the 

plaintiff disagrees. The plaintiff exercised its freedom to bring a new claim in a different venue, including 

one like Missouri District court that honors United States law. The advantages to the plaintiff and 

defendants are many and include the Missouri court’s opinion which so closely tracks with Reiffin v. 

Microsoft Corp. another federal court in another circuit as to permit a scholarly resolution of the transfer 

issue to the satisfaction of all parties regardless of their location or circuit jurisdiction precisely because the 

Missouri district follows US law. The Kansas decisions and those of the Tenth Circuit over the earlier 

Medical Supply action have no such utility. 

Counsel for the many defendants in this action are united in seeking the transfer of this action to 

Kansas District court, it does not appear consideration has been given to the fact that some of the 

defendants are publicly held and have already lost over several hundred million dollars of assets as a result 

of the non US law based outcomes of Kansas District court in the prior litigation ( See plaintiff’s complaint 

¶¶ 330-336 US Bancorp NA (USB) $750 million dollar loss of Piper Jaffray ,  ¶¶ 370, 371 Piper Jaffray 

Companies $225,000,000.00 loss (PJC), ¶¶ 375,376,377 describing Neoforma’s (NEOF) likely loss of $61 

million dollars per year in VHA and UHC fees.   

Clearly, if Kansas District court followed federal statutes and controlling case law, Medical 

Supply would have obtained preliminary injunctive relief under the Sherman Antitrust Act and with US 

Bank escrow accounts could have entered the market for hospital supplies in December of 2002, preventing 

the above described losses to the publicly traded defendant companies US Bancorp NA, The Piper Jaffray 

Companies and Neoforma. The defendants would also not now be liable for their contemplated damages 

(now trebled) inflicted upon Medical Supply when they took Sherman Act antitrust law prohibited actions 

against the plaintiff.  

At the time counsel for the Kansas action defendants and charged conspirators US Bancorp NA 
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and Piper Jaffray also sought the court outcomes that injured their clients. No doubt because even these 

staggering losses are far less than the illegitimate monopoly profit from the conspiracy’s artificial inflation 

of hospital supplies. Currently, the defendants’ counsel seeks to transfer this new action back to the Kansas 

District court where that court and the Tenth Circuit have demonstrated a hostile unwillingness to follow 

US Supreme Court decisions regarding sufficiency of pleadings in hospital supply market antitrust cases as 

if the jurisdiction has seceded from the Union.  

The danger to the interests of justice if this transfer is made is the potential for further injury to the 

share holders of US Bancorp NA (USB), The Piper Jaffray Companies (PJC) and Neoforma (NEOF) who 

do not enjoy distributions of the illegitimate hospital supply monopoly profit received by the principals of 

VHA, UHC and Novation. It is unlikely that their interests as shareholders will be protected when the 

Tenth Circuit would not even accept the concept of capital markets when Medical Supply described the 

defendants’ actions to monopolize the upstream market for hospital supplies, the capitalization of 

healthcare technology companies through the sale of shares of stock. 

The plaintiff’s complaint and the uncontroverted affidavit of its chief officer state that the plaintiff 

and its counsel were intimidated and harassed outside of the Kansas legal action by the defendants and a 

Kansas District Court official who was not assigned to the case. The affidavit describes how witnesses are 

intimidated, threatened and harassed to prevent or retaliate against their testimony in Kansas District court. 

The affidavit and complaint also describe the retaliatory actions taken against the plaintiff’s counsel 

because of Medical Supply’s claims, even after the earlier Kansas action was dismissed and continuing to 

this day. See attached affidavit of Sam Lipari Exb. 1. 

Part of the foreseeable results of the defendants’ direct conduct against the plaintiff’s counsel and 

the defendants conduct against the plaintiffs’ counsel through agents and employees of Shughart, Thomson 

and Kilroy includes depriving Medical Supply of representation in a US Supreme Court appeal of the Tenth 

Circuit decision.  Transferring this action to the Kansas District court cannot be in the furtherance of the 

interests of justice.  

Medical Supply seeks to invoke the power of the Missouri district court to scrutinize the conduct 

of the parties in the previous Kansas action. See Marshall v. Holmes, 141 U.S. at 599, 12 S.Ct. at 65, 

quoting Johnson v. Waters, 111 U.S. 640, 667, 4 S.Ct. 619, 633, 28 L.Ed. 547 (1884)” [emphasis added] 
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Leber-Krebs, Inc. v. Capitol Records, 779 F.2d 895 at 901 (C.A.2 (N.Y.), 1985). In addition to the witness 

and victim intimidation and harassment documented in Kansas district court,  the affidavit of Sam Lipari 

also provided the court with the information that the Kansas District court judges had recused themselves 

from a related action brought by Medical Supply’s counsel to enjoin a state ethics prosecution against 

plaintiff’s counsel involving the same Kansas magistrate and conduct described in the current Medical 

Supply complaint. While that would seem to dispatch the idea that the interests of justice favor transfer to 

Kansas District court, further needs to be said. The Tenth Circuit provided the Chief Judge of the District of 

Utah who made no independent findings of law or fact, adopting by reference contradicting defense 

counsel arguments in non-specified pleadings. These adopted findings of law [ Medical Supply’s counsel’s 

witness affidavits were uncontroverted] included that the Disciplinary Administrator whose prosecution 

was to be enjoined was immune because he is a judge [he is not a judge] and equally erroneously that 42 

U.S.C. §1981 no longer provided rights protecting African Americans enforceable under 42 U.S.C. §1983. 

CONCLUSION 

Whereas the transferor court abused its discretion ignoring the obstruction of justice experienced 

by the plaintiff in Kansas and the certain irreparable harm that will result from the transfer, the plaintiff 

Medical Supply respectfully requests that this action be returned.  

 “  

Respectfully Submitted 

S/Bret D. Landrith 
Bret D. Landrith  
# KS00500 

Kansas Supreme Court ID # 20380 
2961 SW Central Park, # G33,  
Topeka, KS 66611 
1-785-876-2233 
1-785-267-4084 
landrithlaw@cox.net 

 
 

Certificate of Service 

 
 I certify that on July 20th, 2005 I have served the foregoing with the clerk of the court by using the 
CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the  following: 
 
Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C.  1700 
Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929       
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Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian Creek Parkway  Overland 
Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 (FAX) 
 
John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  1200 Main Street  Kansas 
City, MO  64105-2122     

 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott  34th Floor  50 
California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 First City Tower  1001 
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 S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS  

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS  

 

 MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,   ) 

To be Substituted by Samuel K. Lipari   )  
  Plaintiff,     ) 
v.       ) Case No. 05-2299-KHV 
NOVATION, LLC     ) Formerly W.D. MO. Case No. 05-0210 
NEOFORMA, INC.     ) Attorney Lien 
To be Substituted by Global Health Exchange, LLC  ) 
ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 

CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 
UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM   ) 
ROBERT J. BAKER     ) 
US BANCORP, NA     ) 
US BANK       ) 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 
ANDREW CESERE     ) 
THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 
ANDREW S. DUFF     ) 

SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY     ) 
WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.      ) 

Defendants.    ) 
 

MOTION TO SUBSTITUTE DEFENDANT UNDER F.R.C.P. RULES 17(A) 

 

Comes now the plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc. and makes the present motion to substitute 

the defendant party Neoforma, Inc. with the corporation’s purchaser Global Health Exchange, LLC (GHX).  

GHX is identified in the current case and both preceding action as a coconspirator with the defendants. 

GHX is aware of Medical Supply’s claims and the possibility it will be named as a defendant. GHX is the 

real party in interest under the facts of the complaint. The plaintiff is entitled to the substitution under 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rules 17(A), 15(A) AND 25(A). The plaintiff respectfully requests the 

substitution for the following reasons. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 
1. On October 11th, 2005, Neoforma, Inc. a publicly traded company announced in a corporate press 

release today that it is being purchased by GHX. See Exhibit 1. 

2. This event was foreshadowed in the plaintiff’s complaint as a step the defendants will take to 

monopolize the market for hospital supplies distributed through the internet. 

“40. Originally there were over a hundred e-commerce electronic marketplaces for hospital 
supplies. Now there are just two, Neoforma, Inc. the web based supplier controlled by Novation and 
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GHX, LLC a web based supplier controlled by Premier and other members in a joint venture of 
formerly competing hospital manufacturers and suppliers.” 
 
Plaintiff’s complaint in the present action at ¶ 40 on page  7 
 

3. The plaintiff’s complaint also alleged GHX would acquire Neoforma, Inc. to conceal the 

laundering of hospital funds converted by the defendants Novation, VHA and UHC. 

“420. The purpose of the merger is to restrain trade in the e-commerce market for hospital 
supplies and increase the market power of both companies, which is 80% to the entire control of the 
single company GHX. A second purpose of the merger is to conceal the loss of funds belonging to 
Novation’s member hospitals in the Neoforma venture.” 

 
Plaintiff’s complaint in the present action at Section 15, ¶ 420 onpage 83. 
 

4. Global Health Exchange LLC (GHX) is headquartered at 11000 Westmoor Circle, Suite 400  

Westminster, Colorado 80021. 

5. GHX is the subject of many averments of facts in the plaintiff’s complaint as a co-conspirator of 

the named defendants. See Exhibit 2. 

6. GHX’s chief counsel communicated with Medical Supply’s counsel via telephone when Medical 

Supply was preparing to file its complaint against GE. It was GHX’s counsel who suggested the action be 

filed in Missouri. A suggestion Medical Supply followed in the present action. 

7. Novation employees have turned over internal documents to the US Department of Justice 

revealing hospital funds were laundered and converted through Neoforma, Inc. where they were falsely 

represented as investment in electronic marketplace technology while being returned to Novation 

executives. 

8. GHX’s purchase of Neoforma’s outstanding stock for $10 a share while distributing back shares to 

the defendants VHA and UHC does aid the redress of the cartel’s conversion of customer hospital funds in 

the electronic marketplace for hospital supplies and is required to redress antitrust injury to consumers in 

the national hospital supply market. 

9. GHX’s renegotiation of an electronic marketplace agreement ending VHA and UHC unreasonable 

ten year exclusive contract with Neoforma at above competitive market rates is a necessary step toward 

ending the restraint of trade in the nation’s market for hospital supplies. 

10. GHX, VHA, UHC, Novation and Neoforma along with their corporate officers would not have 

taken this action to alleviate some of the harm caused by their unreasonable restraint of trade if Medical 
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Supply and its counsel had not persevered in three antitrust actions while having to seek a federal 

injunction to restrain State of Kansas officials from taking Medical Supply’s counsel’s license to practice 

law and to defend his license and reputation in state court at the instigation of the defendants in this action. 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF SUBSTITUTION 

The plaintiff is entitled to the substitution under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rules 17(A), 

15(A) AND 25(A). 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 25(c) provides for the substitution of parties upon transfer of interest: 

 
        “In the case of any transfer of interest, the action may be continued by or against the original 
party, unless the court upon motion directs the person to whom the interest is transferred to be 
substituted in the action or joined with the original party....” 

 
        A district court may, in its sound discretion, substitute a party where a transfer of interest has 

occurred.  Bamerilease Capital Corp. v. Nearburg, 958 F.2d 150, 154 (6th Cir.1992), cert. denied, --- U.S. -

---, 113 S.Ct. 194, 121 L.Ed.2d 137 (1992); Bauer v. Commerce Union Bank, Clarksville, Tenn., 859 F.2d 

438, 441 (6th Cir.1988), cert. denied, 489 U.S. 1079, 109 S.Ct. 1531, 103 L.Ed.2d 836 (1989);  Otis Clapp 

& Son, Inc. v. Filmore Vitamin Co., 754 F.2d 738, 743 (7th Cir.1985);  Prop-Jets, Inc. v. Chandler, 575 

F.2d 1322, 1324 (10th Cir.1978). 

GHX would still be liable as a successor in interest if not joined. 

In Panther Pumps & Equipment Co., Inc. v. Hydrocraft, Inc., 566 F.2d 8 (7th Cir.1977), cert. 

denied sub nom.  Beck v. Morrison Pump Co., Inc., 435 U.S. 1013, 98 S.Ct. 1887, 56 L.Ed.2d 395 (1978), 

the Court held that Rule 25(c) could be invoked to substitute a successor in interest who had obtained the 

assets of the corporation against whom judgment had been rendered. It defined successor as "one who 

succeeds or takes the place of another." Id. at 24. It quoted Moore's Federal Practice: 

        Rule 25 has application only to actions pending in the district courts. But this should not 
preclude substitution after judgment has been rendered in the district court * * * for the purpose of 
subsequent proceedings to enforce * * * a judgment.  
 
3B Moore's Federal Practice p 25.03, at 25-101 (2d ed. 1977), footnote omitted. 
 

Substitution of GHX Meets The Requirements Under Rule 15 

 There are two basic requirements for substitution: 

“First, both complaints must arise out of the same conduct, transaction, or occurrence. Second, the 
additional defendant must have been omitted from the original complaint by mistake. Third, the 
additional defendant must not be prejudiced by the delay. Soto v. Brooklyn Corr. Facility, 80 F.3d 
34, 35-36 (2d Cir. 1996).” 
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VKK Corp. v. Nat'l Football League, 244 F.3d 114 at 128 (2nd Cir., 2000). The VKK court als dealt 

with the issue of a party identified in the first complaint but not named as a defendant. The court found the 

omission to qualify as a mistake under Rule 15: 

“TJI was omitted from the original complaint because of a "mistake concerning the identity of the 
proper party."     m(3)(B). The district court concluded that TJI was strategically omitted and TJL 
was sued because it was the recipient of the "payback" franchise. VKK Corp., 187 F.R.D. at 499. 
But in its original complaint, VKK describes its interactions in the spring of 1991 with an entity that 
it calls "Touchdown Jacksonville, Ltd." At that time, however, TJI was the only Touchdown 
Jacksonville entity extant, and TJI was concededly the entity whose actions are described in the 

complaint. TJL was not created until the fall of 1991. We see no plausible reason for VKK 
purposefully to claim negotiations with and ascribe actions to a company that did not exist. We have 
found nothing in the extensive record on appeal to support the district court's theory as to VKK's 
strategy.” 

 
VKK Corp. v. Nat'l Football League, 244 F.3d 114 at 128 (2nd Cir., 2000). Medical Supply’s 

complaint against GE identified the confusion over whether GHX was an instrumentality or a legitimate 

corporation in explaining why it was identified as a coconspirator but unnamed. The earlier complaint in 

the action against GE did however aver that GHX was the incorporated agreement to restrain trade created 

by GE for the purpose of organizing the cartel refusing to deal with Medical Supply and artificially 

inflating healthcare prices. The Tenth Circuit found insufficient allegations that GHX was GE’s 

instrumentality but did not address GHX’s role or nature as the embodiment of the agreement among the 

cartel members to restrain trade.  

Both the trial and circuit court confused GHX with Global Exchange, identified in the complaint 

against GE as a separate electronic marketplace created by GE and one that distributed hospital supplies via 

the Web or internet at Jeffrey Immelt’s control. GHX’s internal chief counsel’s communication with 

Medical Supply and with the separate entity GE Medical, Inc.’s legal counsel about the antitrust action 

against GE for GHX’s operation as an agreement to restrain trade among hospital suppliers, distributors 

and GPO’s demonstrates GHX had sufficient notice that it was a proper defendant for Medical Supply’s 

action. Peterson v. Sealed Air Corp., 902 F.2d 1232, 1237 (7th Cir. 1990) (finding that a corporation might 

receive notice within the meaning of Rule 15(c) if "its president reads about the suit in The Wall Street 

Journal and recognizes that his firm is the right defendant" and that "[a] complaint naming GM that went on 

and on about the plaintiff's Thunderbird would alert Ford's agent that Ford was the right party."); William 

H. McGee & Co. v. M/V Ming Plenty, 164 F.R.D. 601, 606 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (holding that "[t]he 
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misidentification of similarly named or related companies is the classic case for application of Rule 15(c) 

relation back."). 

“Modern decisions are inclined to be lenient when an honest mistake has been made in choosing the 

party in whose name the action is to be filed — in both maritime and nonmaritime cases. See 
Levinson v. Deupree, 345 U.S. 648, 73 S.Ct. 914, 97 L.Ed.2d 1319 (1953); Link Aviation, Inc. v. 

Downs, 325 F.2d 613 (D.C.Cir.1963). The provision should not be misunderstood or distorted. It is 
intended to prevent forfeiture when determination of the proper party to sue is difficult or when an 
understandable mistake has been made.” 

 
Lans v. Gateway 2000, Inc., 84 F.Supp.2d 112 at 119 (D.C., 1999) 

 

GHX would not be prejudiced by being substituted as a defendant.  

 The VKK court describes the circumstances of an ongoing relationship among a defendant and 

substitute defendant similar to that between Neoforma, Inc. and GHX, including partial transfers of assets 

and interest over time and found the relationship negated any prejudice from the substitution:  

“Third, the amended complaint also meets the "no prejudice" requirement. TJI "knew or should 

have known that, but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party, the action would 
have been brought against" it. Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(3)(B). TJI and TJL had an ongoing relationship. 
Both were created to accomplish the same goal bringing an NFL football franchise to Jacksonville, 
Florida and in October 1991, TJI transferred some its assets to TJL in order to help accomplish that 
goal.” 

 
VKK Corp. v. Nat'l Football League, 244 F.3d 114 at 128 (2nd Cir., 2000). 

 
Issue Preclusion Does Not Attach To Ghx 

Under Tenth Circuit authority regarding substitution of a party at this stage prior to trial that was 

involved in related litigation where no discovery or finding of facts were made, the prior actions would not 

control the present action against the substituted party or Novation and its codefendants. In Prop-Jets, Inc. 

v. Chandler the court addressed the preclusive effect of its earlier decision in the related case Interceptor 

Corporation. R. J. Enstrom Corp. v. Interceptor Corp., 555 F.2d 277 (10th Cir. 1977). The court concluded 

even the findings on whether Interceptor had been acquired in an arm’s length transaction could be altered 

by the later action when evidence was developed:  

“Although it is contended by Prop-Jets that it is the continuation of the partnership in corporate 
form, there has been no finding by any court to that effect. Consequently, this Court's previous 

decision in R. J. Enstrom Corp. v. Interceptor Corp., supra, does not necessarily control the trial 
court's action. If that earlier decision were to be regarded as controlling, it would be a final judgment 
(as we understand to be Prop-Jets' contention.) As a final judgment it would be subject to a motion 
under Fed.R.Civ.P. 60(b).  2 In that posture it is significant that although Enstrom's motion was 
made under Rule 25(c), the assertions recited in support of the motion would demonstrate sufficient 
mistake, new evidence, or perhaps even fraud that would allow the trial court under Rule 60(b) to 
relieve Enstrom from our previous affirmation of its holding that as a matter of law Interceptor 
Company was not a successor to Interceptor Corporation. Under the law the district court retains the 
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power to act on a Rule 60(b) motion after this Court has resolved a matter upon appeal, and there is 
no necessity that a petition requesting permission to exercise such authority be filed with this Court.  
Standard Oil Co. of California v. United States, 429 U.S. 17, 97 S.Ct. 31, 50 L.Ed.2d 21 (1976); 
Wilkin v. Sunbeam Corporation, 405 F.2d 165 (10th Cir. 1968). Thus treated as a Rule 60(b) motion 
the trial court has authority to reopen this matter.” 

 
Prop-Jets, Inc. v. Chandler, 575 F.2d 1322 at 1323-24 (C.A.10 (Okl.), 1978) 

 

CONCLUSION 

 
Whereas for above stated reasons, the plaintiff Medical Supply respectfully requests that the court 

substitute Global Health Exchange, LLC for Neoforma, Inc. as a defendant in this action, Making GHX the 

responsible defendant for all conduct alleged against Neoforma, Inc., the corporate defendant in the above 

captioned action. 

Respectfully Submitted 

S/Bret D. Landrith 
Bret D. Landrith  

Kansas Supreme Court ID # 20380 
2961 SW Central Park, # G33,  
Topeka, KS 66611 
1-785-267-4084 
landrithlaw@cox.net 

 
 

Certificate of Service 

 

 I certify that on October 11th,  2005 I have served the foregoing with the clerk of the court by 
using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the  following: 
 
Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C.  1700 
Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929       
 
Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian Creek Parkway  Overland 
Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 (FAX) 

 
John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  1200 Main Street  Kansas 
City, MO  64105-2122    (also local counsel for the General Electric Defendants and Jeffrey Immelt) 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott  34th Floor  50 
California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 First City Tower  1001 
Fannin  Houston, TX  77002     

 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
 I also verify I have sent via certified mail on October 12th a copy of the above to: 
 
Michael Mahoney,  
chief executive officer 
Global Healthcare Exchange, LLC  
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11000 Westmoor Circle, Suite 400  
Westminster, Colorado 80021  
 
 
 

     
 S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith 
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Global Healthcare Exchange to Acquire Neoforma
Tuesday October 11,  7:52 am ET

Combined Company to Offer Cost-Effective Supply Chain Products and Services to Improve
Efficiencies for Both Healthcare Providers and Suppliers

WESTMINSTER, Colo. and SAN JOSE, Calif., Oct. 11 /PRNewswire-FirstCall/  -- Global Healthcare Exchange, LLC
(GHX), and Neoforma, Inc. (Nasdaq: NEOF - News) have entered into a definitive merger agreement for GHX to
acquire Neoforma. Under the terms of the merger agreement, Neoforma's stockholders, with the exception of VHA Inc.
and the University HealthSystem Consortium (UHC), will receive $10 per share, payable in cash, representing a 20.5
percent premium to the average closing price of Neoforma's shares for the one month preceding this announcement and
a 43.5 percent premium to the closing price on January 11, 2005, the date on which Neoforma announced its decision
to evaluate strategic alternatives. Neoforma's stockholder VHA, which owns approximately 8.6 million shares,  or 41.6
percent, of Neoforma, will receive $10 per share, payable in cash, for approximately 2.0 million of its shares,  and will
exchange the remainder of its shares for an 11.6 percent equity ownership position in GHX. Neoforma's stockholder
UHC, which owns approximately 2.1 million shares,  or 10.3 percent, of Neoforma, will receive $10 per share, payable in
cash, for approximately 496,000 of its shares,  and will exchange the remainder of its shares for a 2.9 percent equity
ownership position in GHX.

GHX provides an open and neutral electronic trading exchange, along with complementary products and services,
through which buyers and sellers can collaborate to improve efficiencies in the healthcare supply chain.  Neoforma
provides supply chain management solutions for the healthcare industry, through a unique combination of technology,
information and services. The combination of the two companies is expected to increase efficiency in the healthcare
supply chain by increasing process automation, improving data accuracy and providing business intelligence that can
improve decision-making and planning. As a result  of the merger, more healthcare supply chain participants will be able
to conduct business with one another electronically, which can generate significant savings for both buyers and sellers.

"The merger of GHX and Neoforma provides the opportunity to continue improving efficiencies and lowering costs in the
healthcare supply chain," says Michael Mahoney, chief executive officer of GHX. "GHX will continue to build and
enhance products and services that help all members of the healthcare supply chain improve and streamline their
business processes. By combining these two organizations, GHX can offer new services to a broader range of both
buyer and seller participants, and enable greater efficiencies across the supply chain."

Bob Zollars,  chairman and chief executive officer of Neoforma, states, "Earlier this year, Neoforma committed to
evaluating our strategic alternatives in order to provide greater value to our stockholders. After a lengthy and thorough
evaluation process, Neoforma's management and our board of directors concluded that this outcome is in the best
interests of our minority stockholders. Additionally, this combination with GHX will provide our customers with more cost-
effective solutions at an accelerated pace."

Separately, GHX and VHA, UHC and Novation have entered into a new outsourcing agreement, under which GHX will
provide supply chain management products and services for VHA and UHC members. Novation is the contracting arm
of VHA and UHC. The new outsourcing agreement will become effective upon the close of the merger between GHX
and Neoforma.

GHX will continue to be led by its current chief executive officer Michael Mahoney. GHX will be headquartered in
Westminster,  Colo., with North American operations in Nashville, Tenn., San Jose, Calif., Ambler,  Pa. and Toronto,
Canada. Representatives of the entire healthcare supply chain,  including hospitals, manufacturers, distributors and
group purchasing organizations (GPOs),  will continue to own and govern GHX, and its board of directors will include
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balanced representation by buyers and suppliers,  as well as the participation of independent supply chain experts.
Supply chain management services from GHX will be open to all participants in the healthcare supply chain,  regardless
of size, GPO affiliation or for-profit status.

The transaction, which is expected to close in early 2006, is subject to approval by stockholders representing a majority
of Neoforma's shares that are not held by VHA and UHC and that vote on the transaction. In addition, the transaction is
subject to the expiration of the applicable Hart-Scott-Rodino waiting period, GHX's receipt of anticipated debt financing
and other customary conditions. GHX has received a commitment letter, containing customary conditions, for the debt
financing required for the transaction.

A meeting of Neoforma's stockholders will be scheduled as soon as is practicable following the preparation and filing of
proxy materials with the Securities and Exchange Commission. VHA and UHC, which collectively own the majority of
Neoforma's outstanding shares,  have agreed to vote their shares in favor of the proposed transaction, as have the
directors and officers of Neoforma. Based on the recommendation of the special committee of Neoforma's board of
directors, Neoforma's board of directors has determined that the transaction with GHX is advisable, fair to and in the
best interests of Neoforma's stockholders other than VHA and UHC. Accordingly, Neoforma's board of directors has
unanimously approved the merger agreement and has recommended that Neoforma's stockholders vote in favor of the
merger agreement.

Merrill Lynch & Co. is serving as financial advisor to Neoforma and has rendered an opinion to the special committee of
Neoforma's board of directors that the cash consideration to be received by Neoforma's stockholders other than VHA
and UHC, pursuant to the merger agreement, is fair from a financial point of view to those stockholders. Fenwick &
West LLP is serving as outside legal counsel to Neoforma. Wachtell,  Lipton, Rosen & Katz is serving as outside legal
counsel to the special committee of Neoforma's board of directors. Innisfree M&A Incorporated is serving as Neoforma's
solicitation agent. William Blair & Company is acting as financial advisor and Sidley Austin Brown & Wood LLP as
outside legal counsel to GHX. Lazard is acting as investment banker to both VHA and UHC, and Skadden, Arps, Slate,
Meagher & Flom LLP and McDermott Will & Emery are acting as outside legal counsel to VHA and UHC, respectively.

Investment Community Information

A fact sheet regarding this transaction is attached to this press release. A letter to stockholders also is available on
Neoforma's Web site at http://www.neoforma.com.

Neoforma will discuss the combination with GHX on its previously announced third quarter 2005 financial results
conference call, which is scheduled for Monday, October 24, 2005, at 5:00 p.m. (EDT). The conference call will be
simultaneously broadcast live over the Internet on Neoforma's Web site.

About Global Healthcare Exchange

Global Healthcare Exchange, LLC (GHX) provides an open and neutral electronic trading exchange, along with
complementary products and services, through which buyers and sellers can collaborate to improve efficiencies in the
healthcare supply chain.  GHX's catalog and content services improve the accuracy of purchasing transactions, reducing
many of the most common and costly problems in healthcare procurement, while the privately held company's revenue
neutral business model is designed to lower costs for all involved. GHX's owners, strategic partners,  and trading
exchange participants are representative of the entire healthcare supply chain,  including manufacturers and distributors,
integrated delivery networks (IDNs), hospitals and ancillary healthcare facilities,  group purchasing organizations and their
proprietary healthcare trading exchanges, and supply chain technology companies. Equity owners of GHX are Johnson
& Johnson Health Care Systems Inc.; GE Healthcare; Baxter Healthcare Corp.;  Medtronic USA, Inc.; Abbott Exchange,
Inc.; Siemens; Becton, Dickinson & Co.; Boston Scientific Corp.;  Tyco Healthcare Group, LP; Guidant Corp.;  C.R. Bard,
Inc.; AmerisourceBergen Corp.;  Cardinal Health, Inc.; Fisher Scientific International, Inc.; McKesson Corp.;  B Braun
Medical Inc.; Premier, Inc. and HCA. For more information visit www.ghx.com.

About Neoforma

Neoforma is a leading supply chain management solutions provider for the healthcare industry. Through a unique
combination of technology, information,  and services, Neoforma provides innovative solutions to over 1,600 hospitals
and suppliers,  supporting more than $13 billion in annualized transaction volume. By bringing together contract
information and order data, Neoforma's integrated solution set delivers a comprehensive view of an organization's
supply chain,  driving cost savings and better decision-making for both hospitals and suppliers.  For more information,
point your browser to www.neoforma.com.

In connection with the proposed transaction, Neoforma intends to file a proxy statement and other relevant materials
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). BEFORE MAKING ANY VOTING DECISION WITH RESPECT TO
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THE PROPOSED MERGER, INVESTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS OF NEOFORMA ARE STRONGLY ADVISED TO
READ THE PROXY STATEMENT AND OTHER RELEVANT MATERIALS, INCLUDING ANY OTHER RELEVANT
DOCUMENTS FILED OR TO BE FILED WITH THE SEC, BECAUSE THEY WILL CONTAIN IMPORTANT
INFORMATION ABOUT THE PROPOSED MERGER. The proxy statement and other relevant materials,  and any other
documents filed by Neoforma with the SEC, may be obtained free of charge at the SEC's Web site at www.sec.gov. In
addition, investors and stockholders of Neoforma may obtain free copies of the documents filed with the SEC by
contacting Neoforma Investor Relations at (866) 636-6755 or Neoforma, Inc. 3061 Zanker Road, San Jose, CA 95134,
attention Neoforma Investor Relations. You may also read and copy any reports, statements and other information filed
by Neoforma with the SEC at the SEC public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E.,  Room 1580, Washington,  DC
20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 or visit the SEC's Web site for further information on its public
reference room.

Neoforma and its executive officers and directors may be deemed to be participants in the solicitation of proxies from
the Neoforma stockholders in favor of the proposed merger. Information regarding Neoforma's directors and executive
officers is contained in Neoforma's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, which is filed with the SEC. As
of October 10, 2005, Neoforma's directors and executive officers beneficially owned approximately 858,000 shares of
Neoforma's common stock. Certain executive officers and directors of Neoforma have interests in the merger that may
differ from the interests of stockholders generally, including acceleration of vesting of stock options and continuation of
director and officer insurance and indemnification. A more complete description will be available in the Proxy Statement.

This news release contains forward-looking information within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements
include statements relating to the timing of the closing of the merger and the anticipated benefits of the merger. There
are a number of risks that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated by these forward-looking
statements. These risks include the risk that regulatory approvals may not be obtained, or may take longer than
expected to be received, and the risk that conditions to the closing may not be satisfied when expected, or at all.  These
risks and other risks will be described in the proxy statement relating to the merger, and other risks are described in
Neoforma's periodic reports filed with the SEC, including its Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 and its
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005. These statements are current as of the date of
this release and Neoforma assumes no obligation to update the forward-looking information contained in this news
release.

NOTE: Neoforma is a trademark of Neoforma, Inc. Other Neoforma logos,  product names and service names are also
trademarks of Neoforma, Inc., which may be registered in other countries. Other product and brand names are
trademarks of their respective owners.

                GLOBAL HEALTHCARE EXCHANGE TO ACQUIRE NEOFORMA
                                  Fact Sheet

    Description of Transaction:

-- Definitive merger agreement for Global Healthcare Exchange, LLC (GHX) to acquire Neoforma, Inc. (Nasdaq: NEOF -
News)

    -- Neoforma's stockholders, with the exception of VHA and UHC:
          -- Will receive $10 per share, payable in cash
    -- Neoforma's stockholder VHA Inc.:
          -- Owns approximately 8.6 million shares, or 41.6 percent, of
             Neoforma
          -- Will receive $10 per share, payable in cash, for approximately
             2.0 million of its shares
          -- Will exchange the remainder of its shares for an 11.6 percent
             equity ownership position in GHX
    -- Neoforma's stockholder University HealthSystem Consortium (UHC):
          -- Owns approximately 2.1 million shares of Neoforma
          -- Will receive $10 per share, payable in cash, for approximately
             496,000 of its shares
          -- Will exchange the remainder of its shares for a 2.9 percent
             equity ownership position in GHX

    Leadership and Locations:
    -- GHX will continue to be led by current GHX chief executive officer,
       Michael Mahoney
    -- GHX will be headquartered in Westminster, Colo.
          -- North American operations in Nashville, Tenn., San Jose, Calif.,
             Ambler, Pa. and Toronto, Canada

    Conditions of Closing:
    -- Transaction is subject to:
          -- Approval by stockholders representing a majority of Neoforma's
             shares that:
               -- Are not held by VHA and UHC
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               -- Vote on the transaction
          -- Expiration of the applicable Hart-Scott-Rodino waiting period
          -- GHX's receipt of anticipated debt financing
               -- GHX has received a commitment letter, containing customary
                  conditions, for the debt financing required for the
                  transaction
          -- Other customary conditions

    Timing:
    -- The transaction is expected to close in early 2006

    Outsourcing Agreement:
    -- GHX and VHA, UHC and Novation have entered into a new outsourcing
       agreement to provide supply chain management products and services for
       VHA and UHC members
          -- Will become effective upon the close of the merger
    -- Novation is the contracting arm of VHA and UHC

Source: Neoforma, Inc.

Copyright  © 2005 Yahoo! Inc. All  rights reserved. Privacy Policy - Terms of Service - Copyright  Policy - Ad Feedback
Copyright  © 2005 PR Newswire. All  rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of PRNewswire content is expressly prohibited without  the prior  written

consent of PRNewswire.  PRNewswire shall not  be liable for any errors or delays in the content,  or for any actions taken in reliance thereon.
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PARAGRAPHS FROM THE PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT MAKING AVERMENTS 
AGAINST GHX 

 
26. Global Health Exchange LLC (GHX), 11000 Westmoor Circle, Suite 400  

Westminster, Colorado 80021. 
 

54. Two Medical Supply legal actions to enjoin the Defendants from causing the breach of 
contracts to capitalize Medical Supply’s entry to market were described to the third Senate Judiciary 
hearing on the GPO problem because of the important public policy being defeated by antitrust 
violations against e-commerce suppliers: 
“[A] bank tied to an investment house that has seventy percent of its holdings in health care 
suppliers refused to provide the company with simple escrow services through a blatant 

misapplication of the USA Patriot Act. Most recently an international conglomerate that is a founder 
of GHX was willing to take a $15 million dollar loss on a real estate deal just to keep this company 
out of the market.” 
 
Testimony of Lynn James Everard, “Hospital Group Purchasing: Has the Market Become More 
Open to Competition?” United States Senate Committee on the Judiciary Subcommittee on 
Antitrust, Competition and Business and Consumer Rights July 16, 2003.  
 
174. MedEcon like other GPO’s had not invested in efficiency creating technologies like Medical 

Supply Management’s supply chain management software due to the lack of competition in the 
market for hospital supplies. However, MedEcon enlisted Medical Supply Management transaction 
accounting and reporting data to police their suppliers’ contract pricing compliance, giving birth to 
the current practice of GPOs to use electronic marketplace software to enforce anticompetitive 
minimum price maintenance in Sherman Act prohibited vertical price fixing between manufacturers, 
suppliers and vendors selling to hospitals through Neoforma, Inc. or GHX LLC’s electronic 
marketplace. 
 
8. The Monopolization Of The Hospital Supply Industry By The Defendants In Conspiracies 
And Combinations With Premier, GHX, LLC and Their Predecessor Corporations 

 
229. On March 29, 2000, Global Healthcare Exchange (GHX) was founded as a Limited Liability 
Company or a trust by five major healthcare manufacturing competitors: Johnson & Johnson Health 
Care Systems; GE Medical Systems; Baxter Healthcare Corp.; Medtronic USA, Inc. and Abbott 
Exchange, Inc. Much of the capitalization came from GE, the parent company of GE Medical. The 
name was also copied from GE’s existing internet marketplace for hospital supplies Global 
Exchange and was part of a plan created by Jeffrey Immelt, then GE Medical president and now 

CEO of GE to prevent competition from electronic marketplaces that were independent from the 
manufacturers ability to control hospital supply distribution with kickbacks and commercial bribes.” 
 
245. On November 26, 2001 Global Healthcare Exchange and Health Nexis announced they will 
combine their operations into a single Internet-based exchange, according to the organizations. 
Supplier members of both organizations will be connected to GHX's 70 integrated delivery networks 
(IDNs), which currently represent approximately 600 hospitals. The combined entity will operate as 
Global Healthcare Exchange LLC and will be headquartered in Westminster, Colorado. The merger 
announcement follows recent GHX alliances with Neoforma Inc. and AmeriNet Inc. Says GHX 

president Mike Mahoney, "Connectivity, participation, and cooperation among all members of the 
supply chain is critical for e-commerce to reach its full potential. HealthNexis and its membership 
of leading healthcare companies provide considerable e-commerce technology solutions and supply 
chain expertise. This combination reinforces GHX's commitment to building an open and neutral 
healthcare exchange to drive supply chain savings." 
 
246. On October 09, 2002 Global Healthcare Exchange, LLC (GHX) and Neoforma, Inc. 
announced they have signed a definitive agreement to create the first comprehensive, integrated 
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supply chain solution for the healthcare industry. Neoforma and GHX expect the strategic alliance 
to accelerate the adoption of e-commerce by hospitals and suppliers, accelerating supply chain cost 
savings. The agreement enables Neoforma's hospital customers, including the 514 hospitals 
currently contracted to use the Neoforma-powered Marketplace@Novation™, to transact business 
with GHX's growing network of healthcare supplier members through the integrated solution, 

without the added cost of implementing and maintaining separate Internet connections. GHX's 
connected suppliers will be able to sell their products to Neoforma's current and future hospital 
customers through one Internet-based exchange, reducing implementation costs and simplifying the 
e-commerce strategy for these suppliers. GHX has signed more than 100 leading supplier members. 
 
247. On December 11, 2002 Global Healthcare Exchange, LLC (GHX) and Medibuy, Inc. 
announced they have signed a definitive agreement to merge their two companies. The new 
company will be called Global Healthcare Exchange, LLC (GHX). Owned by many of the world’s 

largest healthcare suppliers and providers, GHX and Medibuy will combine their respective 
Internet-based trading exchanges to create the largest single exchange in healthcare. More than 1400 
hospitals and other healthcare facilities and 100 suppliers have already selected GHX or Medibuy as 
their preferred solution for purchasing healthcare products and supplies. Through this merger, the 
newly created exchange will provide a means for all participants in the healthcare supply chain, 
including provider organizations, manufacturers, group purchasing organizations (GPOs) and 
distributors, to benefit from improved efficiencies, cost reductions, process automation, and the 
adoption of industry standards. 
 

248. The same December 11, 2002 announcement described the owners of GHX: “Originally 
founded in March 2000 by five major healthcare manufacturers: Johnson & Johnson Health Care 
Systems; GE Medical Systems; Baxter Healthcare Corp.; Medtronic USA, Inc.; Abbott Exchange, 
Inc., GHX has since realized its vision of being owned by representatives of the entire supply chain, 
including manufacturers, distributors, providers and group purchasing organizations. In addition to 
the founders, the original equity owners included: Siemens; Becton, Dickinson & Co.; Boston 
Scientific Corp., Tyco Healthcare Group, LP; Guidant Corp.; C.R. Bard, Inc.; B Braun Medical Inc. 
In December 2001, GHX combined business operations with the distributor-created exchange, 
HealthNexis, adding AmerisourceBergen Corp.; Cardinal Health, Inc.; Fisher Scientific 

International, Inc.; and McKesson Corp. to its list of owners. A year later, a merger with Medibuy 
Inc. rounded out the current ownership roster with the addition of Premier, Inc., one of the nation’s 
largest group purchasing organizations, and HCA, a national integrated delivery network (IDN). 
 
249. While adopting Medical Supply’s neutral marketplace concept, the same announcement 
reveals that GHX still maintains and is an instrument for enforcing the Defendant Novation and the 
unnamed coconspirator Premier’s anticompetitive pricing achieved through contracts that 
horizontally and vertically fix prices: 

 
250. “How does GHX benefit group purchasing organizations (GPOs)? GPOs are working with 
GHX to develop integrated contract management and other e-commerce services that enable their 
hospital members to more easily and efficiently purchase contracted products at the agreed upon 
price.” [Emphasis added] 
 
251. On April 11, 2003, GHX, MedAssets HSCA announced that they have formed a Strategic 
Alliance. Global Healthcare Exchange and MedAssets HSCA, the St. Louis-based group purchasing 
organization, announced they have formed a strategic alliance they say will make e-commerce 

services available to more than 16,000 healthcare providers. Under the terms of the agreement, 
MedAssets has selected GHX as an integrated e-commerce solution for members of its GPO. As a 
result, MedAssets members will be able to purchase products via GHX's Internet-based trading 
exchange using pricing data contained in the CDQuick E-Catalog, supplemented by the accurate 
product data in the GHX AllSource catalog. 
 
337. GE And GHX, LLC acted against their own short term profit interest and in knowing 
coordination with Neoforma, Inc. in an intentional effort to deprive Medical Supply in June 2003 of 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume IV  1301



 3 

its contracted or bargained for capitalization of $350,000.00 to enter the market for hospital 
supplies, just as Neoforma, Inc. (Unknown Healthcare Entity) and US Bancorp, et al had through 
combination or conspiracy deprived Medical Supply of another $350,000.00 obtained through the 
contract for escrow accounts in November 2002. 
347. Without realizing the existence of a combination and conspiracy between the Defendants, 

including the existence of a secret market allocating and tying agreement between Neoforma, Inc. 
and G.E and Premier’s electronic market place, GHX, LLC. Samuel Lipari prepared an offer on the 
building for GE Transportation. 
 
366. G.E, had also formed its own electronic marketplace called Global exchange and continues to 
market hospital supply products over the internet from its corporate web site as a distributor of other 
manufacturers’ hospital supply products. 
 

367. GE found the technology of GHX, Inc. was inadequate to outperform new entrants and aligned 
itself with the Defendant Neoforma, Inc., the electronic marketplace co-opted by the dominant 
GPO’s including the Defendant Novation, LLC in an alliance to exchange data among suppliers to 
enforce cost structures as inflated as those of the GPO’s. GHX, LLC at the direction and approval of 
GE has retaliated against suppliers who endanger the marketplace with competitive prices. GHX, 
LLC. at the direction and approval of GE has excluded competitors including Retractable 
Technologies, Inc. and Masimo for failing to give kick backs to the cartel. Death and injury resulted 
from the failure of hospitals to obtain these medical devices.  
368. GHX, LLC. at the direction and approval of GE in a conspiracy and combination with the 

Defendants has excluded Medical Supply Chain, Inc. from entering the market by not allowing 
Medical Supply to offer GE Capital Healthcare credit to its potential customers in April of 2002, 
and by refusing to offer US Bancorp Piper Jaffray services to Medical Supply in June 2002 in a 
conspiracy with the Defendants and by repudiating essential escrow contracts required by Medical 
Supply to capitalize its entry into market in October 2002. (US Bancorp has interlocking 
directorships and an exchange of directors with the two dominant GPO founders of GHX LLC.; the 
Defendant Novation and Premier. US Bancorp helped the Defendant Novation acquire control of the 
Defendant Neoforma and partner it with GHX LLC. creating a monopoly of over 80% of healthcare 
e-commerce). 

 
369. GE at the direction of the Defendants including Neoforma and Novation LLC caused its 
subsidiary GE Transportation to repudiate the contract to buy the lease from Medical Supply, 
sacrificing $15 million dollars on June 15th, 2003 to keep Medical Supply from being able to 
compete against GHX, LLC. and Neoforma. The market is worth 1.8 trillion dollars. GE acted on 
the tremendous windfall to preserve its monopoly. George Fricke is GE Corporate’s property 
manager. 
 

11. Medical Supply is granted a Rehearing in Tenth Circuit. That Afternoon UHC and VHA 
Realize Because of Medical Supply’s Demand Letter That They Are Required At Law To 
Divest Neoforma and Both UHC and VHA Make an Emergency Announcement of An 
Agreement to Dispose of Neoforma at a $150,000,000.00 dollar loss. 
 
376. On January 25th in an emergency late afternoon press announcement after hearing Medical 
Supply’s Tenth Circuit decision would be reheard, Neoforma, Inc. stated: 
“Neoforma Hires Merrill to Mull Options 
 

Associated Press 
01.11.2005, 04:52 PM 
 
Neoforma Inc., a provider of supply-chain management solutions for the health-care industry, on 
Tuesday said it hired Merrill Lynch & Co. as its financial adviser to help it explore options, 
including a sale or merger. 
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Neoforma said that any transaction must be approved by VHA Inc. and the University HealthSystem 
Consortium - national health-care alliances which own a majority of the company's outstanding 
shares and own Neoforma's largest customer, the supply company Novation. 
 
The company said that there is no assurances that any transaction will occur.” 

 
 Before Medical Supply’s antitrust actions were brought, Neoforma and Robert Zollars boasted 
of the monopolization of the e-commerce market for hospital supplies accomplished by alliances 
with other monopolists including the Defendant Novation, LLC: 
CEO explains reasons why long-term investor should be looking at Neoforma Full article published: 
12/20/2001 ROBERT J. ZOLLARS is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Neoforma, Inc. 
 
Mr. Zollars: To start with, Neoforma is a 2001 Internet success story, and we’re the leader in 

healthcare B2B. Neoforma builds and operates Internet marketplaces that empower healthcare 
trading partners to optimize their supply chain. So simply put, we help hospitals buy their supplies 
more efficiently and more effectively. 
 
 TWST: Could you give us a sense of the competitive landscape? 
 
 Mr. Zollars: About a year or so ago, there were probably 100 companies competing for this 
opportunity, and today you have less than a handful. As you look at the metrics that we’re enjoying 
right now, as of October 18, Neoforma has over 700 trading partners; that includes 563 hospitals 

under contract, 333 live using the technology, and 130 suppliers. To give you an idea of scale, that 
means in our third quarter, we processed over 500,000 order documents that included 1.5 million 
line items. So, clearly, by any measure, we’re out in front of the rest of the pack, which is exciting 
for us. 
 
 TWST: What were the steps you took to achieve this dominant position? 
 
 Mr. Zollars: I think the most important thing is we have great partners. First of all, we’re partnered 
with Novation. Novation is the number one group purchasing organization in the country, or GPO. 

It covers roughly one-third of the market. It’s members buy approximately $36 billion a year in 
medical supplies and equipment, and just over a year ago we signed an agreement with Novation to 
be it’s exclusive e-commerce partner for 10 years. We’re now one year into that agreement and have 
generated some great results together, as I just mentioned. The other great partner we have is GHX, 
the Global Health Exchange, an industry supplier consortium. It was founded by General Electric, 
Johnson & Johnson, Baxter, Abbott and Medtronic, and up until August, had been competing with 
us in the market. We struck a strategic alliance agreement with GHX in August that is really 
exciting for us. It’s the first time healthcare buyers and suppliers have really gotten on the same side 

of the table to work at taking healthcare costs out. The alliance gives us access to the great supplier 
relationships that GHX has and they, of course, get the great buyer relationships that we have with 
our hospitals. 
 
404. The defendants US Bancorp, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, Piper Jaffray 
Companies and Andrew S. Duff coordinated their defense of Medical Supply’s action for injunctive 
and declaratory relief with the coconspirators Jeffrey R. Immelt, GE, GHX, GE Healthcare, GE 
Capital and GE Transportation who inconceivably attached the Medical Supply complaint and order 
to their 12(b)6 motion to dismiss in Medical Supply’s separate action against Jeffrey R. Immelt, GE, 

GHX, GE Capital and GE Transportation. The former eighteen year Shughart Thomson & Kilroy 
shareholder acting as magistrate on the GE case denied Medical Supply discovery and the court did 
not even permit discovery when the dismissal attachments necessitated conversion of the GE motion 
to one for summary judgment. 
 
412. The court did not respond to Medical Supply’s arguments for reconsideration or correct its 
factual errors. It is believed that the Shughart Thomson & Kilroy former managing partner obtained 
the magistrate assignment to Medical Supply’s case against General Electric because of his 
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relationship to Shughart Thomson & Kilroy and it provided an opportunity to address the same fact 
pattern as the earlier case because GE breached its contract with Medical Supply once the electronic 
marketplace GHX created by GE and its hospital supplier competitors discovered Medical Supply 
was attempting again to enter the market for hospital supplies. 
 

15. The Impending Threat Of Monopolization of the Market For Hospital Supplies In E-
Commerce  
 
419. Industry insiders and investment message boards are communicating that it is likely Neoforma, 
Inc, with its 1,500 hospitals $4.1 billion in gross transaction volume and $6.8 billion in supply chain 
data will be acquired by GHX, LLC this year.  
 
420. The purpose of the merger is to restrain trade in the e-commerce market for hospital supplies 

and increase the market power of both companies, which is 80% to the entire control of the single 
company GHX. A second purpose of the merger is to conceal the loss of funds belonging to 
Novation’s member hospitals in the Neoforma venture. 
 
421. Neoforma, Inc. and GHX, LLC have already integrated their electronic marketplaces, sharing 
data to control prices by preserving the Novation and Premier imposed fees and contracts on 
manufacturers for internet sales of hospital supplies and pooling electronic marketplace 
infrastructures to eliminate competition between the two marketplaces and have done so since 2001. 
422. GHX connects over 2,200 hospitals to more than 140 suppliers, creating the largest trading 

exchange in healthcare. The company proclaims; “GHX is the leader in the healthcare trading 
exchange segment. “On average, GHX processed more than 12,000 purchase orders and $23 million 
in volume daily at the end of 2004. 
 
467. The Defendants tied membership in their electronic marketplace, Neoforma, Inc. with their 
competitor Premier’s electronic marketplace GHX, LLC so that every hospital that enrolled in 
GHX, LLC was required to also enroll in Neoforma so that the Defendants could exclude electronic 
marketplaces outside of the combination and conspiracy. 
15 U.S.C. § 15 provides that 

“… any person who shall be injured in his business or property by reason of anything forbidden in 
the antitrust laws may sue therefore… without respect to the amount in controversy, and shall 
recover threefold the damages by him sustained, and the cost of suit, including a reasonable 
attorney’s fee.” 
 
 
 
Harassing Medical Supply and its Agents Outside of This Action 
 
488. The Defendants through Neoforma and Robert Zollars, acting for the other defendants and in a 
conspiracy and combination with the unnamed coconspirators GE, GE Healthcare, GE Capital and 
GHX caused Medical Supply and its counsel to be threatened with sanctions for filing an action to 
prevent GE from restraining trade in the market for hospital supplies and hospital supplies in e-
commerce. 
 
489. Neither GE or its counsel furnished a reason why Medical Supply would be sanctioned for 
filing the suit and intended to intimidate or harass Medical Supply by implying that GE and 

Neoforma have illegal influence and control over the legal system. 
 
 

 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume IV  1304



 1 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS  

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS  

 

 MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,   ) 

(to be substituted by Samuel K.  Lipari)   )   
Plaintiff,     ) 

v.       ) Case No. 05-2299-KHV 
NOVATION, LLC     ) Formerly W.D. MO. Case No. 05-0210 
NEOFORMA, INC.     ) Attorney Lien Now Removed 
(to be substituted by Global Health Exchange, Inc.  ) 
ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 

CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 
UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM   ) 
ROBERT J. BAKER     ) 
US BANCORP, NA     ) 
US BANK       ) 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 
ANDREW CESERE     ) 
THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 
ANDREW S. DUFF     ) 

SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY     ) 
WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.      ) 

Defendants.    ) 
 

PLAINTIFF’S REPLY TO PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT RESPONSES 

 

The plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc. (to be substituted by Samuel K. Lipari) replies to the 

defendants’ responses to plaintiff’s first motion for partial summary judgment with the news that a federal 

court has found two attorneys and their law firm to be liable in a private federal civil RICO enforcement 

action. Cadle Co.  v. Flanagan, civil No. 3:01CV531 (AVC) (D. Conn. May 2, 2005). The plaintiff makes 

the following arguments in support of its motion for partial summary judgment and respectfully requests 

the court grant the plaintiff’s motion:  

ARGUMENTS 

The defendants Neoforma, Inc. Robert Zollars, Novation, LLC, VHA Inc., University 

Healthsystem Consortium  Robert Baker And Curt Nonomaque do not make responsive arguments in 

opposition to the Plaintiff’s First Motion Memorandum For Partial Summary Judgment. 

The defendants Shughart Thomson & Kilroy P.C., US Bancorp, U.S. Bank,  Jerry S. Grundhofer, 

Andrew Cecere,  The Piper Jaffray Companies And Andrew S. Duff make the same three material legal 

arguments in opposition to the Plaintiff’s First Motion Memorandum For Partial Summary Judgment. The 

three arguments are over 1) defendants’ distinctness from the RICO enterprise to make false claims against 
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Medicare, Medicaid, Champus and to similarly overcharge private insurers; 2) Participation in the RICO 

enterprise; 3) Aiding and Abetting is unavailable in civil enforcement. 

The same defendants also controvert all facts or dispute the existence of a record and argue that 

summary judgment on an issue of law is inappropriate.  

I. DEFENDANTS’ SUBSTANTIVE LAW ARGUMENTS 

 

1) DEFENDANTS’ DISTINCTNESS FROM THE RICO ENTERPRISE TO MAKE FALSE 

CLAIMS AGAINST MEDICARE, MEDICAID, CHAMPUS AND TO SIMILARLY 

OVERCHARGE PRIVATE INSURERS  

 

Tenth Circuit Determines What Is Plead  

 

Association in Fact Was Clearly Inferred From the Complaint  

 

Courts require three elements be proven for an association-in-fact enterprise to be sustained: 1) the 

associates have a common and shared purpose; 2) the enterprise functions as a continuing unit; and 3) the  

enterprise has an ascertainable structure distinct from that inherent in the conduct of the pattern of 

racketeering activity |United States v. Bledsoe, 674 F.2d 647, 665 (8th Cir.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1040  

(1982).  

In Atlas Pile Driving Co. v. DiCon Financial Co., 886 F.2d 986 (8th Cir. 1989), the plaintiffs were  

two subcontractors. They alleged that the defendants, two individuals and the companies that they formed, 

engaged in a scheme to defraud subcontractors. The plaintiffs alleged that the enterprise was an association  

in fact comprised of five companies that directly or indirectly were controlled by the two individual 

defendants. Two of the companies that were named as part of the association in fact were also named as  

defendants.  

Shughart is Liable even for Knowledgeable Normal Conduct      

The Eighth Circuit held that it was permissible to name these companies as part of the association-

in-fact enterprise and at the same time hold them liable as defendants. The Court then considered the  

standard set forth in Bledsoe. Noting that the association-in-fact enterprise included legitimate businesses, 

the Court found that the non-criminal activity of the legitimate businesses provided the organizational  

structure required by the Bledsoe standard. Under the reasoning of Atlas Pile Driving, a plaintiff may assert 

that an accountant or an accounting firm is part of an association-in-fact enterprise, and then point to the 

routine business activities 
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2) PARTICIPATION IN THE RICO ENTERPRISE  

Special Law Firm Immunity False and Frivolous  

The defendants argued law firms were immune, even claiming the dicta in the plaintiff’s authority 

Handeen v. Lemaire, 112 F.3d 1339 (8th Cir. 1997) suggested such conduct was unlikely contradicting the 

cases’ holding that the plaintiff stated a RICO claim against the defendant. 

In Cadle Co.  v. Flanagan, civil No. 3:01CV531 (AVC) (D. Conn. May 2, 2005) Two Connecticut 

lawyers, Leonard A. Fasano and Todd Bainer, and Fasano's law firm, Fasano, Ippoito & Lee LLC, were 

found liable by a jury for violating RICO in connection with their representation of a client, Charles 

Flanagan. The RICO claim, for which the racketeering acts were mail, wire, and bankruptcy fraud, related 

to the litigation tactics used by the lawyers to keep assets from Cadle Co., an Ohio debt collection 

company, during the course of Flanagan's bankruptcy. Also held liable were Flanagan's insurance company, 

Thompson & Peck, and one of its owners, Stanley Prymas, who were found to have entered into a RICO 

conspiracy with Fasano and Bainer. Damages were awarded at over $650,000, based on Cadle Co.'s costs 

of pursuing its claims against Flanagan and the lawyers' tactics to resist collection; Flanagan settled the 

RICO lawsuit and was not a party to the final jury award. 

Participation Requirement 

Persons within the chain of command of an enterprise have been held to operate or manage, within 

Reves, if they exercise broad discretion or knowingly implement criminal decisions. Since illegal drug 

rings and gangs are paradigmatic association-in-fact enterprises, courts have expansively interpreted Reves' 

mandate in criminal cases. See, e.g., United States v. Diaz, 176 F.3d 52 (2d Cir. 1999) ("even if a defendant 

is not acting in a managerial role ... he can still be liable for directing the enterprise's affairs if he 'exercised 

board discretion' in carrying out the instructions of his principal.... [But] 'the simple taking of directions and 

performance of tasks that are 'necessary or helpful' to the enterprise, without more, is insufficient to bring a 

defendant within the scope of § 1962(c)'"); United States v. Posada-Rios, 158 F.3d 832 (5th Cir. 1998), 

cert. denied, 119 S.Ct. 1792 (1999) ("Although [a mid-level distributor] did not operate the enterprise as a 

whole, he participated in its operation at his level by deciding how much cocaine to buy and what prices 

and terms to charge to the lower-level distributors to whom he redistributed"). 
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The analysis has extended to civil cases - e.g., to employees of a corporate enterprise - to 

encompass active "lower-rung participants who are under the direction of upper management." See, e.g., 

MCM Partners v. Andrews-Bartlett & Assocs., 62 F.3d 967, 978 (7th Cir. 1995) (two businesses that 

committed crimes at the behest of three controlling members of the enterprise held to have "participate[d] 

in the conduct of an enterprise 'by knowingly implementing decisions'"). (If, however, the legal entity is 

alleged to be the enterprise and its officers or other agents are the named defendants - or if the entity 

together with its officers or agents are alleged to constitute an association-in-fact enterprise - the court will 

have to satisfy itself that the person/enterprise distinction has been preserved and that the enterprise is in 

fact discrete and separable from the collective entity (see generally Joseph, Civil RICO: A Definitive Guide 

§§ 9(A), 11(B)(4) (1991)). 

Where the defendants are not lower-rung corporate employees or others acting "under the 

direction of [the enterprise's] upper management" (Reves, 507 U.S. at 184) but, rather, unaffiliated persons 

outside the chain of command, the requirement that they actively direct the affairs of the enterprise is 

rigorously enforced, particularly in civil cases. This is true even if the outsiders are nominally 

(conclusorily) alleged to be participants in the enterprise, unless they are factually alleged to have either 

exercised decision-making authority for the enterprise or committed crimes on behalf of the 

enterprise.  

Here Shughart has been alleged to exercise decision making authority over the obstruction of 

justice scheme to intimidate and harass Medical Supply and its counsel approved of by the other defendants 

to avoid being prosecuted. Shughart is also averred in the complaint to have criminally influenced the court 

through fraud and the ex parte lobbying of its officers including the former managing partner Magistrate 

O’Hara. Any other result would permit Reves to be circumvented by the simple expedient of alleging 

summarily that the enterprise embraces unaffiliated defendants. See, e.g., Redtail Leasing, Inc. v. Bellezza, 

1999 U.S.Dist.LEXIS 486 at *11 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 21, 1999) (Keenan, J.) ("the 'operation and management' 

test .. is a very difficult test to satisfy.... There is a 'difference between actual control over an enterprise and 

association with an enterprise in ways that do not involve control; only the former is sufficient under Reves 

because 'the test is not involvement but control'") (quotations and citations omitted); Schmidt, 16 F.Supp.2d 

at 347 ("There is a 'substantial difference between actual control over an enterprise and association with an 
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enterprise in ways that do not involve control; only the former is sufficient under Reves because "the test is 

not involvement but control"'"); Goren v. New Vision Int'l, 156 F.3d 721, 728 n.3 (7th Cir. 1998) (non-

employees hired by corporate enterprise to perform specific tasks "cannot be said to conduct the affairs of 

the enterprise" but are instead "best characterized as contractors hired by the enterprise"). See generally 

Tribune Co. v. Purcigliotti, 869 F.Supp. 1076, 1097 n.11 (S.D.N.Y. 1994) (Preska, J.) ("all members of an 

association-in-fact are not 'insiders' in the context of Reves, so that operation or management need not be 

demonstrated. To so hold would rende Reves ineffective as all RICO complaints could simply allege 

association-in-fact enterprises"). 

A prime example of persons outside the chain of command are professionals, like the defendants 

in Reves. Professionals are routinely held not to operate or manage a enterprise simply by providing 

customary services to the enterprise, regardless of whether they are conclusorily alleged to be participants 

in the enterprise. Handeen v. Lemaire, 112 F.3d 1339 (8th Cir. 1997) ("Furnishing a client with ordinary 

professional assistance, even when the client happens to be a RICO enterprise, will not normally rise to the 

level of participation sufficient to satisfy the Supreme Court's pronouncements in Reves") (attorney); 

Azrielli v. Cohen Law Offices, 21 F.3d 512 (2d Cir. 1994) (lawyer who "merely acted as an attorney for the 

other individual defendants" not shown to have "participated in the management or direction of a RICO 

enterprise"); Univ. of Md. v. Peat, Marwick, Main & Co., 996 F.2d 1534 (3d Cir. 1993) ("It cannot be said 

that by merely performing what are generic financial and related services to [a client], even if they are later 

found to be deficient, an accounting firm has opened itself to liability under the federal racketeering 

statute"). 

In Raffensperger, Hughes & Co. v. Brouwer, 99-1637 The 7th Circuit court, however, reinstated 

both firms as defendants and ruled that the 1993 Supreme Court decision does not govern allegations 

against outside professionals filed under RICO's conspiracy provisions. 

     To be liable under those provisions, the appeals court said, ``one must knowingly agree to 

perform services of a kind which facilitate the activities of those who are operating the enterprise in 

an illegal manner.'' This was ratified in 

United States v. Swan, 224 F.3d 632, 635 (7th Cir. 2000), amended by 230 F.3d 1040 (7th Cir. 2000) 

(explaining that a guilty jury verdict for a sec. 1962(d) criminal charge could not provide a "finding relating 
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to participation in the management or operation of [an] enterprise [citation omitted] absent from a deficient 

jury instruction for a 1962(c) charge because a 1962(d) conviction only requires a jury "to find that [an 

individual] knowingly agreed to facilitate the activities of those operators or managers to whom sec. 

1962(c) can apply. 

 The Third Circuit has found the same liability: 

“In applying Reves, we have stated that the "operation or management" test is designed to limit 
RICO liability under § 1962(c) to those situations in which the government can demonstrate "a 
nexus between the person and the conduct in the affairs of an enterprise."  University of Maryland at 

Baltimore v. Peat, Marwick, Main & Co., 996 F.2d 1534, 1539 (3d Cir.1993). The First Circuit has 
stated that RICO liability extends to those "plainly integral to carrying out" the enterprise's 
activities. United States v. Shifman, 124 F.3d 31, 36 (1st Cir.1997) (citation omitted), cert. denied, --
- U.S. ----, 118 S.Ct. 1053, 140 L.Ed.2d 116 (1998).” 
 

U.S. v. Parise, 159 F.3d 790 at 796 (C.A.3 (Pa.), 1998). 
 

Tenth Circuit Participation Standard 

The plaintiff’s RICO based claims were crafted from Tenth Circuit post Reves authorities and 

meet the participation averment requirement preventing dismissal under Rule 12 (b)6. Our circuit in  

Resolution Trust Corp. v. Stone, 998 F.2d 1534 (C.A.10 (Okla.), 1993) examined a relationship among two 

RICO defendants where financing of an instrument was used to purchase automobile loans and then  

converted back. He court found it adequately suggested the defendants’ participation:  

 “PIIGI and the IBG defendants also entered into an Automobile Loan Funding Agreement ["ALF"], 
under which PIIGI obtained nearly $740,000 in connection with PAC's December 1988 sale of 
EARs to Standard Federal. Tr. 571, 2328-34; 2335-72; 2382. The ALF agreements were used to  
help finance PAC's purchase of the automobile loans that would be repackaged as EARs. In 
connection with the February 1989 sale of EARs to Standard Federal, PAC and the IBG defendants 
executed an ALF agreement in December 1989, which was guaranteed by PIIGI. The Union  
Planters defendants required that PIIGI provide guarantees under the ALF program, which was used 

to finance PAC's purchase of EARs. And while PAC was diverting investor premiums to the 
payment of expenses rather than promised enhancements for the EARs, PIIGI received from PAC  
nearly $1 million in payments on a loan. Again, this evidence could support an inference that PIGGI 
was participating in the conduct of the RICO enterprise of selling EARs via fraudulent 
misrepresentations in order to keep PAC afloat.” 

 
Resolution Trust Corp. v. Stone, 998 F.2d 1534 at 1542 (C.A.10 (Okla.), 1993). The Tenth Circuit  

clearly found participation that had elements of control of the enterprise and met the Reves standard. The 

plaintiff’s financial institution participation claims may or may not be sufficiently supported with evidence.  

A question that can only be answered with factual development after discovery. “The issue of whether a 

RICO defendant operated or managed the affairs of an enterprise is essentially a question of fact.  United  

States v. Allen, 155 F.3d 35, 42-43 (2d Cir. 1998). 
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3) AIDING AND ABETTING IS UNAVAILABLE IN CIVIL ENFORCEMENT 

The defendants’ argument against the plaintiff’s summary assertion of aiding and abetting, a lesser 

standard for defendant liability than that alleged in the factural averments and claims of the complaint is 

that the plaintiff did not claim the defendants aided and abetted and the defendants argue Rolo v. City 

Investing Co. Liquidating Trust, 155 F.3d 644 (3d Cir. 1998), which extended the Supreme Court's 

reasoning Central Bank of Denver v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, 511 U.S. 164 (1994) eliminates civil 

RICO aiding and abetting outside of securities fraud. 

        In Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 177, 191, the Supreme Court had ruled that private aiding and abetting 

suits were not authorized by S 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. S 78j. In Rolo, 155 

F.3d at 656-57, we applied similar reasoning in the RICO context, ruling that a private plaintiff could not 

maintain a claim of aiding and abetting an alleged RICO violation. 

 Kansas, like most states has common law civil aiding and abetting. The elements necessary to find 

a defendant liable for aiding and abetting others are: (1) The party whom the defendant aids must perform a 

wrongful act causing injury; (2) at the time the defendant provides assistance, he or she must be generally 

aware of his or her role in part of an overall tortious or illegal activity; and (3) the defendant must 

knowingly and substantially assist in the principal violation. See York v. InTrust Bank, N.A., at syl.1, 962 

P.2d 405, 265 Kan. 271 (Kan., 1998). 

 In Boim, the court found no support for elimination of all aiding and abetting from all civil federal 

statues, especially those expressly granting a private right of action:  

“Although we have found no support in the cases for the Boims' argument that Central Bank does 
not apply to malum in se torts, we also have found no support for the defendants' claim that Central 
Bank eliminates all aiding and abetting liability in federal civil cases except when the words "aid 
and abet" appear in a statute.*fn14 The Court care-fully crafted Central Bank's holding to clarify 
that aiding and abetting liability would be appropriate in certain cases, albeit not under 10(b). 
Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 177. The first significant factor distinguishing section 2333 from section 

10(b) is that section 2333 provides for an express civil right of action by private parties whereas the 
courts have created an implied right of action under section 10(b). Thus, the courts were already 
inferring an intent by Congress to create a private civil cause of action with section 10(b), and they 
would have been stacking another inference on top of that one in extending liability to aiders and 
abettors in rule 10b-5 actions. The Court was understandably reluctant to pile inference upon 
inference in determining Congressional intent. But no such stacking is required in section 2333, 
which expressly creates a private right of action for plaintiffs who are injured by reason of an act of 
international terrorism.” 
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Boim v. Quranic Literacy Institute, 2002 C07 254 (USCA7, 2002). 
 

II. NO MATERIAL FACT CONTROVERTED 

 Where is the record? 

 In the absence of discovery, the “record” is all statements and documents admissible as evidence. 

The defendants would be better served by not causing the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure to be 

suspended. 

III. PLAINTIFF’S ARGUMENTS MATERIALLY SAME AS SUCCESSFULL DOJ BRIEF 

 Attached is ORDER #591 in US v. Philip Morris USA, Inc., Civil Case No. 99-2496, US Dist. Of 

Columbia where the Department of Justice prevailed on the issues opposed by the defendants including 

whether criminal RICO case law is applicable. See Attachment 1. 

 
CONCLUSION 

Whereas for the above reasons, the plaintiff respectfully requests that the court grant its partial 

summary judgment motion. 

Respectfully Submitted 

S/Bret D. Landrith 
Bret D. Landrith  
Kansas Supreme Court ID # 20380 
2961 SW Central Park, # G33,  
Topeka, KS 66611 
1-785-876-2233 
1-785-267-4084 
landrithlaw@cox.net 

 
 

Certificate of Service 

 
I certify that on October 17th,  2005 I have served the foregoing with the clerk of the court by using the 
CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the  following: 
 
Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C.  1700 
Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929       

 
Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian Creek Parkway  Overland 
Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 (FAX) 
 
John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  1200 Main Street  Kansas 
City, MO  64105-2122   ( Also attorney for the General Electric defendants and Jeffrey Immelt.) 
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Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott  34th Floor  50 
California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 First City Tower  1001 
Fannin  Houston, TX  77002     

 
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
 

     
 S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith 
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 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff, v. PHILIP MORRIS USA, Inc., f/k/a Philip Morris, Inc. et al. Defendants. 

: : : : : : : : : : 
ORDER #591 

Civil Action No. 99-2496 (GK) 

This matter is now before the Court on the Government's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment That Each Defendant is Distinct from the RICO Enterprise, That a Defendant's Liability for RICO Conspiracy Does Not Require That Defendant To Participate in the Operation or Management of the Enterprise, and That RICO Liability Extends to Aiders and Abettors ("Motion"). Upon consideration of the Motion, Defendants' Opposition, the Reply, and the entire record herein, and for the reasons set forth in the accompanying Memorandum Opinion, the Motion is granted in part and denied in part. 
July 15, 2004 __/s/_______________________________ Gladys Kessler United States District Court Judge 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Plaintiff, v. PHILIP MORRIS USA, Inc., f/k/a Philip Morris, Inc. et al. Defendants. 

: : : : : : : : : : : 

Civil Action No. 99-2496 (GK) 

MEMORANDUM OPINION This matter is now before the Court on the Government's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment That Each Defendant Is Distinct from the RICO Enterprise, That a Defendant's Liability for RICO Conspiracy Does Not Require That Defendant To Participate in the Operation or Management of the Enterprise, and That RICO Liability Extends to Aiders and Abettors ("Motion"). Upon consideration of the Motion, Defendants' Opposition, the Reply, and the entire record herein, and for the reasons stated below, the Motion is granted in part and denied in part. I. BACKGROUND Plaintiff, the United States of America (the "Government"), has brought this suit against the Defendants1 pursuant to Sections 
1  Defendants are Philip Morris USA Inc. (f/k/a Philip MorrisIncorporated), R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Company, Brown & Williamson (continued...) 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume IV  1315



1962(c) and (d) of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act ("RICO"), 18 U.S.C. § 1961, et seq..2  Defendants are manufacturers of cigarettes and other tobacco-related entities. The Government seeks injunctive relief and disgorgement of $280 billion dollars3 of ill-gotten gains for what it alleges to be Defendants' unlawful conspiracy to deceive the American public. The Government's Amended Complaint describes a four-decade long conspiracy, dating from at least 1953, to intentionally and willfully deceive and mislead the American public about, among other things, the harmful nature of tobacco products, the addictive nature of nicotine, and the possibility of manufacturing safer and 
1(...continued)Tobacco Corporation (individually and as successor by merger to theAmerican Tobacco Company), Lorillard Tobacco Company, Altria GroupInc. (f/k/a Philip Morris Companies, Inc.), British American Tobacco (Investments), Ltd., The Council for Tobacco Research-U.S.A., Inc., The Tobacco Institute, Inc., and The Liggett Group,Inc. 
2  The Complaint originally contained four claims under three statutes.  On September 28, 2000, the Court dismissed Count One(pursuant to the Medical Care Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2651, et seq.) and Count Two (pursuant to the Medicare Secondary Payerprovisions of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1395y(b)(2)(B)(ii) & (iii)). See United States v. PhilipMorris, 116 F. Supp.2d 131 (D.D.C. 2000). 
3 As a result of corrections made to the Youth Addicted Population and the resulting proceeds' calculation, the amount ofdisgorgement sought by the Government is $280 billion, rather than the $289 billion initially identified in the United States'Preliminary Proposed Conclusions of Law. See United States' Mem. of Points and Authorities in Opp. To Defs.' Mot. for Partial Sum.J. Dismissing Govt's Disgorgement Claim, at 1. 2 
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less addictive tobacco products. Amended Complaint ("Am. Compl.") at ¶ 3. II. ANALYSIS The Government alleges violations of both Sections 1962(c) and (d).4  To prove the alleged violations of Section 1962(c), the Government must show: (1) the conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a pattern of racketeering activity." Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52, 62 (1997). An enterprise "includes any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or other legal entity, and any union or group of individuals associated in fact though not a legal entity." 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4). Racketeering activity includes, among other things, acts prohibited by any one of a number of criminal statutes. 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1). A "pattern" is demonstrated by two or more instances of "racketeering activity" that occur within 10 years of one another. 18 U.S.C. 
4 Sections 1962(c) and (d) provide: (c) It shall be unlawful for any person employed by or associated with any enterprise engaged in, or the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity or collection of unlawful debts. (d)  It shall be unlawful for any person to conspire to violate any of the provisions of subsection (a), (b), or (c) of this section.  18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(c)-(d). 3 
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§ 1961(5). In this case, the alleged racketeering acts are violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 (mail fraud) and 1343 (wire fraud). To demonstrate violations of Section 1962(d), the Government must prove: (1) that two more people agreed to violate Section 1962(c), and (2) that the defendant knew of and agreed to the overall goal of the violation. United States v. Philip Morris Inc., 130 F.Supp.2d 96 (D.D.C. 2001). In the present Motion, the Government seeks partial summary judgment striking certain affirmative defenses of Defendants and on particular issues of law relating to proof of liability. The Government argues first that, as a matter of law, each Defendant is distinct from the alleged RICO enterprise. See Motion, at 8. Second, the Government argues that, as a matter of law, a Defendant's liability for RICO conspiracy under Section 1962(d) does not require proof that such Defendant participated in the operation or management of the alleged enterprise. See id. at 15. Finally, the Government argues that, as a matter of law, liability for committing a racketeering act under Section 1962(c) extends to those Defendants who aided and abetted the commission of that act. See id. at 16. Defendants argue that the Motion seeks impermissible advisory opinions, in violation of the Court's jurisdiction under Article III of the Constitution. In addition, Defendants deny the merits 
4 
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of the Government's claims.  A. Summary Judgment Standard Under Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c). Material facts are those that “might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). In considering a summary judgment motion, “the evidence of the non- movant is to be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in his favor.” Id. at 255; see also Washington Post Co. v. United States Dep’t of Health and Human Servs., 865 F.2d 320, 325 (D.C. Cir. 1989). Additionally, summary judgment is appropriate for purely legal questions. See generally Moore's Federal Practice, P56.20(3.-2)(2d ed. 1976). A determination on a strict legal issue can "narrow the issues in [a] case, advance the progress of the litigation, and provide the parties with some guidance as to how they proceed with the case." Warner v. United States, 698 F. Supp. 877, 879 (S.D. Fla. 1988). "Summary judgment can thus serve to set the issues for trial .... The outcome of [the] dispute will have an immediate impact on the proofs to be offered at trial in support of the 5 
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elements of the statutory causes of action." Disandro v. Makahuena Corp., 588 F. Supp. 889, 892 (D. Haw. 1984); see also Lies v. Farrell Lines, Inc., 641 F.2d 765, 768-69 (9th Cir. 1981).  B. Each Defendant Is Distinct from the Alleged RICO Enterprise The Government seeks partial summary judgment that each Defendant is distinct from the RICO enterprise.5  To establish an enterprise under Section 1962(c), a plaintiff must allege and prove the existence of two distinct entities: (1) a 'person' and (2) an 'enterprise' that is not simply the same 'person' referred to by a different name. Cedric Kushner Promotions, Ltd. v. King, 533 U.S. 158, 161 (2001). In King, the Court concluded that a RICO defendant, or 'person', must be distinct from the RICO 'enterprise' that the defendant is associated with or employed by. Id. at 161- 62.  Regardless of how the enterprise is defined (if at all), the Government has proven the distinctness element in this case. This Court has already held that an "association-in-fact" enterprise can be a group of corporations. See Philip Morris, 116 F.Supp.2d at 152-53.  Moreover, there is no dispute that each individual 
5  The Government seeks summary judgment not on some abstractissue, as Defendants argue, but rather on its request to strike theaffirmative defenses denying distinctness. Thus, the Court'sconclusion on the distinctness element is not an advisory opinionand is proper under Fed.R.Civ.P. 56. 6 
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Defendant is a separate legal entity. Thus, if this Court should find an enterprise comprised of at least two of the Defendants, the individual Defendants will be distinct from the enterprise itself. Of course, the Government must also prove, as it acknowledges, the requirements of the alleged enterprise –- common purpose, organization, and continuity –- in order to prevail on its RICO claims. See Govt's Reply, at 2 n.2 (citing United States v. Perholtz, 842 F.2d 343, 362 (D.C. Cir. 1988)). However, there is no reason to postpone a definitive determination on distinctness. Accordingly, the Government's Motion for partial summary judgment striking the affirmative defenses of failure to identify a RICO enterprise separate and distinct from the Defendants themselves is granted. C. A Defendant's Liability for Conspiracy under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) Does Not Require that Defendant to Participate in the Operation or Management of the Enterprise In Salinas, the Supreme Court held that liability under Section 1962(c) is not a prerequisite to finding liability under Section 1962(d). See Salinas, 522 U.S. at 66. In that case, the defendant was charged with criminal violations of Sections 1962(c) and (d) but was convicted on the conspiracy charge alone. In concluding that a RICO conspiracy defendant need not commit a substantive RICO offense under Section 1962(c), the Court explained that "it is sufficient that the [defendant] adopt the goal of 
7 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume IV  1321



furthering or facilitating the criminal endeavor." Id. at 65. The Court noted that RICO's conspiracy section is to be interpreted in light of the common law of criminal conspiracy. See id.6 
Accordingly, one who opts into or participates in a Section 1962(d) conspiracy to violate Section 1962(c) is liable for the acts of his co-conspirators even if that defendant did not personally agree to commit, or to conspire with respect to, any particular one of those acts. Id. In response, Defendants cite Reves v. Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 185 (1993), claiming that it requires a showing of "operation or management of the enterprise" to demonstrate a RICO conspiracy under Section 1962(d).7  Even though the Supreme Court did hold in Reves that, to "conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise's affairs, one must participate in the operation or management of the enterprise itself," Defendants' 

6  "If conspirators have a plan which calls for someconspirators to perpetrate a crime and others to provide support,the supporters are as guilty as the perpetrators ... so long asthey share a common purpose, conspirators are liable for the actsof their co-conspirators." Salinas, 522 U.S. at 64. 
7 This Court has already agreed with the Government'sassertion that, while it must show that a Defendant engaged in twoor more predicate acts to state a claim under one of RICO's substantive provisions (Section 1962(a), (b), or (c)), Salinas rejected such a requirement with respect to RICO's conspiracyprovision (Section 1962(d)), Philip Morris, 130 F.Supp.2d at 99,although it did not specifically address the role of the Reves' "operation or management" test in assessing liability under Section1962(d). 8 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume IV  1322



argument fails for the following reasons. First, Reves involved a Section 1962(c) substantive RICO offense not a Section 1962(d) RICO conspiracy offense. In Reves, the Supreme Court held that an accounting firm could not be liable under Section 1962(c) for incorrectly valuing a farm cooperative's assets listed on its financial statements. Reves, 507 U.S. at 179. The Court reasoned that the firm had not "conduct[ed] or participated ... in the conduct" of the enterprise's affairs because it did not participate in the "operation or management of the enterprise itself." Id. All circuits but the Ninth have concluded that Reves addressed only the extent of conduct or participation necessary to violate Section 1962(c), and did not address the principles of conspiracy law under Section 1962(d).8 See Smith v. Berg, 247 F.3d 532 (3d Cir. 2001); United States v. Posada-Rios, 158 F.3d 832, 857 (5th Cir. 1998); Napoli v. United States, 45 F.3d 680, 683-84 (2d Cir. 1995); MCM Partners, Inc. v. Andrews-Bartlett & Assoc., 62 F.3d 967, 979 (7th Cir. 1995); United States v. Starrett, 55 F.3d 1525, 
8  As noted, only the Ninth Circuit has ruled that Reves' "operation or management" test applies to RICO conspiracy charges.See Neibel v. Trans World Assurance Co., 108 F.3d 1123, 1128-29(9th Cir. 1997). However, Neibel was decided before Salinas, andthe Ninth Circuit has not yet revisited its ruling. Moreover,Neibel relied upon United States v. Antar, 53 F.3d 568, 581 (3dCir. 1995), another pre-Salinas decision, which the Third Circuitsubsequently ruled was no longer viable in light of Salinas. See Smith v. Berg, 247 F.3d at 534. 9 
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1547 (11th Cir. 1995); United States v. Quintanilla, 2 F.3d 1469, 1485 (7th Cir. 1993) ("to hold that under section 1962(d) the government must show that an alleged coconspirator ... participated to the extent required in Reves would add an element to RICO conspiracy that Congress did not direct").9  Thus, Reves' "operation or management" standard applies only to substantive RICO offenses under Section 1962(c) and not to a conspiracy to violate RICO under Section 1962(d).  Second, after Reves, the Supreme Court specifically set forth in Salinas the standard for liability under Section 1962(d). See Salinas, 522 U.S. at 65. Such conspiracy liability requires a showing that: (1) two or more people agreed to commit a substantive RICO offense, and (2) the defendant knew of and agreed to the overall objective of the violation. Id.; See Posada-Rios, 158 F.3d at 857 (citing Salinas); Brouwer v. Raffensperger, Hughes & Co., 199 F.3d 961, 967 (7th Cir. 2000) (same).  There can be no question that the Supreme Court was aware of its decision in Reves when it decided Salinas, and there is nothing inconsistent between the two decisions.  Thus, reading Reves and Salinas together, it is clear that a defendant may be held liable for conspiracy to violate Section 
9  It should be noted that these are not all criminal cases,as Defendants inaccurately contended in their papers. 10 
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1962(c) if it knowingly agrees to violate the elements of Section 1962(c), one of which is the "operation or management" of a RICO enterprise.10  However, liability for a RICO conspiracy under Section 1962(d) does not require the same proof of participation in the "operation or management" of the alleged RICO enterprise, just as it does not require proof of commission of all the other elements of the Section 1962(c) substantive offense. Salinas, 522 U.S. at 65; see also Smith, 247 F.3d at 537. Accordingly, the Government's Motion for partial summary 
10  Relying upon Beck v. Prupis, 529 U.S. 494 (2000),Defendants assert that "Salinas is irrelevant for the purpose of civil RICO claims." Defs.' Opp'n., at 23. Beck involved a chief executive officer whose employment was terminated when he discovered that certain of his company's officers were engaged inracketeering. The Court ruled that the termination, allegedly infurtherance of a RICO conspiracy, was not independently wrongfulunder any substantive RICO provision and did not give rise to a cause of action under Section 1962(c). In Beck, the only mention of Salinas appears in a footnote: "[w]e have turned to the common law of criminal conspiracy to define what constitutes a violation of § 1962(d), .... This case, however, does not present simply the question of what constitutes a violation of § 1962(d), but rather the meaning of a civil cause of action for private injury by reason of such a violation." Beck, 529 U.S. at 501 n.6. This sentence does not in any way repudiate or undercut the Salinas holding. The Beck decision turns rather on the injury requirement of Section 1964(c). Id.  Thus, violations of Section 1962(d) continue to be defined under and governed by Salinas.  In fact, this Court has already held that Beck is limited to private civil RICO suits for treble damages and does not apply to the Government's claims for equitable relief in this case. United States v. Philip Morris, 273 F.Supp.2d 3, 7 (D.D.C. 2002).  11 
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judgment that a Defendant's liability for RICO conspiracy does not require that Defendant to participate in the operation or management of the enterprise is granted. D. Whether Liability for a Particular Racketeering Act Extends to Aiders and Abettors Must Be Determined at Trial To establish a "pattern of racketeering activity" for purposes of Section 1962(c), the Government must show that each Defendant committed at lease two acts of racketeering, "the last of which occurred within ten years ... after the commission of a prior racketeering act." 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5). The Government argues that a defendant's liability for a particular racketeering act may be established by proof that the Defendant aided and abetted the commission of that racketeering act. Pereira v. United States, 347 U.S. 1, 9 (1954) (a person who aids and abets another in the commission of mail fraud, a violation of § 1341, also violates § 1341); United States v. Shifman, 124 F.3d 31, 36 (1st Cir. 1997). Defendants in turn rely upon Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164 (1994), to support their assertion that liability for a racketeering act does not extend to aiders and abettors. In Central Bank, the Supreme Court held that there can be no private civil liability for aiding and abetting securities fraud under Section 10(b) of the 1934 Securities Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 
12 
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185.  After examining the language and structure of the Act, the Court concluded that "the text of the 1934 Act does not itself reach those who aid and abet a Section 10(b) violation." Id. at 183.  The issue of aiding and abetting liability is extremely important, with significant ramifications in terms of expanding the scope of RICO. Both sides have raised very substantive arguments. While it might indeed be helpful to the parties to resolve this issue before trial, the Court has concluded that a legal issue of this complexity and significance may well be illuminated by the factual context in which it is developed. Therefore, resolution of the issue is not appropriate at this time. III. CONCLUSION For all the foregoing reasons, the Government is entitled to partial summary judgment that each Defendant is distinct from the alleged RICO enterprise and that a Defendant's liability under Section 1962(d) does not require proof that Defendant participated in the operation or management of the alleged enterprise; however, the Government is not entitled to partial summary judgment that liability for a racketeering act extends to aiders and abettors of 

13 
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the commission of the act. Accordingly, the Motion is granted in part and denied in part.  An Order will accompany this opinion. 

July 15, 2004 __/s/______________________________ Gladys Kessler United States District Court Judge 

14 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS  

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS  

 

 MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,   ) 

(to be substituted by Samuel K.  Lipari)   )   

Plaintiff,     ) 

v.       ) Case No. 05-2299-KHV 

NOVATION, LLC     ) Formerly W.D. MO. Case No. 05-0210 

NEOFORMA, INC.     ) Attorney Lien Now Removed 

(to be substituted by Global Health Exchange, Inc.  ) 

ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 

VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 

CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM   ) 

ROBERT J. BAKER     ) 

US BANCORP, NA     ) 

US BANK       ) 

JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 

ANDREW CESERE     ) 

THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 

ANDREW S. DUFF     ) 

SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY     ) 

WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.      ) 

Defendants.    ) 

 

MOTION FOR WITHDRAWL OF COUNSEL 

 

 Comes now the plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc, to be replaced by Samuel K. Lipari, the real party 

in interest and asks for leave of the court to permit its counsel Bret D. Landrith to withdraw. Bret Landrith 

has been suspended from the practice of law by the State of Kansas. See attachment 1. A consequence ( one 

among many) is the forfeiture of his contingency interest in the present action, and he hereby releases his 

lien on the case. 

 

Respectfully Submitted 

S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith  

Kansas Supreme Court ID # 20380 

2961 SW Central Park, # G33,  

Topeka, KS 66611 

1-785-876-2233 

1-785-267-4084 

landrithlaw@cox.net 

 

 

Certificate of Service 

 

I certify that on October 17th,  2005 I have served the foregoing with the clerk of the court by using the 

CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the  following: 
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 2 

 

Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C.  1700 

Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929       

 

Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian Creek Parkway  Overland 

Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 (FAX) 

 

John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  1200 Main Street  Kansas 

City, MO  64105-2122   ( Also attorney for the General Electric defendants and Jeffrey Immelt.) 

 

Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott  34th Floor  50 

California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     

 

Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 First City Tower  1001 

Fannin  Houston, TX  77002     

 

 

Attorneys for Defendants 

 

 

     

 S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith 
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To: District Court Disciplinary Officer 
 
October 17, 2005 
 
Dear Sir, 
 

This letter is to inform you that the State of Kansas has taken disciplinary action 

against me, suspending me from the practice of law indefinitely for failure to obtain this 

year’s continuing legal education requirements.  

I attempted to obtain relief from the hardship imposed by the State of Kansas 

Judicial Branch’s bad faith prosecution of me for my civil rights representation of an 

African American, James Bolden. Until today I was preparing to argue his case 04-3306 

James L. Bolden v. City of Topeka before the Tenth Circuit in Oral Argument scheduled 

Thursday November 17, 2005 at 9am.  

The expense and time requirements of defending even an attorney’s clearly 

established First Amendment and 42 USC § 1981 rights to give testimony in court on 

behalf of an African American without intimidation, harassment against witnesses, 

threats of criminal prosecution and other unlawful conduct against his clients by state 

officials grew to great for me to bare.  

In 2003 when the state started to retaliate against me, I made $1,300.00. The 

following years I had the large cases including Bolden’s where actions were taken to 

deprive my clients of the resources to prosecute their claims. The state also retaliated 

against other unrelated clients making it clear that my association with them would 

impair their causes. I lost my family, my house and car. I spent most of the two years 

living in different basements of friends. 
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I sought relief from the State of Kansas’ unlawful restraint of speech in case No. 

04-3364 Landrith v. Hazlett but according the State Disciplinary Administrator Stanton 

Hazlett all federal Kansas District Court judges recused themselves. The Chief Judge of 

the District of Utah assigned to the case made no findings of fact or law and refused to 

rule on post trial relief. The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals was delayed by the fraudulent 

misrepresentation to the appellate court of Stanton Hazlett that the appeal was moot 

because I would likely not be recommended for disciplinary action. 

I will provide a more complete report and a memorandum opposing reciprocation 

after the State of Kansas finishes its actions against me. In the mean time I am petitioning 

for leave to withdraw as counsel in all actions where I am attorney of record. 

 
Respectfully Submitted 

S/Bret D. Landrith 

__________________ 

Bret D. Landrith  

Kansas Supreme Court ID # 20380 

Apt. # G33,  

2961 SW Central Park,  

Topeka, KS  66611 

1-785-267-4084 

landrithlaw@cox.net 
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1797122.1 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) 
v.      ) Case No. 05-2299-CM 
      ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
 

DEFENDANTS’ MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION 
TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION TO SUBSTITUTE PLAINTIFF 

Plaintiff’s motion to substitute another person as plaintiff, under Fed. R. Civ. P.  17(a), 15(a) 

and 25(c),1 should be denied.  The request is futile and barred by the doctrine of judicial estoppel.  

Plaintiff has maintained throughout this case, and in the nearly identical case previously dismissed 

by this Court, that Medical Supply Chain, Inc. (“Medical Supply”) is the injured party and the “real 

party in interest” to assert the various claims alleged.  It now seeks to substitute Medical Supply’s 

sole shareholder, Samuel Lipari, as the plaintiff in this case because, among other “reasons,” the 

repeated sanctioning of plaintiff’s counsel for “correctly pleading the law” will hinder Medical 

Supply Chain’s ability to retain substitute counsel in the event Medical Supply is deprived of its 

current counsel (Motion, p. 2, ¶ 6); Medical Supply cannot represent itself in the event it is deprived 

of its current counsel because it is a corporate entity (id. at ¶ 7); Samuel Lipari is the “real party in 

interest” as Medical Supply’s founder, chief executive and sole owner of registered stock (id. at 

p. 1); Medical Supply’s state law claims “are based on contracts Samuel K. Lipari personally made 

                                                 
1 Rule 25(c) is inapplicable.  Plaintiff contends it is entitled to substitution under Rule 25(c) 

because “[i]f Samuel K. Lipari dissolves or fails to renew the corporate resignation of Medical 
Supply Chain, Inc., its assets would revert back to the personal property of Samuel K. Lipari 
effectively transferring the interest in this litigation from the company to the founder and owner.”  
(Motion, p. 7.)  Rule 25(c) requires a transfer of interest, which plaintiff argues may occur at some 
time in the future.  This does not meet the requirements under Rule 25(c). 

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume IV  1333



1797122.1 2 

and was personally subject to” (id. at p. 2, ¶ 4); Lipari would “forfeit his rights against the 

defendants unjustly should a dismissal with prejudice result from Medical Supply’s deprivation of 

counsel” (id. at p. 2, ¶ 8); and Medical Supply “could not have known of the existence of a doctrine 

opposing the enforcement of federal antitrust laws in the Kansas District Court and the Tenth Circuit 

Court of Appeals or a secession from the rule of law over this market” (id. at p. 3).  None of the 

bases plaintiff offers are proper grounds for seeking substitution under Rules 17(a) or 15(a).  The 

motion constitutes nothing more that plaintiff’s latest strategy aimed at extending the life of this 

frivolous litigation. 

Plaintiff is Judicially Estopped from Claiming Samuel Lipari is the Real Party in Interest. 

Medical Supply previously brought suit against many of the same defendants named in the 

pending action and asserting almost identical claims.  See Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. 

US Bancorp, 2003 WL 21479192 (D. Kan. 2003), aff’d 112 Fed. Appx. 730 (10th Cir. 2004).  

Throughout the course of that litigation, Medical Supply was the only named plaintiff claiming 

injury at the hands of the defendants.  Id.  After Medical Supply’s first lawsuit was dismissed, it 

brought this nearly identical lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Western District of 

Missouri.  See Complaint (document No. 1).  Throughout this second litigation, Medical Supply has 

asserted claims and injury as a result of defendants’ purported illegal conduct as the “real party in 

interest.”  Only now, with Medical Supply apparently on the brink of being deprived of its current 

counsel, does it fabricate the argument that Samuel Lipari is the “real party in interest.”  The Court 

should not permit this contrivance because Medical Supply is judicially estopped from making this 

spurious claim. 

Judicial estoppel is a discretionary remedy this Court may invoke “to prevent improper use of 

judicial machinery.”  Autos, Inc. v. Gowin, 2005 WL 2459153, *4 (D. Kan. 2005) (quoting New 
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Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742, 750 (2001)).  The rule ordinarily applies to inconsistent 

positions assumed by a party in the course of the same judicial proceeding or in subsequent 

proceedings involving identical parties and questions.  Id. (citing In re Johnson, 518 F.2d 246, 252 

(10th Cir. 1975).)  “Where a party assumes a certain position in a legal proceeding, and succeeds in 

maintaining that position, he may not thereafter, simply because his interests have changed, assume a 

contrary position, especially if it be to the prejudice of the party who has acquiesced in the position 

formerly taken by him.”  Johnson v. Lindon City Corp., 405 F.3d 1065, 1069 (10th Cir. 2005) 

(citation omitted).  In Johnson, the Tenth Circuit reviewed factors typically used to determine when 

to apply judicial estoppel, stating: 

“First, a party’s later position must be ‘clearly inconsistent’ with its earlier 
position. . . .  Moreover, the position to be estopped must generally be one of fact 
rather than of law or legal theory. . . .  Second, whether the party has succeeded in 
persuading a court to accept that party’s earlier position, so that judicial acceptance 
in a later proceeding would create the perception that either the first or second court 
was misled. . . .  The requirement that a previous court has accepted the prior 
inconsistent factual position ensures that judicial estoppel is applied in the narrowest 
of circumstances. . . .  Third, whether the party seeking to assert an inconsistent 
position would derive an unfair advantage or impose an unfair detriment on the 
opposing party if not estopped.” 

Id. (citations and internal quotation marks omitted.) 

Plaintiff’s motion to substitute easily satisfies this three-part test.  First, plaintiff seeks to 

reverse its long-held position that Medical Supply is the proper plaintiff in this case and substitute 

Samuel Lipari as the “real party in interest.”  Among plaintiff’s discernable arguments for seeking 

substitution, Medical Supply asserts that Lipari, as Medical Supply’s founder, chief executive and 

sole owner of registered stock, should be substituted because the alleged state law claims are based 

on contracts Lipari “personally made and was personally subject to . . . .”;  Lipari is in privity with 

Medical Supply and would forfeit his rights if a dismissal with prejudice is entered as a result of 

Medical Supply being deprived of its current counsel; and Lipari would suffer “irreparable loss 
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because the State of Kansas lacks the resources to compensate him” for the harm he has suffered at 

the hands of state officials’ abuse of process and denying him access to federal courts.  (See Motion, 

p. 2.)  Plaintiff even cites Missouri law in support of unilaterally piercing Medical Supply’s own 

corporate veil.  Id. at p. 6.  However, there is no indication in Medical Supply’s motion how 

substituting Lipari as plaintiff would resolve any of these “issues.” 

Plaintiff has asserted throughout this litigation and in the earlier lawsuit brought against 

many of the same defendants that Medical Supply entered into the alleged contracts at issue.  Doc. 

No. 1; Medical Supply, 2003 WL 21479192 (D. Kan. 2003).  Plaintiff also maintained  in this case 

and in the prior lawsuit that defendants’ purported conduct harmed Medical Supply.  Id. at pp. 16-17; 

114-15.  No claims have been asserted on behalf of Samuel Lipari individually in either action, nor 

has plaintiff claimed Lipari was a party to any alleged contract.  Id.  Now, however, Medical Supply 

claims Samuel Lipari is actually the “real party in interest,” that he “personally made and is subject 

to” the purported contracts that form the basis of plaintiff’s claims (whatever that means) and has 

been and will be harmed in the future unless this Court grants its motion.  Medical Supply’s current 

position is contrary to its prior and long-held position that Medical Supply is the proper party to 

bring these claims. 

Moreover, plaintiff seeks to substitute Lipari based in part on future contingencies that may 

or may not occur.  This includes Medical Supply being deprived of its current counsel, being unable 

to retain substitute counsel, plaintiff’s claims being dismissed with prejudice and sanctions being 

directly entered against Medical Supply.  (See Motion, p. 2, ¶¶  5, 6, 8 and 10.)  In addition to 

constituting pure speculation about future events, these grounds are insufficient to support plaintiff’s 

motion. 
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Second, plaintiff has maintained its position that Medical Supply is the proper party to bring 

these claims throughout this litigation and in an earlier, almost identical lawsuit.  This position, 

asserted by plaintiff for over two years, has been accepted by the Court and the defendants in both 

actions.  In fact, Medical Supply Chain’s first lawsuit was dismissed by the Court based upon 

Medical Supply Chain’s various claims and causes of action.  Permitting plaintiff to now substitute 

Lipari as the plaintiff in this second lawsuit would create the perception that plaintiff misled either 

the first or second court regarding the proper party to bring these claims. 

Third, granting plaintiff’s motion would impose an unfair detriment on the defendants 

because doing so would extend the life of frivolous litigation requiring defendants to continue to 

incur substantial costs and legal fees.  Medical Supply’s claims were dismissed by this Court when 

brought in its first lawsuit against many of these same defendants.  Medical Supply then brought this 

lawsuit a second time in Missouri in a blatant but unsuccessful attempt to forum shop its baseless 

claims.  Medical Supply claimed injury at the hands of the defendants in both cases.  Medical Supply 

now seeks substitution because it may lose its current counsel and, as a corporate entity, it cannot 

represent itself.  Nothing, including sanctions imposed on Medical Supply’s current counsel, 

prevents it from obtaining new counsel.  Medical Supply’s contention to the contrary is baseless. 

For all of these reasons, plaintiff’s motion under Rules 15 and 17 should be denied. 

Amendment Under Rule 15(a) Should be Denied as Futile and Prejudicial to Defendants. 

Plaintiff’s motion to amend under Rule 15(a) also should be denied because it would be 

futile.  Although Rule 15(a) requires leave to amend be freely given when justice so requires, 

“whether leave should be granted is within the trial court’s discretion.”  Hines v. Corrections 

Corporation of America, 2005 WL 1398659, *1 (D. Kan. 2005).  Plaintiff’s motion to amend its 

complaint to substitute Lipari as plaintiff should be denied because the federal claims asserted in 
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plaintiff’s Complaint, even if asserted by Lipari individually, should be dismissed under the doctrine 

of collateral estoppel.  Beckett ex rel. Continental Western Ins. Co. v. U.S., 217 F.R.D. 541, 543 (D. 

Kan. 2003) (“A district court is justified in denying a motion to amend as futile . . . if the proposed 

amendment could not withstand a motion to dismiss or otherwise fails to state a claim.”).  Plaintiff 

asserts in its motion that Lipari has “at all times been in privity with Medical Supply.”  (See Motion, 

p. 2, ¶ 8.)  As such, even if the Court permitted plaintiff to amend under 15(a) to allow Lipari to 

assert the federal claims set forth in plaintiff’s Complaint, the claims still cannot withstand 

defendants’ motion to dismiss (Documents Nos. 6 and 7) because they are barred by the doctrine of 

collateral estoppel.2 

Moreover, as noted above, defendants would suffer substantial prejudice if plaintiff is 

permitted to amend its Complaint because amendment would extend the life of frivolous litigation 

requiring defendants to continue to incur substantial costs and legal fees.  In re Coronado 

Engineering, Inc., 2003 WL 23777743, *1 (Bankr. D. Kan. 2003) (“If the proposed [amendment] 

clearly is frivolous or advances a claim . . . that is legally insufficient on its face, the court may deny 

leave to amend.”)  Plaintiff’s motion should be denied on this basis as well. 

CONCLUSION 

Medical Supply’s motion lacks legal merit.  Plaintiff only offers speculation about possible 

future events, claims of judicial malfeasance and unsupported argument to claim that Samuel Lipari 

is now the “real party in interest” in this litigation.  Plaintiff’s motion also reverses its position, 

accepted by this Court and the defendants in this case and in prior litigation, that Medical Supply is 

the injured party and proper plaintiff.  Medical Supply is judicially estopped from adopting a 

contrary position at this stage in the case.  The motion is nothing more than an attempt to artificially 
                                                 

2  “The doctrine of collateral estoppel prevents a second litigation of the same issues between 
the same parties or those in privity with the parties.”  Reed v. McKune, 298 F.3d 945, 950 (10th Cir. 
2002) (emphasis added). 
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extend the life of frivolous litigation.  Moreover, because the federal claims set forth in the 

Complaint are barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel, regardless whether brought by Medical 

Supply or Lipari, any amendment under Rule 15(a) would be futile. 

For all of these reasons, Medical Supply’s motion should be denied. 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF KS FED #70339 
JONATHAN H. GREGOR KS #16005 
LOGAN W. OVERMAN KS #21398 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 
 
and 
 
ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES, 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, ANDREW CECERE 
AND ANDREW S. DUFF 
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/s/ John K. Power  
JOHN K. POWER #70448  
HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
1700 One Kansas City Place 
1200 Main Street 
Kansas City, MO  64105-2122 
Telephone:  (816) 421-4800 
Facsimile:  (816) 421-0596 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq. 
Natausha Wilson, Esq. 
NOSSAMAN, GUTHNER, KNOX & ELLIOTT 
34th Floor 
50 California Street 
San Francisco, CA  94111 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS ROBERT J. 
ZOLLARS AND NEOFORMA, INC. 
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq. 
Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq. 
VINSON & ELKINS L.L.P. 
2300 First City Tower 
1001 Fannin 
Houston, TX  77002 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 
 
 
 
/s/ Kathleen A. Hardee  
KATHLEEN A. HARDEE KS #13923 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509  
 
ATTORNEY FOR DEFENDANT SHUGHART 
THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a copy of the above and foregoing document was filed electronically 
with the above-captioned court, with notice of case activity to be generated and sent electronically 
by the Clerk of said court (with a copy to be mailed to any individuals who do not receive electronic 
notice from the Clerk) this 21st day of October, 2005, to: 

Bret D. Landrith, Esq. 
2961 SW Central Park #G33 
Topeka, KS  66611 
 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 2:05-cv-2299-KHV-GLR 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 
 

 
NOVATION, LLC, VHA INC., 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM 
ROBERT BAKER AND CURT NONOMAQUE’S  

RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION  
TO SUBSTITUTE DEFENDANT  

 
 

Defendants Novation, LLC (“Novation”), VHA Inc. (“VHA”), University Healthsystem 

Consortium (“UHC”), Robert Baker, and Curt Nonomaque (collectively, “Defendants”) 

respectfully request that the Court deny Plaintiff’s motion to substitute Global Health Exchange, 

LLC (GHX) as a defendant in the place of Neoforma, Inc. (“Neoforma”) because Plaintiff’s 

Motion is premature. 

1. The basis for Plaintiff’s Motion is Neoforma’s announcement that it has entered 

into a merger agreement whereby GHX will acquire Neoforma.  Plaintiff contends that GHX’s 

purchase of Neoforma makes GHX the real party in interest.   

2. However, this Court need not consider, at this time, whether the purchase of a 

company requires such a substitution, because Plaintiff’s Motion is premature.  The proposed 

transaction between GHX and Neoforma is subject to approval by a majority of the shareholders 

(excluding VHA, Inc. and UHC).  This shareholder vote has not yet occurred.  Moreover, the 

transaction cannot be consummated until the expiration of the applicable waiting period under 
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the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act.  Accordingly, the transaction is not expected to close until early 

2006.   

3. Because the transaction between GHX and Neoforma is subject to certain 

contingencies and is not expected to be completed for several months, Plaintiff’s Motion to 

substitute is premature. 

WHEREFORE, for all of these reasons, Defendants request that the Court deny 

Plaintiff’s Motion to Substitute and to grant Defendants all other relief to which they are entitled. 

HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on October 24, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 
clerk of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to 
the following:: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Jonathan H. Gregor   jgregor@stklaw.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Bret D. Landrith   landrithlaw@cox.net 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
NOVATION, LLC, et al., 
 
  Defendants. 
 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 05-2299-KHV 
 

 

RESPONSE OF DEFENDANTS NEOFORMA, INC. TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION TO 
SUBSTITUTE 

This response is submitted on behalf of defendants Neoforma, Inc. to the “Motion 

to Substitute Defendant Under Rules 17(a).” 

I. THE MOTION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE IT IS PREMATURE 

Plaintiff’s motion seeks to substitute a company known as GHX, Inc. for 

defendant Neoforma, Inc., on the grounds that the two parties have announced that GHX will 

acquire Neoforma.  As plaintiff states in paragraph number “1” on the first page of its motion, 

this is only a proposed acquisition.  Similarly, the article upon which plaintiff premises its 

motion states clearly that it is merely a proposed acquisition.  It is not an acquisition that as yet 

has taken place.  It might never take place.  Since it has not taken place, the motion to substitute 

GHX as the new owner of the business is entirely premature. 

Although citing rules 17(a) and 15(a) as well, the basic rule under which plaintiff 

apparently moves is Rule 25(c), pertaining to substitution of parties when there has been a 

transfer of interest.  That Rule states in pertinent part: 
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In the case of any transfer of interest, the action may be continued 
by or against the original party, unless the court upon motion 
directs the person to whom the interest is transferred to be 
substituted in the action or joined with the original party. 

As all the pending motions to dismiss demonstrate, none of the defendants should 

be in this action, including defendant Neoforma.  But if Neoforma is to be a defendant, then it is 

the real party in interest because the proposed acquisition has never taken place—that is, there 

has been no transfer of interest.  The rule requires that the transfer of interest have actually taken 

place (Montecatini Societa Generale v. Humble Oil, 261 F.Supp. 587, 591 (1966)), not that it be 

a possible future event. 

That the acquisition at this point is only proposed is clear from plaintiff’s own 

motion papers and the article it cites.  Were there any doubt, the Court could take judicial notice 

of the relevant filings concerning the proposed transaction filed with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission.  A summary, part of Schedule 13D, and the agreement, may be found at 

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1096219/000119312505205012/dsc13d.htm and 

http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1096219/000119312505205012/dex992.htm 

respectively.  As can be seen by a review of the documents, this is a future transaction with a 

future closing date, and subject to a number of contingencies.  Since the event upon which 

plaintiff relies in making its motion has not yet taken place and may never take place, the motion 

should be denied as premature. 
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II. EVEN WERE THE MOTION TIMELY, SUBSTITUTION WOULD NOT BE 

PROPER 

Plaintiff fails to mention to the Court that the form of the proposed transaction 

will result in Neoforma continuing as the surviving corporation, as a subsidiary of GHX.  As 

explained in Item 4 of the Section 13D filing:  

On October 10, 2005, GHX, Leapfrog Merger Corporation, a 
Delaware corporation that is a wholly-owned subsidiary of GHX 
(“Merger Sub”), and Neoforma entered into an Agreement and 
Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”). Pursuant to the Merger 
Agreement, Merger Sub will be merged with and into Neoforma 
(the “Merger”) with Neoforma continuing as the surviving 
corporation (the “Surviving Corporation”) and a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of GHX. 

Thus even were the motion not premature, it would be improper because the interest would not 

have been transferred to GHX, but rather would remain with Neoforma, the surviving subsidiary.  

Absent some extraordinary circumstance such as an alter ego, the separate relationship of parent 

and subsidiary will not be ignored (Mobil Oil Corp. v. Linear Films, Inc., 718 F.Supp. 260, 263-

272 (D. Del. 1989)), and that means that a motion to substitute a parent for a subsidiary under 

Rule 25(c) should be denied (id. at 272-273).  No such extraordinary facts have been suggested, 

nor could they be since the acquisition has not take place.   

III. RULE 17(A) DOES NOT PROVIDE ANY BASIS FOR THE MOTION 

Plaintiff also purports to move under Rule 17(a), pertaining to actions being 

prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest.  That rule pertains to parties plaintiff, and is 

simply inapplicable.  But even were a motion under 17(a) proper, it would still be subject to the 

prematurity problem discussed above, and the fact GHX as a parent corporation would not be a 

proper party. 
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IV. RULE 15(A) DOES NOT PROVIDE ANY BASIS FOR THE MOTION 

Finally, plaintiff purports to bring the motion under Rule 15(a).  Apparently, 

plaintiff is treating this as a motion to amend its complaint. 

First, such an amendment would be improper as a mechanism for substituting a 

defendant because of a transfer of interest.  The relief plaintiff wants is to change defendants, not 

amend the complaint, and Rule 25 is the proper place to do that.   

There is a vague suggestion that plaintiff thinks it should have sued GHX in the 

first place, perhaps in addition to or instead of Neoforma.  Seemingly, plaintiff is trying to use 

the law that permits amendment due to discovery of different facts.  But plaintiff does not show 

it knows of different facts and ask to plead them; it merely says that something entitles it to 

substitute one party for another.  In any event, the “facts” plaintiff talks about in its motion relate 

to some perceived conspiracy involving GE and GHX.  But those are not newly discovered facts, 

because plaintiff says it knew all about it at the time of a prior lawsuit, long since dismissed.  

Nor does it say how they relate in any way to Neoforma.  When alleged new facts are 

substantially the same as originally known ones, a motion to amend should be denied.  Equity 

Group Ltd. v. Painewebber, Inc., 839 F.Supp. 830, affirmed 48 F.3d  1285 (D.D.C. 1993.)   

The plaintiff also suggests the amendment should be allowed because of mistake 

by plaintiff in drafting the original complaint.  But since plaintiff says it knew all about the 

claimed evidence at the time of a prior action, there was no showing of any mistake. 

The fundamental problem is that Neoforma is attempting to respond coherently to 

an incoherent motion, and there are already numerous motions before the Court dealing with the 
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same problem.  Neoforma itself has filed a Rule 8 motion, because the complaint is incoherent; 

other defendants have filed extensive motions to dismiss for lack of subject matter and personal 

jurisdiction.  In the midst of this, plaintiff’s attorney has been suspended in Kansas and 

improperly wants to substitute plaintiff’s shareholder as a party so plaintiff can represent itself 

without counsel.  Adding another defendant to such a circumstance will not advance the 

litigation.  While Neoforma would be delighted if plaintiff were to dismiss Neoforma from the 

action, doing so by adding another defendant to the case is not the proper methodology, and 

simply means that one more entity would have to incur the expense of dealing with plaintiff’s 

frivolous claims.  

V. CONCLUSION 

For all of the above reasons it is respectfully requested that the motion be denied.  

Even if proper, the motion would be premature, and it would not be a proper motion if brought 

timely.  Adding yet one more party to the matter would not be appropriate, when the underlying 

complaint should be dismissed anyway. 

HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR NEOFORMA, INC. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on October 25, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 
clerk of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to 
the following:: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Jonathan H. Gregor   jgregor@stklaw.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Bret D. Landrith   landrithlaw@cox.net 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS  

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS  

 

 MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,   ) 

  Plaintiff,     ) 

v.       ) Case No. 05-2299-KHV 

NOVATION, LLC     ) Formerly W.D. MO. Case No. 05-0210 

NEOFORMA, INC.     )  

ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 

VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 

CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM   ) 

ROBERT J. BAKER     ) 

US BANCORP, NA     ) 

US BANK       ) 

JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 

ANDREW CESERE     ) 

THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 

ANDREW S. DUFF     ) 

SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY     ) 

WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.      ) 

Defendants.    ) 

 

NOTICE OF DEFENDANTS’ AVERRED AGREEMENT TO MONOPOLIZE  

HOSPITAL SUPPLY CHAIN ELECTRONIC MARKETPLACE IN RELATED LITIGATION 

 

Comes now the plaintiff and makes notice of related litigation in another jurisdiction averring the 

defendants’ agreement to monopolize the electronic marketplace for hospital supplies filed subsequent to 

the defendants’ press release claiming monopolization of the national market for hospital supplies. 

1. On October 11, 2005, the defendants announced their intent to have the unnamed coconspirator GHX, 

LLC (Cmplt ¶26) take over the named defendant Neoforma, Inc. 

2. The announcement declared the defendants to have dominant market power in the national market for 

hospital supplies: 

“GHX's owners, strategic partners, and trading exchange participants are representative of the  entire 

healthcare supply chain, including manufacturers and distributors, integrated delivery networks 

(IDNs), hospitals and ancillary healthcare facilities, group purchasing organizations and their 

proprietary healthcare trading exchanges, and supply chain technology companies.” 

 

3. On November 7, 2005, the law firm of Milberg Weiss Bershad & Schulman LLP filed a shareholder 

lawsuit against this the present defendants Neoforma, Inc. VHA, UHC and Novation LLC captioned Robert 

Carlson v. Neoforma, Inc. Robert J. Zollars, C. Thomas Smith, Richard D. Delppie, Michael J. Murry, 

Edward A. Blechscmidt, Wayne B. Lowell, Jeffrey H. Hillebrand, VHA, Inc. In The Court Of Chancery For 

The State Of Delaware In And For New Castle County, Case No. 1766-N averring an agreement was 
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formed between the present defendants and coconspirators to exclude competing electronic marketplaces 

from 8000 health systems, the entire national market for hospital supplies.: 

“Specifically, in 2000, Neofonna entered into a 10-year outsourcing agreement (the "Outsourcing 

Agreement") with VHA, UHC, Novation, and Healthcare Purchasing Partners International, LLC 

("HPPI"). Under the Outsourcing Agreement, Neoforma agreed to build and provide specific 

functionality to Marketplace@Novation, Novation's e-commerce marketplace. Novation agreed to 

act as Neoforma's exclusive agent to negotiate agreements with suppliers to offer their equipment, 

products, supplies, and services through marketplaces sponsored by Novation or HPPI, including  

Marketplace@Novation. VHA, UHC, HPPI, and Novation each agreed not to develop or  

promote any other Internet-based exchange for the acquisition or disposal of products,  

supplies, equipment, or services by hea1thcare provider organizations.” 

 

 Johnson v. Neoforma et al Complaint at ¶21 on page 6. The complaint is posted at  

http://www.medicalsupplychain.com/news.htm under the link Milberg Weiss Class Action Against 

Neoforma  

4. The defendants US Bancorp NA and Piper Jaffray were the lead underwriters capitalizing Omnicell, Inc. 

which made an exclusive contract with Novation, VHA, UHC and HPPI at the same time:  

“Omnicell has signed a three-year agreement to provide automated supply and medication 

dispensing systems to Novation, the supply company of VHA Inc. and the University HealthSystem 

Consortium (UHC). 

**** 

The new agreement also extends to health care organizations that purchase supplies through 

HealthCare Purchasing Partners International, a company that markets Novation purchasing 

agreements to organizations outside of VHA and UHC.” 

 

Omnicell corporation press release dated September 25, 2000. 

Respectfully Submitted 

S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith  

Kansas Supreme Court ID # 20380 

2961 SW Central Park, # G33,  

Topeka, KS 66611 

1-785-876-2233 

1-785-267-4084 

landrithlaw@cox.net 

 

 

Certificate of Service 

 

I certify that on November 15th,  2005 I have served the foregoing with the clerk of the court by using the 

CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the  following: 

 

Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C.  1700 

Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929       

 

Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian Creek Parkway  Overland 

Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 (FAX) 
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John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  1200 Main Street  Kansas 

City, MO  64105-2122   ( Also attorney for the General Electric defendants and Jeffrey Immelt.) 

 

Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott  34th Floor  50 

California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     

 

Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 First City Tower  1001 

Fannin  Houston, TX  77002     

 

Jonathan I. Gleklen     jonathan_gleklen@aporter.com, 

 

Michele Hoffman michele.hoffman@husch.com 

 

Ryan Z. Watts     ryan_watts@aporter.com, 

 

Attorneys for Defendants 

 

 

     

 S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith 
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1D. Kan. Rule 83.5.5.

2Id.

GLR/byk

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF KANSAS

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.

Plaintiff,

v. Case No. 05-cv-2299-CM-GLR

NOVATION, LLC, et al.,

Defendants.

ORDER

This matter comes before the Court on the Motion for Withdrawal of Counsel (doc. 59) filed by

Bret D. Landrith, counsel for Plaintiffs.  Mr. Landrith requests leave to withdraw from representing Plaintiffs

in this action.  Mr. Landrith states in his motion that he has been suspended from the practice of law by the

State of Kansas.

Pursuant to District of Kansas Rule 83.5.5, an attorney seeking to withdraw in a case must satisfy

several procedural requirements.  In addition to serving the motion to withdraw on all counsel of record,

the attorney seeking to withdraw must also serve a copy of the motion to withdraw on the withdrawing

attorney’s client.1  Such service on the withdrawing client must be made either personally or by certified

mail, restricted delivery, with return receipt requested.2   The withdrawing attorney must thereafter file proof

of personal service or a certified mail receipt, signed by the client, or make a satisfactory showing to the
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Court that the signature of the client could not be obtained.3  Except when substitute counsel has entered

an appearance, the withdrawing attorney must also provide evidence of notice to the client, containing an

admonition that the client is personally responsible for complying with all orders of the court and time

limitations established by the rules of procedure or by court order, and the dates of any pending trial,

hearing or conference.4  

Based upon the Court’s review of Mr. Landrith’s Motion for Withdrawal of Counsel, the Court

finds that Mr. Landrith has failed to comply with several requirements of D. Kan. Rule 83.5.5. First, the

instant motion fails to provide evidence that counsel has served the motion on his clients, either personally

or by certified mail, restricted delivery, with return receipt requested.  Second, Mr. Landrith has failed to

file with the Court proof of personal service or a certified mail receipt, signed by the client, or make a

satisfactory showing to the Court that the signature of the client could not be obtained.   Finally, the motion

fails to provide evidence that Mr. Landrith has provided his clients with a notice containing (1) the

admonition that the client is personally responsible for complying with all orders of the court and time

limitations established by the rules of procedure or by court order and (2) the dates of any pending trial,

hearing or conference in this case.  

Because Mr. Landrith has failed to comply with D. Kan. Rule 83.5.5, the Court will deny Mr.

Landrith’s Motion for Withdrawal of Counsel.  The Court, however, will permit Mr. Landrith to file a new

motion that complies with D. Kan. Rule 83.5.5.  Although Mr. Landrith states that he has been suspended

from the practice of law by the State of Kansas, there has been no order or directive suspending him from
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practicing in this Court. 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the Motion for Withdrawal of Counsel filed by Bret D.

Landrith (doc. 59) is denied without prejudice.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated in Kansas City, Kansas on this 16th day of November, 2005.

s/ Gerald L. Rushfelt                     
Gerald L. Rushfelt
United States Magistrate Judge

cc: All counsel and

Bret D. Landrith
2961 S.W. Central Park, Apt. G33
Topeka, KS 66611
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
NOVATION, LLC, et al., 
 
  Defendants. 
 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 05-2299-KHV 
 

MOTION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAR PRO HAC VICE 

Pursuant to D. Kan. Rule 83.5.4., I move that Stephen N. Roberts be admitted to 

practice in the United States District Court of the District of Kansas, for purposes of this case 

only. 

I certify that I am a member in good standing of the Bar of this Court and that in 

compliance with D. Kan rules 83.5.4(c), I will sign all pleadings and other papers which are 

signed and filed by said attorney.  I also agree that I will participate meaningfully in the 

preparation and trial of this case, to the extent required by the Court. 

Pursuant to D. Kan. Rule 83.5.4(a), I have attached the required affidavit in 

support of this motion, along with a proposed order granting this motion. 

HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR NEOFORMA, INC. 
AND ROBERT ZOLLARS 
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2 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on December 16, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 
clerk of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to 
the following:: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Jonathan H. Gregor   jgregor@stklaw.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Bret D. Landrith   landrithlaw@cox.net 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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1 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
NOVATION, LLC, et al., 
 
  Defendants. 
 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 05-2299-KHV 
 

MOTION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAR PRO HAC VICE 

Pursuant to D. Kan. Rule 83.5.4., I move that Sophie N. Froelich be admitted to 

practice in the United States District Court of the District of Kansas, for purposes of this case 

only. 

I certify that I am a member in good standing of the Bar of this Court and that in 

compliance with D. Kan rules 83.5.4(c), I will sign all pleadings and other papers which are 

signed and filed by said attorney.  I also agree that I will participate meaningfully in the 

preparation and trial of this case, to the extent required by the Court. 

Pursuant to D. Kan. Rule 83.5.4(a), I have attached the required affidavit in 

support of this motion, along with a proposed order granting this motion. 

HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR NEOFORMA, INC. 
AND ROBERT ZOLLARS 
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2 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on December 16, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 
clerk of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to 
the following:: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Jonathan H. Gregor   jgregor@stklaw.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Bret D. Landrith   landrithlaw@cox.net 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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1 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
NOVATION, LLC, et al., 
 
  Defendants. 
 
 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 05-2299-KHV 
 

MOTION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAR PRO HAC VICE 

Pursuant to D. Kan. Rule 83.5.4., I move that Janice Vaughn Mock be admitted to 

practice in the United States District Court of the District of Kansas, for purposes of this case 

only. 

I certify that I am a member in good standing of the Bar of this Court and that in 

compliance with D. Kan rules 83.5.4(c), I will sign all pleadings and other papers which are 

signed and filed by said attorney.  I also agree that I will participate meaningfully in the 

preparation and trial of this case, to the extent required by the Court. 

Pursuant to D. Kan. Rule 83.5.4(a), I have attached the required affidavit in 

support of this motion, along with a proposed order granting this motion. 

HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR NEOFORMA, INC. 
AND ROBERT ZOLLARS 
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2 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on December 16, 2005, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 
clerk of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to 
the following:: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Jonathan H. Gregor   jgregor@stklaw.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Bret D. Landrith   landrithlaw@cox.net 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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GLR/byk

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF KANSAS

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.

Plaintiff,

v. Case No. 05-cv-2299-CM-GLR

NOVATION, LLC, et al.,

Defendants.

ORDER ALLOWING APPEARANCES PRO HAC VICE

Having considered the Motions for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice (docs. 67, 68 & 69) filed

December 16, 2005, and supporting affidavits filed the same day, the Court finds that said motions should

be sustained and that Stephen N. Roberts, Sophie N. Froelich, and Janice Vaughn Mock  should be

and hereby are admitted to practice in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas on behalf

of Defendants Neoforma, Inc. and Robert J. Zollars for purposes of this case only.

If pro hac vice counsel have not already done so, counsel are directed to immediately register for

electronic notification pursuant to the Court's Administrative Procedures by completing a registration form

at http://www.ksd.uscourts.gov/forms/pdfforms/efilereg.pdf.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated in Kansas City, Kansas, this 3rd day of January, 2006.

s/ Gerald L. Rushfelt                      

Gerald L. Rushfelt
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United States Magistrate Judge

cc:  All counsel
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

Medical Supply Chain, Inc., )
)

Plaintiff, )
) CIVIL ACTION

v. )
) No.   05-2299-CM

Neoforma, Inc., et al., )
)

Defendants. )
                                                                              )

ORDER

On October 17, 2005, plaintiff’s counsel, Bret Landrith, filed a Motion to Withdraw as Attorney

and on November 16, 2005, Magistrate Judge Gerald R. Rushfelt denied plaintiff’s counsel’s Motion to

Withdraw for failure to comply with District of Kansas Rule 83.5.5.  On December 14, 2005, pursuant to

District of Kansas Local Rule 83.6.6, Mr. Landrith, was sent an order of interim suspension, temporarily

suspending him from practicing law in the District and Bankruptcy Courts of this District. Accordingly, it is

hereby

ORDERED that plaintiff’s counsel, Bret Landrith, file a Motion to Withdraw as Counsel that

complies with Local Rule 83.5.5, on or before January 30, 2006.

Dated this 18th day of January 2006, at Kansas City, Kansas.

s/ Carlos Murguia                     
   CARLOS MURGUIA
   United States District Judge
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS  

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS  

 

 MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,   ) 

(to be substituted by Samuel K.  Lipari)   )   
Plaintiff,     ) 

v.      ) Case No. 05-2299-KHV 
NOVATION, LLC     ) Formerly W.D. MO. Case No. 05-0210 
NEOFORMA, INC.     )  
ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 
CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM   ) 
ROBERT J. BAKER     ) 
US BANCORP, NA     ) 
US BANK       ) 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 
ANDREW CESERE     ) 
THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 
ANDREW S. DUFF     ) 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY     ) 

WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.      ) 
Defendants.    ) 

 
ORDERED WITHDRAWAL OF PLAINTIFF’S COUNSEL 

 
Comes now the plaintiff Medical Supply Chain (to be substituted by Samuel K. Lipari) and 

complies with the ordered withdrawal of counsel (Doc.71).  

1. Medical Supply had sought to prevent the defendants from causing the removal of the plaintiff’s 

counsel as detailed in the plaintiff’s complaint ¶¶ 399-418 and supported with evidentiary documents 

before this court including Doc. 30 Attachment 1 and attachments in Doc.48.  

2. On January 9, 2006 the defendant Neoforma announced that the Securities and Exchange 

Commission had ordered the company’s delisting for failing to have a corporate board meeting. See Exb. 1. 

3. Neoforma is unable to have a corporate board meeting without answering questions about the 

GHX merger and why its prima facie antitrust liability in the present action has not been disclosed in 

corporate filings. 

4. If delisted, Neoforma’s approximately $204,960,000 current capitalization will lose liquidity and a 

substantial part of, if not all of Neoforma shareholder value will be lost. 

5. On January 10th, 2006, Medical Supply’s counsel received a call from Judge Murguia’s clerk 

indicating an Order to Show Cause why this action should not be dismissed do to Medical Supply’s 

counsel’s temporary suspension. 
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6. Medical Supply’s counsel contact Samuel K. Lipari, CEO of Medical Supply Chain and advised 

him that this action was in danger of being dismissed for lack of counsel. 

7. Samuel K. Lipari called the office of the Kansas District Court Clerk questioning why he would 

now be facing having his action dismissed when a motion before the court seeks to substitute Samuel K. 

Lipari for the soon to be dissolved or forfeited corporation and which has not been ruled on. 

8. The order to show cause was not issued. 

9. The court ordered plaintiff’s counsel to withdraw from the action (Doc.71) on January 19, 2006. 

10. Samuel K. Lipari dissolved the Missouri incorporation of his sole proprietary business Medical 

Supply Chain on Friday January 27th, 2006. See Exb. 2. 

11. Under Missouri law, a corporation ceases existence at the day of dissolution: 

“…defendant was dissolved as a corporation August 2, 2001. Its corporate existence was 
forfeited on that date. A corporation's very being as a legal entity is destroyed the day forfeiture 

occurs. Phillips v. Hoke Const., Inc., 834 S.W.2d 785, 787 (Mo.App. 1992). § 506.150.1(3) relates to 
service on a corporation, not a former corporation "that has been dissolved according to law," to 
which § 506.150.1(4) applies.” 

 
Finnigan v. KNG Investments, Inc., No. 26309 at fn 3 (MO 3/25/2005) (Mo, 2005). 
 

12. Samuel K. Lipari has experienced the informal sanctions described in Doc. 30 Attachment 1. And, 

when those were failed to cause him to dismiss this action, he suffered additional informal sanctions against 

his family’s trucking business and the Office Complex where Medical Supply Chain was headquartered, 

which was pressured to evict him. Mr. Lipari is up to the increased retribution that will result from taking 

over the representation of his interests in this action. 

13. Samuel K. Lipari, acting pro se in state court is also prosecuting the contract claim against the 

defendant’s coconspirator the General Electric Company described in the complaint at ¶¶ 339-369. 

14. Mr.. Lipari’s address and telephone number is: 

Samuel K. Lipari 
297 NE Bayview 
Lee's Summit, Missouri 64064,  
816-365-1306 

15. Samuel K. Lipari will accept electronic service of all documents via e-mail addressed to: 

saml@medicalsupplychain.com 

16. Samuel K. Lipari’s acknowledgement: 
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 (a) I, Samuel K. Lipari attest I have received notice of the ordered withdrawal of my 

attorney on January , 2006. 

(b) I, Samuel K. Lipari understand I will be personally responsible for complying with all 

the orders of the court and time limitations established by the rules of procedure or by 

court order. 

(c) I, Samuel K. Lipari understand there are no pending trials, hearings or conferences. 

S/ Samuel K. Lipari 1-30-06 

____________________ _______   (Exb 3 is the signed page) 
Samuel K. Lipari  Date 

 

 
 

Respectfully Submitted 

S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith  
2961 SW Central Park, # G33,  
Topeka, KS 66611 
1-785-267-4084 
landrithlaw@cox.net 

 
 

Certificate of Service 

 

I certify that on January 30th,  2006 I have served the foregoing with the clerk of the court by using the 
CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the  following: 
 
Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C.  1700 
Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929       
 
Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian Creek Parkway  Overland 
Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 (FAX) 

 
John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  1200 Main Street  Kansas 
City, MO  64105-2122   ( Also attorney for the General Electric defendants and Jeffrey Immelt.) 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & Elliott  34th Floor  50 
California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 First City Tower  1001 
Fannin  Houston, TX  77002     

 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
Samuel K. Lipari 
saml@medicalsupplychain.com 
Plaintiff      S/Bret D. Landrith 

Bret D. Landrith 
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Neoforma Receives Nasdaq Staff Determination Letter for Not Holding

Annual Meeting in 2005

Neoforma currently plans to hold annual meeting of stockholders in early 2006; stockholders to
vote on proposed GHX transaction at that time

San Jose, CA - January 9, 2006 - On January 4, 2006, Neoforma, Inc. (Nasdaq: NEOF), a
leading provider of supply chain management solutions for the healthcare industry, was notified
by the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Department (the Staff) that, as a result of the Company not
holding an annual meeting in calendar 2005, it is not in compliance with requirements set forth in
Nasdaq Marketplace Rules 4350(e) and 4350(g) and that the Company’s common stock,
therefore, is subject to delisting from The Nasdaq Stock Market. Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4350(e)
requires that Nasdaq issuers hold an annual meeting of stockholders, and Nasdaq Marketplace
Rule 4350(g) requires that issuers solicit proxies and provide proxy statements for all meetings of
stockholders. The Company currently intends to hold its annual meeting early in 2006, at which
time the Company will seek stockholder approval of the pending transaction with Global
Healthcare Exchange, LLC (GHX).

Neoforma intends to request an appeal hearing before a Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Panel (the
Panel) to review the Staff determination in accordance with Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4820(a).
The time and place of such a hearing will be determined by the Panel. Pursuant to the same
Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4820(a), a request for a hearing will stay the scheduled delisting of
Neoforma’s common stock pending the Panel’s determination. There can be no assurance that the
Panel will grant the Company’s request for continued listing.

“In 2005, we elected to postpone the holding of our annual stockholder meeting because we knew
that our evaluation of strategic alternatives might require stockholder consideration and approval.
This decision saved Neoforma the expense and confusion of soliciting multiple proxies and holding
multiple stockholder meetings in a relatively short time period,” says Bob Zollars, chairman and
chief executive officer of Neoforma.

On October 10, 2005, Neoforma entered into a definitive merger agreement for GHX to acquire
Neoforma. The transaction remains subject to approval by stockholders representing a majority of
Neoforma’s shares that are not held by VHA Inc. and the University HealthSystem Consortium
and that vote on the transaction, as well as GHX’s receipt of anticipated debt financing and other
customary conditions. In connection with the proposed transaction, Neoforma filed a preliminary
proxy statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 10, 2005 and an
amended preliminary proxy statement on January 4, 2006. The preliminary proxy statement and
other information filed with the SEC are currently available on Neoforma’s Web site at
http://www.neoforma.com. The definitive proxy statement will be posted on Neoforma’s Web site
when it is available. The transaction currently is expected to close in early 2006.

To the best of Neoforma’s knowledge, except for those included in the Staff’s determination letter,
there are no other deficiencies, qualitative or quantitative, that would prevent Neoforma’s
common stock from continued listing on the Nasdaq Stock Market. Were the Company not to
request an appeal hearing before the Panel to review the Staff’s determination, its common stock
would be delisted from The Nasdaq Stock Market at the open of business on January 13, 2006.

About Neoforma

Neoforma is a leading supply chain management solutions provider for the healthcare industry.
Through a unique combination of technology, information, and services, Neoforma provides
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innovative solutions to over 1,600 hospitals and suppliers, supporting more than $13 billion in
annualized transaction volume. By bringing together contract information and order data,
Neoforma’s integrated solution set delivers a comprehensive view of an organization’s supply
chain, driving cost savings and better decision-making for both hospitals and suppliers. For more
information, point your browser to www.neoforma.com.

Important Additional Information Will Be Filed with the SEC

In connection with the proposed transaction, Neoforma has filed a preliminary proxy statement
and other relevant materials with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). BEFORE
MAKING ANY VOTING DECISION WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPOSED MERGER, INVESTORS AND
STOCKHOLDERS OF NEOFORMA ARE STRONGLY ADVISED TO READ THE DEFINITIVE PROXY
STATEMENT WHEN IT BECOMES AVAILABLE AND OTHER RELEVANT MATERIALS FILED WITH THE
SEC, BECAUSE THEY CONTAIN AND WILL CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE
PROPOSED MERGER. The definitive proxy statement will be mailed to Neoforma stockholders that
hold shares of Neoforma common stock as of the record date for the transaction. The preliminary
and definitive proxy statement and other relevant materials, and any other documents filed by
Neoforma with the SEC, may be obtained free of charge at the SEC’s Web site at www.sec.gov.
In addition, investors and stockholders of Neoforma may obtain free copies of the documents filed
with the SEC by contacting Innisfree M&A Incorporated, Neoforma’s proxy solicitor, toll-free at
888-750-5834 (banks and brokers may call collect at 212-750-5833). You may also read and
copy any reports, statements and other information filed by Neoforma with the SEC at the SEC
public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the
SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 or visit the SEC’s Web site for further information on its public reference
room.

Participants in the Solicitation

Neoforma and its executive officers and directors may be deemed to be participants in the
solicitation of proxies from the Neoforma stockholders in favor of the proposed merger.
Information regarding Neoforma’s directors and executive officers is contained in the preliminary
proxy statement. As of December 31, 2005, Neoforma’s directors and executive officers
beneficially owned 857,981 shares of Neoforma’s common stock, representing 4.1 percent of the
outstanding shares of Neoforma’s common stock as of such date. Certain executive officers and
directors of Neoforma have interests in the merger that may differ from the interests of
stockholders generally, including acceleration of vesting of stock options and restricted stock, the
payment of benefits upon the consummation of the merger and continuation of director and
officer insurance and indemnification. A more complete description of these interests is contained
in the preliminary proxy statement.

Contacts

This news release contains forward-looking information within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. These forward-looking statements include statements relating to Neoforma’s intention to
request a hearing to review the Staff’s delisting determination, the continued listing of Neoforma’s
common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market, the timing of the closing of the merger with GHX and the
anticipated receipt by GHX of debt financing. There are a number of risks that could cause actual results
to differ materially from those anticipated by these forward-looking statements. These risks include the
risk that there can be no assurance that the Panel will grant Neoforma’s request for continued listing, the
risk that conditions to the closing of the merger with GHX may not be satisfied when expected, or at all,
and the risk that the merger may not close when expected, or at all. These risks and other risks will be
described in the proxy statement relating to the merger, and other risks are described in Neoforma’s
periodic reports filed with the SEC, including its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2005. These statements are current as of the date of this release and Neoforma assumes
no obligation to update the forward-looking information contained in this news release.

Neoforma is a trademark of Neoforma, Inc. Other Neoforma logos, product names and service names are
also trademarks of Neoforma, Inc., which may be registered in other countries. Other product and brand
names are trademarks of their respective owners.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., )
)

Plaintiff, )
) CIVIL ACTION

v. )
) No. 05-2299-CM

NEOFORMA, INC., et al., )
)

Defendants. )
                                                                              )

ORDER

On October 17, 2005, plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc.’s counsel, Bret Landrith, filed a Motion

to Withdraw as Attorney, and on November 16, 2005, Magistrate Judge Gerald R. Rushfelt denied the

motion for failure to comply with District of Kansas Rule 83.5.5.  On December 14, 2005, pursuant to

District of Kansas Rule 83.6.6, Mr. Landrith was sent an order of interim suspension, temporarily

suspending him from practicing law in the District and Bankruptcy Courts of this District.  Consequently, on

January 19, 2006, this court ordered Mr. Landrith to file a motion to withdraw as counsel in compliance

with District of Kansas Rule 83.5.5.  

On January 30, 2006, Mr. Landrith filed an Ordered Withdrawal of Plaintiff’s Counsel (Doc. 72). 

Finding that it comports with the requirements of Rule 83.5.5, the court grants Mr. Landrith’s request for

withdrawal.  

In his withdrawal motion, Mr. Landrith also seems to renew a request to substitute Samuel K.

Lipari, CEO of Medical Supply Chain, Inc in his place.  Currently pending before the court is plaintiff’s

previously-filed Motion to Substitute (Doc. 56).  In the instant motion, Mr. Landrith makes the same

request, but also adds that the corporate status of Medical Supply Chain, Inc. was dissolved on January 27,
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2006.  It is the court’s understanding that Mr. Lipari wishes to proceed pro se as the substituted plaintiff. 

Substitution of counsel is authorized without an order from the court, D. Kan. Rule 83.5.5, but  a

substitution of a party requires a separate motion.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 25(c).  

Moreover, because Mr. Landrith is temporarily suspended from practicing law in this district and is

no longer counsel for plaintiff, he may not assert any additional arguments or motions beyond his motion to

withdraw.  Therefore, while the court grants Mr. Landrith’s motion to withdraw, it denies all other requests

embodied in the instant motion.

 Accordingly, the plaintiff in this case remains Medical Supply Chain, Inc.  Because plaintiff’s

pending motion for substitution was filed before the corporate status of Medical Supply Chain, Inc. was

dissolved, the court suggests that plaintiff file an amended motion to substitute if plaintiff wishes to proceed

with substitution. The court reminds plaintiff that only a licensed attorney in this district may file this motion;

Mr. Lipari may not proceed pro se on behalf of Medical Supply Chain, Inc.  See Nato Indian Nation v.

State of Utah, 76 Fed. Appx. 854, 856 (10th Cir. 2003) (“Individuals may appear in court pro se, but a

corporation, other business entity, or non-profit organization may only appear through a licensed attorney.”)

(citations omitted).  Therefore, plaintiff has ten (10) days for new counsel to enter his or her

appearance.  Failure to obtain counsel might result in the court dismissing the case.   

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that Mr. Landrith’s Ordered Withdrawal of Plaintiff’s Counsel

(Doc. 72) is granted in part and denied in part.  Specifically, the court grants Mr. Landrith’s request to

withdraw, but denies all other requests.  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that from the date of service of this Order upon the parties to this

action, no further notices, papers or pleadings are to be served upon withdrawing counsel.  All further
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notices, papers or pleadings to plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc. shall be served upon said plaintiff at:

1300 NW Jefferson Court, Blue Springs, MO, 64015.  

Dated this 2nd day of February 2006, at Kansas City, Kansas.

   /s Carlos Murguia                     
   CARLOS MURGUIA
   United States District Judge
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,    )   

Plaintiff,     ) 

v.       ) Case No. 05-2299 

NOVATION, LLC      )  

NEOFORMA, INC.      )  

ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 

VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 

CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM  ) 

ROBERT J. BAKER      ) 

US BANCORP, NA      ) 

US BANK        ) 

JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER     ) 

ANDREW CESERE      ) 

THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 

ANDREW S. DUFF      ) 

SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY        ) 

WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.         ) 

Defendants.     ) 

 
ENTRY OF APPEARANCE 

 
Comes now, the plaintiff Medical Supply Chain and Samuel K. Lipari and 

enters the appearance of new counsel, Dennis Hawver, Esq.  

Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Dennis Hawver 
______________________ 
Ira Dennis Hawver 8337 
6993 Highway 92 
Ozawkie, Kansas 66070 
Telephone (785) 876 2233 
Fax (785) 876 3038 
hawverlaw@direcway.com 
Attorney for Medical Supply Chain 
And Samuel K. Lipari 
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Certificate of Service 

 
 I certify that on February 7th,  2006 I have served the foregoing with the 
clerk of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of 
electronic filing to the  following: 
 
Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & 
Kilroy, P.C.  1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, 
Missouri  64105-1929       
 
Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian 
Creek Parkway  Overland Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 
(FAX) 
 
John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  
1200 Main Street  Kansas City, MO  64105-2122   ( Also attorney for the General 
Electric defendants and Jeffrey Immelt.) 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & 
Elliott  34th Floor  50 California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 
First City Tower  1001 Fannin  Houston, TX  77002     
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
 
 

/s/ Dennis Hawver 
_____________________ 
Ira Dennis Hawver 8337 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 2:05-cv-2299-KHV-GLR 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 
 

 
NOVATION, LLC, VHA INC., 

UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM 
ROBERT BAKER AND CURT NONOMAQUE’S  

MOTION TO SET ORAL HEARING ON MOTION TO DISMISS  
 

 
Defendants Novation, LLC (“Novation”), VHA Inc. (“VHA”), University Healthsystem 

Consortium (“UHC”), Robert Baker, and Curt Nonomaque (collectively, “Defendants”) 

respectfully request that the Court set an oral hearing on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss for 

Failure to State a Claim. 

1. Prior to the transfer of this case to this Court, this case was pending in the United 

States District Court for the Western District of Missouri.  On April 4, 2005, while the case was 

in the prior court, Defendants sought dismissal of the lawsuit under Rule 12(b)(6) because 

Plaintiff  failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  See Novation, LLC, VHA, 

Inc., and University Healthsystem Consortium’s Motion To Transfer Venue or, Alternatively, 

Motion to Dismiss Complaint For Failure To State A Claim (Exhibit A) and the Suggestions in 

Support of that Motion (Exhibit B).  (Defendants also requested oral argument on their Motion to 

Dismiss.)  The Missouri court transferred the lawsuit to this Court without reaching the merits of 

the Motion to Dismiss.  Accordingly, Defendants renewed their Motion to Dismiss after the case 
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was venued in this Court.  See Novation, LLC, VHA Inc., University Healthsystem Consortium, 

Robert Baker And Curt Nonomaque’s Renewed Motion To Dismiss Complaint For Failure To 

State a Claim (Exhibit C).  Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss has been fully briefed and is ripe for 

decision. 

2. As set forth more fully in Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and supporting brief, 

Plaintiff’s Complaint should be dismissed because, inter alia, (1) Plaintiff’s claims are barred by 

collateral estoppel;  (2) Plaintiff  fails to allege concerted action in support of its conspiracy 

claims; (3) Plaintiff fails to sufficiently allege monopoly power or the elements of attempt to 

monopolize; (4) Plaintiff fails to adequately allege harm to competition; (5) Plaintiff lacks 

standing; (6) Plaintiff fails to plead any of the required elements for an antitrust claim based on  

interlocking directors; (7) Plaintiff attempts to plead fraud without identifying a single 

misleading statement or omission; (8) Plaintiff pleads tortious interference without pleading that 

Defendants knew about or intentionally interfered with any contract; (9) Plaintiff attempts to 

plead a claim for prima facie tort, but fails to plead the requisite intentional lawful act that 

injured plaintiff (indeed, Plaintiff specifically pleads that Defendants’ conduct was unlawful); 

(10) Plaintiff attempts to assert a  RICO claim, but fails to allege a racketeering act, a pattern of 

racketeering, or a RICO injury; and, (11) Plaintiff’s USA Patriot Act claim is legally defective 

because there is no private cause of action under that Act as a matter of law.  These multiple, 

independent, fundamental legal defects compel dismissal of this lawsuit.   Defendants 

respectfully request that the Court set an oral hearing on Defendants’ motion to dismiss. 

3. Moreover, Plaintiff’s recent procedural machinations have further demonstrated 

that this case has been brought in bad faith.  As set forth in a pleading styled Ordered 

Withdrawal of Plaintiff’s Counsel, Medical Supply Chain was dissolved on January 17, 2006. 
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(Exhibit D).  Samuel K. Lipari, CEO of the former corporate entity, asked that Medical Supply 

Chain be dropped from the lawsuit and that Mr. Lipari, individually, be substituted in as party 

plaintiff.  See February 2, 2006 Order. (Exhibit E) (noting that “Lipari wishes to proceed pro se 

as the substituted plaintiff.”).  However, the Court ruled that Mr. Lipari’s attempt to substitute in 

as party plaintiff was defective and that a formal motion to substitute party would need to be 

filed.  Id.  However, Plaintiff has yet to file a motion to substitute a party.  Thus, this frivolous 

lawsuit is currently brought by a plaintiff that has filed pleadings indicating that it no longer 

wishes to proceed as plaintiff, and no adequate motion to substitute has been filed.    It is time to 

dismiss this case.  Furthermore,  even if Mr. Lipari does eventually move to be substituted in as 

party plaintiff, that procedural gambit will not salvage this lawsuit.  As Defendants demonstrated 

in their Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Substitute Plaintiff (Exhibit F), Mr. 

Lipari lacks standing to assert any of the claims asserted in this lawsuit (even if the claims were 

otherwise legally viable—which they are not).  Plaintiff’s last-ditch attempt to prolong this 

fundamentally defective lawsuit should be rejected.  Defendants respectfully request that the 

Court set Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss for hearing and dismiss this case. 

 

PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, for all of these reasons, Defendants request that the Court set an oral 

hearing on Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and, after such hearing, dismiss Plaintiff’s case with 

prejudice and  grant Defendants all other relief to which they are entitled. 
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HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on February 21, 2006, I electronically filed the foregoing with the 
clerk of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to 
the following:: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Jonathan H. Gregor   jgregor@stklaw.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Bret D. Landrith   landrithlaw@cox.net 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,    )   

Plaintiff,     ) 
v.       ) Case No. 05-2299 

NOVATION, LLC      )  
NEOFORMA, INC.      )  
ROBERT J. ZOLLARS     ) 
VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION  ) 
CURT NONOMAQUE     ) 
UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM  ) 
ROBERT J. BAKER      ) 
US BANCORP, NA      ) 
US BANK        ) 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFFER    ) 
ANDREW CESERE      ) 
THE PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES   ) 
ANDREW S. DUFF      ) 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY       ) 
WATKINS BOULWARE, P.C.        ) 

Defendants.     ) 
 

RESPONSE TO NOVATION DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR ORAL HEARING 
 

Comes now, the plaintiff Medical Supply Chain and Samuel K. Lipari 

through their counsel, Dennis Hawver, Esq. Response to the Novation 

defendants motion for oral hearing, (Doc. 76 ). The plaintiff believes oral 

argument over the dismissal motions is unnecessary and based on the 

defendant’s motion it is unlikely to further the interests of justice. The plaintiff 

therefore respectfully requests the court deny the Novation defendants’ motion 

for an oral hearing. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. The Novation defendants ( herein Novation, LLC (“Novation”), VHA Inc. 

(“VHA”), University Healthsystem Consortium (“UHC”), Robert Baker, and Curt 

Nonomaque ) seek an oral hearing on their motion to dismiss.  
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2. The Novation defendants are currently facing prospects that their 

attempt to merge the remaining two electronic marketplaces for hospital supplies, 

the defendant Neoforma and the unnamed coconspirator GHX, LLC will be 

stopped by a Delaware Court (Exb. 1) or the Securities and Exchange 

Commission (Exb. 2) on the eve of the next US Senate Judiciary Antitrust Sub-

comittee hearings on monopolization of hospital supplies. 

3. The Novation defendants in understandable urgency reiterate that the 

plaintiff’s complaint should be dismissed for reasons contrary to controlling law.  

MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

The plaintiff has previously and completely refuted these assorted 

representations in its memorandums opposing the defendants’ motions to 

dismiss and motions to sanction. The plaintiff now again addresses the issues 

raised by the Novation defendants:   

“(1) Plaintiff’s claims are barred by collateral estoppel;” 

Claim preclusion clearly does not apply to the Novation defendants who 

were not parties to the previous action. The Novation defendants were not in 

privity or controlling the previous actions. The US Supreme Court in Lawlor v. 

National Screen Service Corporation resolved these issues: 

a. Privity 

The Novation defendants are not parties in privity for the purposes of 

collateral estoppel. “Restatement, Judgments, § 83, Comment a: 'those who 

control an action although not parties to it * * *; those whose interests are 

represented by a party to the action * * *; successors in interest. * * *' “Id ar fn 19 
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“It is sufficient here to point out that the five defendants do not fall within the 

orthodox categories of privies;” Id. at pg. 329 

b. prior outcome of injunction no bar 

Nor does the plaintiff’s failure to prevail against the previous defendants 

estop the present action: 

“There is no merit, therefore, in the respondents' contention that petitioners 
are precluded by their failure in the 1942 suit to press their demand for 
injunctive relief. Particularly is this so in view of the public interest in vigilant 
enforcement of the antitrust laws through the instrumentality of the private 
treble-damage action. Acceptance of the respondents' novel contention 
would in effect confer on them a partial immunity from civil liability for future 
violations. Such a result is consistent with neither the antitrust laws nor the 
doctrine of res judicata.”  

 
Id. at pg. 329. 

 
c. Necessary Parties 

Nor does the plaintiff’s failure to prevail against the previous defendants 

estop the present action: 

“in any event there was no obligation to join them in the 1942 case 
since as joint tort-feasors they were not indispensable parties; and that their 
liability was not 'altogether dependent upon the culpability' of the 
defendants in the 1942 suit.”  

 
Id pg. 328. 

d. Identity of claims 

Under federal law, collateral estoppel may be invoked only if "the issue 

previously decided is identical with the one presented in the action in question." 

Frandsen v. Westinghouse Corp., 46 F.3d 975, 978 (10th Cir.1995). 

The current complaint states claims for subsequent conduct and conduct 

not yet ripe in the earlier litigation. “...if future damages are unascertainable, a 
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cause of action for such damages does not accrue until they occur. Zenith, 401 

U.S. at 339, 91 S.Ct. at 806.” Kaw Valley Elec. Co-op. Co., Inc. v. Kansas Elec. 

Power Co-op., Inc., 872 F.2d 931 at FN4 (C.A.10 (Kan.), 1989). See also 

Barnosky Oils Inc., v. Union Oil Co., 665 F.2d 74, 82 (6th Cir. 1981). US Bank 

was still attempting to perform the financing part of the contract after Medical 

Supply filed its injunctive relief. If “the initial refusal is not final, each time the 

victim seeks to deal with the violator and is rejected, a new cause of action 

accrues. See Pace Indus., 813 F.2d at 237-39;  Midwestern Waffles, Inc. v. 

Waffle House, Inc., 734 F.2d 705, 714-15 (11th Cir.1984).”Kaw Valley Elec. Co-

op. Co., Inc. v. Kansas Elec. Power Co-op., Inc., 872 F.2d 931 at 933-4 (C.A.10 

(Kan.), 1989). 

Lawlor v. National Screen also clarifies this issue: 

“The conduct presently complained of was all subsequent to the 
1943 judgment. In addition, there are new antitrust violations alleged 
here—deliberately slow deliveries and tie-in sales, among others—not 
present in the former action. While the 1943 judgment precludes recovery 
on claims arising prior to its entry, it cannot be given the effect of 
extinguishing claims which did not even then exist and which could 
not possibly have been sued upon in the previous case. In the interim, 
moreover, there was a substantial change in the scope of the defendants' 
alleged monopoly; five other producers had granted exclusive licenses 
to National Screen, with the result that the defendants' control over 
the market for standard accessories had increased to nearly 100%. 
Under these circumstances, whether the defendants' conduct be regarded 
as a series of individual torts or as one continuing tort, the 1943 judgment 
does not constitute a bar to the instant suit.” [ emphasis added] 

 
Lawlor v. National Screen Service Corporation, 349 U.S. 322 at 328, 75 

S.Ct. 865, 99 L.Ed. 1122 (1955) 
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Collateral Estoppel Is Inapplicable To The Novation Defendants 
 

The defense has no clothes. Clearly the three required elements for claim 

preclusion or collateral estoppel do not exist: 

“The three requirements for application of claim preclusion are: (1) 
identity or privity of the parties; (2) identity of the cause of action; and (3) a 
final judgment on the merits. Id. Where these three requirements are met, 
claim preclusion applies to bar the maintenance of a subsequent suit.” 

 
Heard v. Board of Pub. Util. of Kansas City, Ks, 316 F.Supp.2d 980 at 982 

(D. Kan., 2004) 

“(2) Plaintiff fails to allege concerted action in support of its conspiracy 
claims;” 
 
 There is no heightened pleading standard for conspiracy or antitrust 

conspiracy. The claims adequately apprise the defendants of the gravamen of 

their conduct: Under the law, a conspiracy may consist of any mutual agreement 

or arrangement, knowingly made, between two or more competitors. Law v. Nat'l 

Collegiate Athletic Ass'n 185 F.R.D. 324, 336, n.19 (D. Kan. 1999). The plaintiff 

has met the burden of pleading a conspiracy by "identif[ying] the co-conspirators 

and describ[ing] the nature and effect of the alleged conspiracy." Alco Standard 

Corp. v. Schmid Bros., 647 F.Supp. 4, 6 (S.D.N.Y.1986). 

The hospital supply competitors VHA and UHC’s joint ownership and 

agreement to exclusively use the electronic marketplace Neoforma is such a 

prohibited combination and conspiracy.  

The hospital supply competitors VHA and UHC’s formation of the 

defendant limited liability company Novation is identified in the complaint as a 
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conspiracy to restrain trade specifically prohibited under Dagher v. Saudi 

Refining Inc., No. 02-56509 (Fed. 9th Cir. 6/1/2004) (Fed. 9th Cir., 2004).  

The plaintiffs other Sherman 1 claims are equally undismissable. See 

Eastman Kodak Co. v. Image Tech. Servs. Inc., 504 U.S. 451, 478, 112 S.Ct. 

2072, 119 L.Ed.2d 265 (1992) ("The alleged conduct — higher service prices and 

market foreclosure — is facially anticompetitive and exactly the harm that 

antitrust laws aim to prevent."); United States v. VISA U.S.A., Inc., 344 F.3d 229, 

at 241-43 (2d Cir.2003) (rules for vendor participation causing reduction in output 

and consumer choice had anticompetitive effect); Primetime 24 Joint Venture v. 

National Broadcasting Co., 219 F.3d 92, 103-04 (2d Cir.2000) (refusing to 

dismiss where complaint alleged agreement resulting in denial of a necessary 

input to a competitor). 

“(3) Plaintiff fails to sufficiently allege monopoly power or the elements of 
attempt to monopolize;” 
 
 The complaint alleges and Neoforma and the Novation defendant parties 

surprisingly subsequently proved the plaintiff’s claims for Sherman 1 combination 

and conspiracy in restraint of trade antitrust violations through their conduct and 

official press releases. See Exbs. 3 and 4: 

“The current 10-year exclusive outsourcing agreement was originally 
entered into in March 2000 and was most recently amended in August 2003 
as a result of negotiations between the parties to the contract. Under the 
terms of that amendment, the quarterly maximum payment from Novation to 
Neoforma was established at $15.25 million, or $61.0 million per year, 
beginning in 2004.”  
 

Exb 3 Neoforma SEC disclosure press release pg. 1  
 

“In addition, at the effective time of the Merger, VHA and UHC, which 
respectively owned 8,611,217 and 2,130,302 shares of Neoforma common 
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stock prior to the Merger, representing approximately 41.5% and 10.3% of 
Neoforma outstanding common stock, respectively had 2,004,190 and 
495,810 of their shares of Neoforma common stock converted into the right 
to receive $10.00 per share in cash in the Merger. The remainder of the 
shares that they held were exchanged, immediately prior to the closing of 
the Merger, for membership interests in GHX representing approximately an 
11.6% ownership interest in GHX for VHA and a 2.9% ownership interest in 
GHX for UHC, pursuant to exchange agreements.” 

 
Exb 4 Neoforma SEC disclosure press release pg. 1  
 

The complaint does describe the Novation defendant’s market power in 

many places. The following three paragraphs from the complaint are an example: 

¶56 states: “By 8/21/04 The NY Times reported that the Justice 

Department had opened a broad criminal investigation of the medical-supply 

industry revealing that Novation is being subjected to a criminal inquiry: 

“Novation's primary business is to pool the purchasing volume of 
about 2,200 hospitals, as well as thousands of nursing homes, clinics and 
physicians' practices, and to use their collective power to negotiate 
contracts with suppliers at a discount. In many cases, the contracts offer 
special rebates to hospitals that meet certain purchasing targets. Although 
Novation is not well known outside the industry, it wields formidable 
power because it can open, or impede, access to a vast institutional 
market for health products.” [emphasis added] 

 

¶433 states:  

“The defendant Novation LLC is the largest Hospital Group 
Purchasing Organization selling over 30 billion dollars in hospital supplies a 
year and controlling the purchasing in 2000 hospitals nationwide.” 

 
¶434 states:  

“The defendants possess market power having the power to exclude 
competitors from 2000 of the nation’s hospitals, which Novation controls 
under long term purchasing contracts. The defendants possess market 
power in the ability to charge manufacturers and suppliers fees to have their 
products sold to Novation’s members and additional fees to manufacturers 
and suppliers for allowing their products to be sold though the web where 
member hospitals are required to purchase products through Neoforma, 
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Inc. The defendants possess market power in having exclusive access to 
Piper Jaffray’s investor research coverage and annual healthcare 
conferences, elements essential to effectively obtain capitalization through 
an initial public offering. The defendants possess market power in having 
exclusive access to the commercial banking facilities of US Bancorp NA.” 

 
The complaint identifies the defendant Neoforma and the nondefendant 

coconspirator GHX, LLC as the only other electronic marketplaces for hospital 

supplies (¶40) besides Medical Supply Chain and that Neoforma will be merged 

with GHX, LLC  to monopolize the web based market for hospital supplies. 

The complaint adequately alleges a conspiracy to monopolize under 

Section 2. To establish such a claim, plaintiff must plead and prove (1) a 

combination or conspiracy to monopolize; (2) overt acts done in furtherance of 

the combination or conspiracy; (3) an effect upon an appreciable amount of 

interstate commerce; and (4) a specific intent to monopolize. Multistate Legal 

Studies. Inc. v. Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Legal & Prof'l Publ'ns, Inc., 63 F.3d 

1540, 1556 (10th Cir. 1995). 

“(4) Plaintiff fails to adequately allege harm to competition;”  

 The plaintiff’s complaint documents harm to the market from the 

defendants’ artificial inflation of hospital supply prices. A trilogy of recent 

Supreme Court decisions reflect that it is unnecessary at the pleading stage to 

state every element of a claim, See Swierkiewicz v. Sorema N.A., 534 U.S.  

506 (2002); Crawford-El v. Britton, 523 U.S. 574 (1998); Leatherman v. Tarrant 

County Narcotics Intelligence & Coordination Unit, 507 U.S. 163 (1993). 

“(5) Plaintiff lacks standing;” 
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 The plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc., like the sole proprietorship 

Medical Supply Chain and Sam Lipari the founder and CEO of Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc. ( a statutory trustee of the corporation under Missouri § 351.525 

RSMo) and now the proprietor of Medical Supply Chain, a hospital supply 

business excluded from the market by the continuing acts of the defendants has 

standing. 

Missouri’s rule 52.13(e) states "When a corporation has been sued and 

served with a process or has appeared while in being, and is thereafter disolved 

or its charter forfeited, the action shall not be affected thereby ...." Accordingly, 

under § 351.525, "[t]he statutory trustees succeed to the interest of the 

corporation by operation of law ". Sab Harmon Indus. v. All State Bldg. Sys., 733 

S.W.2d 476, 483 (Mo.App.1987). 

 

 It has been asserted that like the trial court in case World of Sleep’s 

conclusion that World of Sleep's lost profits from potential sales to the licensee 

stores were too speculative because "there is no history at all of any profit or loss 

on these dealings during the years involved in this case World of Sleep, Inc. v. 

La-Z-Boy Chair Co., 756 F.2d 1467 at  1478 (C.A.10 (Colo.), 1985). This error 

contradicts established Tenth Circuit and US Supreme Court law:  

 “If proof of a profit and loss history were required, no plaintiff could ever  
recover for losses resulting from his inability to enter a market. However,  
such recoveries are clearly available under section 4 of the Clayton Act.  
See, e.g., Zenith, 395 U.S. at 129, 89 S.Ct. at 1579. ( Zenith Radio Corp. v.  
Hazeltine Research, Inc., 395 U.S. 100, 123-24, 89 S.Ct. 1562, 1576-77, 23  
L.Ed.2d 129 (1969) )”  

  
 World of Sleep, Inc. v. La-Z-Boy Chair Co., 756 F.2d 1467 at  1478 
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(C.A.10).  

“(6) Plaintiff fails to plead any of the required elements for an antitrust 
claim based on interlocking directors;”  
 
 The defendants omit that Rule 8 of the federal rules of civil procedure 

governs. No special pleading requirements attach in antitrust cases, beyond 

those specifically set out by Congress; antitrust plaintiffs thus enjoy the same 

general standard for stating a claim as other litigants. See Radovich v. National 

Football League, 352 U.S. 445, 453-54, 77 S.Ct. 390, 1 L.Ed.2d 456 (1957); 

Nagler v. Admiral Corporation, 248 F.2d 319, 323-24 (2d Cir.1957). 

 The burden to state a claim for interlocking directors is exceedingly low: 

“Defendant also maintains that plaintiff has failed to state a claim under § 8 
of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 19. Section 8 prohibits interlocking 
directorates of competing corporations if elimination of competition between 
them by agreement would violate any of the antitrust laws. Defendant 
intends to seek majority representation on plaintiff's board of directors after 
the acquisition of seventy five percent of the plaintiff's stock (SEC FORM S-
7 at 16). United States v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 111 F.Supp. 614 
(S.D.N.Y.1953), the district court granted summary judgment against the 
defendant, ordering the resignation of a director from the board of one or 
both of two competitor corporations upon which he sat, because of a 
potential anticompetitive agreement.10 In light of Sears, we hold that 
plaintiff has adequately stated a claim under § 8 of the Clayton Act.” 
 

American Medicorp, Inc. v. Humana, Inc., 445 F.Supp. 573 at 587 (E.D. 

Pa., 1977). At footnote 10, the American Medicorp court goes on to explain the 

purpose for easily triggering interlocking directorate liability: 

“[w]hat Congress intended by § 8 was to nip in the bud incipient 
violations of the antitrust laws by removing the opportunity or temptation to 
such violations through interlocking directorates. The legislation was 
essentially preventative. 

 
* * * * * * 
        While it may be acknowledged that the clause is not crystal 

clear, to infuse it with the meaning contended for by the defendants would 
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defeat the Congressional purpose "to arrest the creation of trusts, 
conspiracies and monopolies in their incipiency and before consummation." 
This conclusion is compelled because of the futility of trying to decide 
whether a given hypothetical merger would violate the pertinent sections of 
the antitrust laws. Sears, supra, at 616-617. (Footnotes omitted).” 

 
The complaint states the defendants had interlocking directors to facilitate 

their monopoly and that antitrust law violations occurred: 

¶235 states:  

“The May 25, 2000 announcement also revealed the interlocking 
directors used by the Defendants to restrain trade in hospital supplies. In 
connection with the new agreements, two of the seven seats on the 
Neoforma.com Board of Directors will be filled by VHA designees after 
closing of the transaction.” 

 
¶ 368 states: 

 “(US Bancorp has interlocking directorships and an exchange of directors 
with the two dominant GPO founders of GHX LLC.; the Defendant Novation and 
Premier. US Bancorp helped the Defendant Novation acquire control of the 
Defendant Neoforma and partner it with GHX LLC. creating a monopoly of over 
80% of healthcare e-commerce).” 

 
¶ 424 states:  

“Medical Supply Chain, Inc. has been excluded from the hospital supply 
market with agreements between UHA and VHA’s Novation in combination with 
their electronic marketplace Neoforma, Inc. US Bancorp NA, and The Piper 
Jaffray Companies exchanged directors with Novation and participated in 
exclusive agreements with Novation and Neoforma to keep hospitals using 
technology products from companies US Bancorp NA and Piper Jaffray had an 
interest in. The purpose of these agreements was to injure the hospital supply 
consumers with artificially inflated prices.” 

 
¶ 500 states:  

“The Defendants use of interlocking directors in joint ventures and 
LLC’s formed by competing suppliers, manufacturers and distributors and 
use of interlocking directors on the boards of healthcare technology and 
supply chain management companies violate Section 8 of the Clayton Act, 
15 U.S.C. § 19.” 

 
¶ 502 states:  
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“Defendants through the use of interlocking directors collectively 
have at all times material to this complaint maintained, attempted to achieve 
and maintain, or combined or conspired to achieve and maintain, a 
monopoly over the sale of hospital supplies, the sale of hospital supplies in 
e-commerce, and over the capitalization of healthcare technology 
companies and supply chain management companies in the several Stated 
of the United States; and have used, attempted to use, or combined and 
conspired to use, their monopoly power and interlocking directors to affect 
competition in the sale of hospital supplies, the sale of hospital supplies in 
e-commerce, and over the capitalization of healthcare technology 
companies and supply chain management companies sale of the same in 
the several States of the United States in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 19.” 

 
“(7) Plaintiff attempts to plead fraud without identifying a single misleading 
statement or omission;”  
 
 The plaintiff’s complaint identifies numerous misrepresentations. The 

following paragraphs from the complaint merely describes Novation’s fraudulent 

misrepresentation of 2005 costs in the 2004 annual inflation forecast:  

¶124 states:  

“The “inflation savings” scheme is perpetuated to this day by annual 
inflation forecasts created and distributed by Premier and Novation, LLC. 
The documents appear to be legitimate economic forecasts to aid hospital-
purchasing directors and include macroeconomic analysis of economic 
conditions that have the potential to effect product prices. For those 
uninitiated into the secrets of the fraud, the long-term contracts with the 
hospital’s GPO either Premier or Novation, LLC appear to have protected 
the hospital against the full effect of projected increases in the 
manufacturer’s list prices.” 

 
¶125 states:  

“The fraud however is easily verified. The economic forecasts of 
Novation LLC and Premier speak for themselves. The lists of products and 
services and the projected price changes invariably show price increases 
exceeding the annual inflation index rate for the contract protected hospital 
supply market leader manufacturers and below annual inflation index price 
changes for non-hospital supply specialty items, even declining prices in 
some markets with competition. To offset these glaringly obvious 
comparisons, Novation LLC and Premier make much use (misuse) of 
macro inflationary data to project increases in commodities they do not 
control. “ 
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¶126 states:  

“As an example, Novation LLC’s 2005 projections utilize temporary 
surges in products like farm produce from fuel cost increases in 2004 to 
creatively portray large increases in products not under contract providing 
cover for the fraudulently increased prices of the GPO’s participating 
suppliers.” 

 
The plaintiff’s complaint similarly described Novation’s specific fraudulent 

misrepresentations about the US Surgical price advantage: 

¶393 states:  

“On December 20, 2004, U.S. Surgical, a business unit of Tyco 
Healthcare, was awarded suture contracts by Novation. The long-term 
exclusive contracts run from April 1, 2005 through March 31, 2008. The 
contracts announcement stated VHA and UHC have the potential to 
purchase as much as $900 million in the eight product categories that make 
up Novation’s complete wound closure and endomechanical offering.” 

 
¶395 states:  

“Novation provided a suture conversion calculator to validate for its 
members that they would save 20 – 25% using the new US Surgical 
contract. A hospital member of Novation used the aforementioned suture 
conversion calculator and found that their actual prices for sutures on the 
new contract are going to be 36% higher the previous contract, yet the 
hospital was told by Novation that they will realize the above stated savings 
(20-25% savings). “ 

 
¶396 states:  

“Novation fraudulently deceived its member hospitals into believing 
the new US Surgical suture contract would save them 20-25 percent. 
Instead of delivering savings, Novation and Tyco increased the list or book 
price for the sutures. The hospitals were given a fraudulent means to 
calculate their “savings” the suture conversion calculator that showed 
savings in the range of 20-25%. However, when the prices for Ethicon 
products, the sutures that had been used by the hospital were run through 
the same calculator, the hospital realized the new US Surgical contract 
prices were actually 36% higher.” 
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Since it is clear the complaint identifies many fraudulent 

misrepresentations by the Novation defendants, it is unfathomable why the 

Novation defendants have made the representation to the court that the 

complaint identifies no fraudulent misrepresentations.  

“(8) Plaintiff pleads tortious interference without pleading that Defendants 
knew about or intentionally interfered with any contract;” 
 
¶406 states:  

”The coconspirators UHC, Robert J. Baker, VHA, Inc., Curt Nonomaque, 
Novation LLC, Neoforma, Inc. and Robert J. Zollars did however renew 
their conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to achieve an 
unlawful objective of keeping Medical Supply out of the market for hospital 
supplies by reviewing the case against US Bancorp and consulting with 
representatives for US Bancorp, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew 
Cesere, Piper Jaffray Companies and Andrew S. Duff. The cartel decided to 
rely on the continuing efforts to illegally influence the Kansas District Court 
and Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals to uphold the trial court’s erroneous 
ruling. The cartel also renewed their efforts to have Medical Supply’s sole 
counsel disbarred, knowing that an extensive search for counsel by Medical 
Supply had resulted in 100% of the contacted firms being conflicted out of 
opposing US Bancorp and actually effected a frenzy of disbarment attempts 
against Medical Supply’s counsel in the period from December 14, 2004 to 
February 3rd, 2005, all originating from the cartel’s agents Shughart 
Thomson and Kilroy’s past and current share holders.” 
 

¶425 states:  

“Because of these illegal anticompetitive agreements with Novation and 
Neoforma, Inc., Piper Jaffray and then US Bancorp refused to deal with 
Medical Supply Chain, Inc. US Bancorp broke a contract with Medical 
Supply Chain, Inc. to provide escrow accounts needed to capitalize Medical 
Supply’s entry into the hospital supply marketplace, using the pretext of the 
USA PATRIOT Act. US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray simultaneously stole 
Medical Supply’s intellectual property, which has since been openly used by 
Novation and Neoforma. US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray have continued to 
extort property from Medical Supply Chain on behalf of the hospital supply 
cartel by obstructing entry to the market for hospital supplies through the 
threat of malicious USA PATRIOT Act reports.” 
 

 ¶427 states:  
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“In June of 2004, Novation/ Neoforma, Inc. again stopped Medical Supply 
from entering the market for hospital supplies using exclusive dealing 
agreements with General Electric and GE’s electronic marketplace cartel 
GHX, LLC. These agreements caused GE to break a written contract to 
purchase a commercial real estate lease from Medical Supply. The contract 
included Medical Supply’s requirement to use the proceeds to capitalize 
Medical Supply’s entry to market since it was under the extortion of US 
Bancorp threatened and malicious USA PATRIOT Act reporting. Medical 
Supply is currently attempting to resolve its contract with GE and obtain 
injunctive relief and treble damages under Sherman I and II.” 
 

“(9) Plaintiff attempts to plead a claim for prima facie tort, but fails to plead 
the requisite intentional lawful act that injured plaintiff (indeed, Plaintiff 
specifically pleads that Defendants’ conduct was unlawful);”  
 
 The complaint identifies many lawful acts which the Novation defendants’ 

direct conduct and participative conduct becomes actionable as prima facie torts.  

For instance, identifies Andrew DeMarea’s filing of a lawful ethics complaint to 

unlawfully deprive Medical Supply of counsel. The complaint also describes the 

use of the USA PATRIOT Act suspicious activity report to prevent the plaintiff 

from entering the market for hospital supplies. 

“(10) Plaintiff attempts to assert a RICO claim, but fails to allege a 
racketeering act, a pattern of racketeering, or a RICO injury;  
 
 The plaintiff has adequately alleged the existence of a RICO enterprise 

and that the Novation defendants is part of the association in fact that comprises 

the enterprise.  

Enterprise 

Allegations of the existence of a RICO enterprise must meet only the 

"notice pleading" requirements of Fed.R.Civ. Pro. 8. Trustees of Plumbers and 

Pipefitters 886 F.Supp. 1134, 1144-45 (S.D.N.Y.1995)' Nat'l Pension Fund v. 
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Transworld Mech., Inc., 886 F.Supp. 1134, 1144-45 (S.D.N.Y.1995); Azurite 

Corp. v. Amster & Co., 730 F.Supp. 571 (S.D.N.Y.1990). 

The enterprise was alleged to have committed predicate acts in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) and they were alleged with the required specificity and 

identified which defendants committed which acts.  

"To sufficiently state a RICO claim, [p]laintiffs must plead `(1) conduct, (2) 
of an enterprise, (3) through a pattern, (4) of racketeering activity.'" Cyber Media 
Group, Inc. v. Island Mortgage Network, Inc., 183 F.Supp.2d 559, 578 (E.D.N.Y. 
2002) (quoting Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 479, 496, 105 S.Ct. 
3275, 87 L.Ed.2d 346 (1985)).” 

 
Calabrese v. Csc Holdings, Inc., 283 F.Supp.2d 797 at 807 (E.D.N.Y., 

2003). See also Krear v. Malek, 961 F.Supp. 1065 (E.D. Mich., 1997): 

“Regardless, plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged an "enterprise" in that they 
have alleged an association-in-fact between Lease Equities, NBF, NBF 
Cable, Turner and Malek. See Frank v. D'Ambrosi, 4 F.3d 1378, 1386 (6th 
Cir.1993). In Frank, the Sixth Circuit stated that: "To satisfy the enterprise 
requirement, an association-in-fact must be an ongoing organization, its 
members must function as a continuing unit, and it must be separate from 
the pattern of racketeering activity in which it engages." Id. (citing United 
States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 583, 101 S.Ct. 2524, 2528-29, 69 L.Ed.2d 
246 (1981)). 
        Plaintiffs have properly alleged that the racketeering activity, i.e., the 
sale of notes through Lease Equities to perpetuate the alleged Ponzi 
scheme, is distinct from the association-in-fact which associated for 
legitimate business purposes, to wit: Lease Equities entered into legitimate 
leases with third parties; NBF Cable entered into legitimate cable television 
contracts; and Lease Equities was a secured creditor of NBF Cable. 
        Third, plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged, under § 1962(d), that 
defendants conspired to violate §§ 1962(b) and (c). To state a claim under 
§ 1962(d), a plaintiff must plead that the defendant agreed to join the 
conspiracy, agreed to commit predicate acts, and knew that those acts 
were part of a pattern of racketeering activity. See Glessner v. Kenny, 952 
F.2d 702, 714 (3rd Cir. 1991). While plaintiffs have not used the word 
"agreement" per se, they have stated that defendants Malek, Turner and 
Lease Equities "have conspired to violate RICO," and have well-pleaded a 
set of facts from which a conspiracy can be inferred in the FARCS. See 
Baumer v. Pachl, 8 F.3d 1341, 1346 (9th Cir.1993); Manning v. Stigger, 919 
F.Supp. 249, 254 (E.D.Ky.1996).” 
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Krear v. Malek, 961 F.Supp. 1065 at 1070-1071 (E.D. Mich., 1997).  

Conspiracy 

The complaint alleges the Novation defendants are part of a RICO 

conspiracy. Plaintiffs have alleged that the defendant First Franklin engaged in a 

conspiracy to commit the acts mentioned above in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 

1962(d). 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d) states: "It shall be unlawful for any person to 

conspire to violate any of the provisions of subsection (a), (b), or (c) of this 

section." 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). 

No Overt Act Required 

The Supreme Court's 1997 decision Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52, 

118 S.Ct. 469, 139 L.Ed.2d 352, is controlling. The Supreme Court held that 

plaintiffs need only allege that defendants "knew of and agreed to facilitate the 

scheme." Id. at 478. 

        There is no requirement of some overt act or specific act in the [RICO] 

statute before us, unlike the general conspiracy provision applicable to federal 

crimes, which requires that at least one of the conspirators have committed an 

`act to effect the object of the conspiracy.' § 371: 

“A [RICO] conspirator must intend to further an endeavor which, if 
completed, would satisfy all of the elements of a substantive criminal 
offense, but it suffices that he adopt the goal of furthering or facilitating the 
criminal endeavor ... One can be a conspirator by agreeing to facilitate only 
some of the acts leading to the substantive offense. It is elementary that a 
[RICO] conspiracy may exist and be punished whether or not the 
substantive crime ensues, for the conspiracy is a distinct evil, and so 
punishable in itself.” 

 
        Salinas, 118 S.Ct. at 476-77. 
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 The Novation defendants do not refute the conduct of the other 

defendants. Having established a RICO conspiracy, the Novation defendants 

must make a factual showing to escape. "Once a conspiracy is shown to exist, 

the evidence sufficient to link another defendant to it need not be overwhelming." 

United States v. Diaz, 176 F.3d 52, 97 (2d Cir.1999) (quoting United States v. 

Amato, 15 F.3d 230, 235 (2d Cir.1994)). Plaintiff’s § 1962(d) allegations suffice to 

satisfy Salinas. 

"[o]nce a RICO enterprise is established, a defendant may be found 
liable even if he does not have specific knowledge of every member 
and component of the enterprise." Mason Tenders District Council 
Pension Fund v. Messera, 1996 WL 351250 at *6 (S.D.N.Y.1996) 
("Whether or not this conduct is viewed as being at the core of the 
enterprise ..."). Furthermore, "[t]he RICO statute has been repeatedly 
construed to cover both insiders as well as those peripherally connected to 
a RICO enterprise, particularly where the "outsiders" are alleged to have 
engaged in kick-backs in order to influence the enterprise's decision." Id. 
Azrielli v. Cohen Law Offices, 21 F.3d 512, 514-15, 521 (2d Cir.1994) 
(Judge Kearse held that the district court should not have dismissed 
the § 1962(c) claim against defendant who served as "the middle 
person in [a] flip sale" of a building "`by allowing his name to be used 
on the bogus contract and showing up at the closing.'").” 

 
In re Sumitomo Copper Litigation, 104 F.Supp.2d 314 (S.D.N.Y., 2000).        

To be convicted of conspiracy to violate RICO under § 1962(d), the conspirator 

need not himself have committed or agreed to commit the two or more predicate 

acts, as long as each agreed to act in furtherance of the scheme. Salinas v. 

United States, 522 U.S. 52, 63, 118 S.Ct. 469, 139 L.Ed.2d 352 (1997). Under 

this statute, there is no requirement of some overt act in furtherance of the 

conspiracy. Id. 

(11) Plaintiff’s USA Patriot Act claim is legally defective because there is no 
private cause of action under that Act as a matter of law.” 
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 There are numerous expressly stated private causes of action under USA 

PATRIOT Act Public Law 107–56 ‘‘Uniting and Strengthening America by 

Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism (USA 

PATRIOT ACT) Act of 2001’’ contains private rights of action even expressly 

stated in the acts subheadings; SEC. 223. CIVIL LIABILITY FOR CERTAIN 

UNAUTHORIZED DISCLOSURES and the plaintiff’s averred malicious reporting 

to which there is a private right in SEC. 355 which states: 

‘‘(3) MALICIOUS INTENT.—Notwithstanding any other provision of this 
subsection, voluntary disclosure made by an insured depository institution, 
and any director, officer, employee, or agent of such institution under this 
subsection concerning potentially unlawful activity that is made with 
malicious intent, shall not be shielded from liability from the person 
identified in the disclosure.” [ emphasis added ].  
 

 Additional private rights of action are communicated in sections that  

immunize “good faith” disclosure of information from third parties. The  

qualifying of immunity to third parties’ causes of action for civil liability are  

expressions of Congressional intent for private rights of action; i.e. § 215 of  

USA Patriot amends FISA § 501(e) (as amended): “A person who, in good  

faith, produces tangible things under an order pursuant to this section shall  

not be liable to any other person for such production.”  

US District Courts Recognize USA PATRIOT Act Private Rights of Action 

 It is unclear how the Novation defendants state such a clearly erroneous 

assertion as the non existence of private rights of action under the USA 

PATRIOT Act when it is contradicted by case law: 

“Section 315 of the Patriot Act amends and expands 18 U.S.C. § 
1956(c)(7), a RICO provision that establishes money-laundering as a 
predicate act. Pub.L. No. 107-56, § 315; or 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1).”  
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European Community v. Japan Tobacco, Inc., 186 F.Supp.2d 231 at pg. 

238 (E.D.N.Y., 2002).  

“…as part of the USA-PATRIOT Act, the Congress again amended § 2520 
to add that an aggrieved party could recover from an intercepting "person or 
entity, other than the United States." Pub.L. No. 107-56, § 223, 115 Stat. 
293, 384”  
 

Williams v. City of Tulsa, Ok, 393 F.Supp.2d 1124 (N.D. Okla., 2005) 

“Finally, section 2520(a) was again amended in 2001 by the USA Patriot 
Act, which added the phrase "other than the United States" following 
"person or entity." See Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing 
Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism (USA 
PATRIOT ACT) Act of 2001, Pub. L. No. 107-56, 115 Stat. 272 (2001). 
Thus, as currently enacted, section 2520(a) states that "any person whose 
wire, oral, or electronic communication is intercepted, disclosed, or 
intentionally used in violation of this chapter may in a civil action recover 
from the person or entity, other than the United States, which engaged in 
that violation such relief as may be appropriate." 18 U.S.C.A. § 2520(a) 
(West Supp. 2003) (emphasis added).”  
 

Huber v. North Carolina State University, No. COA03-145 (N.C. App. 

4/20/2004) (N.C. App., 2004). 

“3. Moreover, Plaintiff’s recent procedural machinations have further 
demonstrated that this case has been brought in bad faith.” 
 

The complaint alleges the Novation defendants knew of and participated 

in the efforts to deny the plaintiff legal representation. The Novation defendants 

overtly participated in a pleading to prevent Sam Lipari from being substituted. In 

evaluating a dismissal the allegations in the complaint are taken as true. The 

question of dismissal does not concern the conduct of the plaintiff to avoid 

injustly being deprived of redress through representation. 

Conclusion 
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The motion for oral hearing adequately demonstrates that the further 

advocacy of the Novation defendants would not aid a law based resolution of the 

appropriateness of dismissal. Additionally, no discovery has been granted and 

would be required to amend the plaintiff’s complaint to address any deficiencies 

in pleading. The plaintiff respectfully requests that the court deny the Novation 

defendants’ motion for oral hearing. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Dennis Hawver 
______________________ 
Ira Dennis Hawver 8337 
6993 Highway 92 
Ozawkie, Kansas 66070 
Telephone (785) 876 2233 
Fax (785) 876 3038 
hawverlaw@direcway.com 
Attorney for Medical Supply Chain 
And Samuel K. Lipari 
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Mark A. Olthoff , Jonathan H. Gregor, Logan W. Overman, Shughart Thomson & 
Kilroy, P.C.  1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza  120 W 12th Street  Kansas City, 
Missouri  64105-1929       
 
Andrew M. Demarea, Corporate Woods  Suite 1100, Building #32  9225 Indian 
Creek Parkway  Overland Park, Kansas  66210  (913) 451-3355  (913) 451-3361 
(FAX) 
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John K. Power, Esq.  Husch & Eppenberger, LLC  1700 One Kansas City Place  
1200 Main Street  Kansas City, MO  64105-2122   ( Also attorney for the General 
Electric defendants and Jeffrey Immelt.) 
 
Stephen N. Roberts, Esq.  Natausha Wilson, Esq.  Nossaman, Guthner, Knox & 
Elliott  34th Floor  50 California Street  San Francisco, CA  94111     
 
Bruce Blefeld, Esq.  Kathleen Bone Spangler, Esq.  Vinson & Elkins L.L.P.  2300 
First City Tower  1001 Fannin  Houston, TX  77002     
 
Attorneys for Defendants 
 
 
 

/s/ Dennis Hawver 
_____________________ 
Ira Dennis Hawver 8337 
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Neoforma Receives Nasdaq Staff Determination Letter for Not Holding

Annual Meeting in 2005

Neoforma currently plans to hold annual meeting of stockholders in early 2006; stockholders to
vote on proposed GHX transaction at that time

San Jose, CA - January 9, 2006 - On January 4, 2006, Neoforma, Inc. (Nasdaq: NEOF), a
leading provider of supply chain management solutions for the healthcare industry, was notified
by the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Department (the Staff) that, as a result of the Company not
holding an annual meeting in calendar 2005, it is not in compliance with requirements set forth in
Nasdaq Marketplace Rules 4350(e) and 4350(g) and that the Company’s common stock,
therefore, is subject to delisting from The Nasdaq Stock Market. Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4350(e)
requires that Nasdaq issuers hold an annual meeting of stockholders, and Nasdaq Marketplace
Rule 4350(g) requires that issuers solicit proxies and provide proxy statements for all meetings of
stockholders. The Company currently intends to hold its annual meeting early in 2006, at which
time the Company will seek stockholder approval of the pending transaction with Global
Healthcare Exchange, LLC (GHX).

Neoforma intends to request an appeal hearing before a Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Panel (the
Panel) to review the Staff determination in accordance with Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4820(a).
The time and place of such a hearing will be determined by the Panel. Pursuant to the same
Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4820(a), a request for a hearing will stay the scheduled delisting of
Neoforma’s common stock pending the Panel’s determination. There can be no assurance that the
Panel will grant the Company’s request for continued listing.

“In 2005, we elected to postpone the holding of our annual stockholder meeting because we knew
that our evaluation of strategic alternatives might require stockholder consideration and approval.
This decision saved Neoforma the expense and confusion of soliciting multiple proxies and holding
multiple stockholder meetings in a relatively short time period,” says Bob Zollars, chairman and
chief executive officer of Neoforma.

On October 10, 2005, Neoforma entered into a definitive merger agreement for GHX to acquire
Neoforma. The transaction remains subject to approval by stockholders representing a majority of
Neoforma’s shares that are not held by VHA Inc. and the University HealthSystem Consortium
and that vote on the transaction, as well as GHX’s receipt of anticipated debt financing and other
customary conditions. In connection with the proposed transaction, Neoforma filed a preliminary
proxy statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 10, 2005 and an
amended preliminary proxy statement on January 4, 2006. The preliminary proxy statement and
other information filed with the SEC are currently available on Neoforma’s Web site at
http://www.neoforma.com. The definitive proxy statement will be posted on Neoforma’s Web site
when it is available. The transaction currently is expected to close in early 2006.

To the best of Neoforma’s knowledge, except for those included in the Staff’s determination letter,
there are no other deficiencies, qualitative or quantitative, that would prevent Neoforma’s
common stock from continued listing on the Nasdaq Stock Market. Were the Company not to
request an appeal hearing before the Panel to review the Staff’s determination, its common stock
would be delisted from The Nasdaq Stock Market at the open of business on January 13, 2006.

About Neoforma

Neoforma is a leading supply chain management solutions provider for the healthcare industry.
Through a unique combination of technology, information, and services, Neoforma provides
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innovative solutions to over 1,600 hospitals and suppliers, supporting more than $13 billion in
annualized transaction volume. By bringing together contract information and order data,
Neoforma’s integrated solution set delivers a comprehensive view of an organization’s supply
chain, driving cost savings and better decision-making for both hospitals and suppliers. For more
information, point your browser to www.neoforma.com.

Important Additional Information Will Be Filed with the SEC

In connection with the proposed transaction, Neoforma has filed a preliminary proxy statement
and other relevant materials with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). BEFORE
MAKING ANY VOTING DECISION WITH RESPECT TO THE PROPOSED MERGER, INVESTORS AND
STOCKHOLDERS OF NEOFORMA ARE STRONGLY ADVISED TO READ THE DEFINITIVE PROXY
STATEMENT WHEN IT BECOMES AVAILABLE AND OTHER RELEVANT MATERIALS FILED WITH THE
SEC, BECAUSE THEY CONTAIN AND WILL CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE
PROPOSED MERGER. The definitive proxy statement will be mailed to Neoforma stockholders that
hold shares of Neoforma common stock as of the record date for the transaction. The preliminary
and definitive proxy statement and other relevant materials, and any other documents filed by
Neoforma with the SEC, may be obtained free of charge at the SEC’s Web site at www.sec.gov.
In addition, investors and stockholders of Neoforma may obtain free copies of the documents filed
with the SEC by contacting Innisfree M&A Incorporated, Neoforma’s proxy solicitor, toll-free at
888-750-5834 (banks and brokers may call collect at 212-750-5833). You may also read and
copy any reports, statements and other information filed by Neoforma with the SEC at the SEC
public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the
SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 or visit the SEC’s Web site for further information on its public reference
room.

Participants in the Solicitation

Neoforma and its executive officers and directors may be deemed to be participants in the
solicitation of proxies from the Neoforma stockholders in favor of the proposed merger.
Information regarding Neoforma’s directors and executive officers is contained in the preliminary
proxy statement. As of December 31, 2005, Neoforma’s directors and executive officers
beneficially owned 857,981 shares of Neoforma’s common stock, representing 4.1 percent of the
outstanding shares of Neoforma’s common stock as of such date. Certain executive officers and
directors of Neoforma have interests in the merger that may differ from the interests of
stockholders generally, including acceleration of vesting of stock options and restricted stock, the
payment of benefits upon the consummation of the merger and continuation of director and
officer insurance and indemnification. A more complete description of these interests is contained
in the preliminary proxy statement.

Contacts

This news release contains forward-looking information within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. These forward-looking statements include statements relating to Neoforma’s intention to
request a hearing to review the Staff’s delisting determination, the continued listing of Neoforma’s
common stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market, the timing of the closing of the merger with GHX and the
anticipated receipt by GHX of debt financing. There are a number of risks that could cause actual results
to differ materially from those anticipated by these forward-looking statements. These risks include the
risk that there can be no assurance that the Panel will grant Neoforma’s request for continued listing, the
risk that conditions to the closing of the merger with GHX may not be satisfied when expected, or at all,
and the risk that the merger may not close when expected, or at all. These risks and other risks will be
described in the proxy statement relating to the merger, and other risks are described in Neoforma’s
periodic reports filed with the SEC, including its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2005. These statements are current as of the date of this release and Neoforma assumes
no obligation to update the forward-looking information contained in this news release.

Neoforma is a trademark of Neoforma, Inc. Other Neoforma logos, product names and service names are
also trademarks of Neoforma, Inc., which may be registered in other countries. Other product and brand
names are trademarks of their respective owners.
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Neoforma Provides Update Regarding Evaluation of

Strategic Alternatives

San Jose, CA - April 18, 2005 - Neoforma, Inc. (Nasdaq: NEOF) is

confirming that VHA Inc. and the University HealthSystem

Consortium (UHC) have announced, through Schedule 13D filings,

their current intent to support Neoforma’s evaluation of strategic

alternatives, including a possible sale or merger of the Company, and

to sell their shares of Neoforma common stock in a transaction on

terms that are acceptable to them. VHA and UHC are the two largest

stockholders of Neoforma, owning 41.8% and 10.4%, respectively, of the Company’s outstanding

common stock. VHA and UHC own Novation, LLC, their supply company and Neoforma’s largest

customer.

In late 2004, Neoforma’s board of directors appointed a special committee of independent directors

to supervise the evaluation of strategic alternatives that Neoforma has undertaken, as previously

disclosed in Neoforma’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. As announced on

January 11, 2005, Neoforma has retained Merrill Lynch & Co. as its financial advisor to assist the

Company and the special committee in this evaluation.

Now that VHA and UHC have determined their current intent, Neoforma and its advisors intend to

accelerate their investigation of strategic alternatives for enhancing stockholder value, including a

potential sale or merger of the Company, and to enter into negotiations with prospective parties in

connection with certain alternatives.

In the context of a sale or merger transaction, VHA and UHC also have indicated that, based in

part on the findings of their consultant, they believe a market competitive price of the services

provided by Neoforma should be significantly less than the current fee. They also have indicated

that they intend to renegotiate the outsourcing agreement to which Neoforma, VHA, UHC and

Novation are all parties, and that such a renegotiation is a condition of continuing the outsourcing

agreement after any sale or merger transaction. Neoforma, however, based on the findings of its

own consultant, believes its current fee is reasonable and market competitive.

Neoforma believes that it has been a valuable and trusted partner to VHA, UHC and Novation and

to their membership over the last five years. By delivering customized and proven supply chain

management solutions, Neoforma has helped hospitals reduce costs and increase efficiencies,

allowing them to focus on other critical priorities.

The current 10-year exclusive outsourcing agreement was originally entered into in March 2000

and was most recently amended in August 2003 as a result of negotiations between the parties to

the contract. Under the terms of that amendment, the quarterly maximum payment from Novation

to Neoforma was established at $15.25 million, or $61.0 million per year, beginning in 2004.

There can be no assurances that any particular alternative will be pursued or that any transaction

will occur, or on what terms. In addition, there can be no assurances that a buyer acceptable to

VHA and UHC will be willing to enter into a transaction on terms acceptable to Neoforma and VHA

and UHC.
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As previously disclosed, in the event of a change in control of Neoforma, Novation’s consent is

required to assign the outsourcing agreement, because Novation has the right to terminate the

agreement upon such a change in control transaction. Separately, either party has the right to

request that a formal benchmarking process be undertaken. The detailed terms of the

benchmarking provisions of the agreement have been included in a Form 8-K to be filed by

Neoforma. At this time, none of the parties to the agreement have requested the formal

benchmarking process be undertaken.

About Neoforma

Neoforma is a leading supply chain management solutions provider for the healthcare industry.

Through a unique combination of technology, information and services, Neoforma provides

innovative solutions to over 1,500 hospitals and suppliers, supporting more than $10 billion in

annualized transaction volume. By bringing together contract information and order data,

Neoforma’s integrated solution set delivers a comprehensive view of an organization’s supply chain,

driving significant cost savings and better decision-making for both hospitals and suppliers. For

more information, point your browser to http://www.neoforma.com.

Contacts

This news release contains forward-looking information within the meaning of  Section 27A of  the Securities Act of  1933,

as amended, and Section 21E of  the Securities Exchange Act of  1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements

include statements related to Neoforma’s consideration of  strategic alternatives, the intent of  VHA, UHC and Novation to

renegotiate the Outsourcing Agreement with a buyer or merger partner of  Neoforma, the likelihood of  a merger or sale of

Neoforma, and in a sale or merger of  Neoforma the intent of  VHA and UHC to sell their shares of  Neoforma, the intent

of  Novation, VHA and UHC to support the sale or merger and the timing for the completion of  the sale or merger. There

are a number of  risks that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated by these forward-looking

statements. These risks include the risk that no strategic alternative will ultimately be considered, that a buyer or merger

partner of  Neoforma will not agree to renegotiated Outsourcing Agreement terms with VHA, UHC and Novation, and that

VHA and UHC may not agree to sell their shares to a merger partner or buyer of  Neoforma or approve a merger or sale

of  Neoforma. Other risks are described in Neoforma’s periodic reports filed with the SEC, including its Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31, 2004. These statements are current as of  the date of  this release and Neoforma assumes no

obligation to update the forward-looking information contained in this news release.

Neoforma is a trademark of  Neoforma, Inc. Other Neoforma logos, product names and service names are also

trademarks of  Neoforma, Inc., which may be registered in other countries. Other product and brand names are

trademarks of  their respective owners.

top

©1996-2005, Neoforma, Inc. All rights reserved. Legal Notice - (866) 636-6755
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Form 8-K for NEOFORMA INC

3-Mar-2006

Change in Assets, Notice of Delisting or Transfer, Change in Control, Change in Dire

Item 2.01. Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

On March 3, 2006, Neoforma, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Neoforma"), became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Global Healthcare
Exchange, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("GHX"), upon consummation of the merger (the "Merger") of Leapfrog Merger
Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GHX ("Merger Sub"), with and into Neoforma, with Neoforma surviving the Merger, as
contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 10, 2005, as amended (the "Merger Agreement"), among
GHX, Merger Sub, and Neoforma. As a result, GHX now controls 100% of the shares of Neoforma common stock.

At the effective time of the Merger, each share of Neoforma common stock outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the
Merger (other than 
(1) certain shares exchanged by VHA, Inc. ("VHA") and University HealthSystem Consortium ("UHC") for membership interests of GHX
(as described below), 
(2) shares owned by Neoforma, Merger Sub or GHX or any of their respective direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiaries or (3) shares
held by stockholders who are entitled to and who properly exercise appraisal rights in compliance with all of the required procedures
under Delaware law) was converted into the right to receive $10.00 in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding tax.

All unvested options to purchase shares of Neoforma common stock outstanding prior to the effective time of the Merger became fully
vested immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger. Immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger, each outstanding and
unexercised option to purchase shares of Neoforma common stock with an exercise price below $10.00 per share, including the
unvested options that became accelerated in full, were converted into the right to receive an amount of cash equal to the difference
between $10.00 per share in cash to be paid by GHX in the Merger and the exercise price per share of the option, multiplied by the
number of shares subject to the option, without interest and less any applicable withholding tax. Each outstanding unexercised option
to purchase shares of Neoforma common stock with an exercise price equal to or greater than $10.00 per share were cancelled and
no consideration was paid for such options.

In addition, at the effective time of the Merger, VHA and UHC, which respectively owned 8,611,217 and 2,130,302 shares of Neoforma
common stock prior to the Merger, representing approximately 41.5% and 10.3% of Neoforma outstanding common stock, respectively
had 2,004,190 and 495,810 of their shares of Neoforma common stock converted into the right to receive $10.00 per share in cash in
the Merger. The remainder of the shares that they held were exchanged, immediately prior to the closing of the Merger, for
membership interests in GHX representing approximately an 11.6% ownership interest in GHX for VHA and a 2.9% ownership interest
in GHX for UHC, pursuant to exchange agreements.
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Item 3.01. Notice of Delisting or Failure to Satisfy a Continued Listing Rule or Standard; Transfer of Listing.

On March 3, 2006, Neoforma became a wholly-owned subsidiary of GHX upon consummation of the Merger as contemplated by the
Merger Agreement. As a result, GHX now controls 100% of the shares of Neoforma common stock. Neoforma requested on March 3,
2006 that Neoforma common stock traded under the symbol "NEOF" be delisted from quotation on the NASDAQ National Market
effective prior to the opening of the market on Monday, March 6, 2006.

Item 5.01. Changes in Control of Registrant.

On March 3, 2006, Neoforma became a wholly-owned subsidiary of GHX upon consummation of the Merger as contemplated by the
Merger Agreement. As a result, GHX now controls 100% of the shares of Neoforma common stock.

At the effective time of the Merger, each share of Neoforma common stock outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the
Merger (other than 
(1) certain shares exchanged by VHA and UHC for membership interests of GHX (as described below), (2) shares owned by
Neoforma, Merger Sub or GHX or any of their respective direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiaries or (3) shares held by stockholders
who are entitled to and who properly exercise appraisal rights in compliance with all of the required procedures under Delaware law)
was converted into the right to receive $10.00 in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding tax.

All unvested options to purchase shares of Neoforma common stock outstanding prior to the effective time of the Merger became fully
vested immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger. Immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger, each outstanding and
unexercised option to purchase shares of Neoforma common stock with an exercise price below $10.00 per share, including the
unvested options that became accelerated in full, were converted into the right to receive an amount of cash equal to the difference
between $10.00 per share in cash to be paid by GHX in the Merger and the exercise price per share of the option, multiplied by the
number of shares subject to the option, without interest and less any applicable withholding tax. Each outstanding unexercised option
to purchase shares of Neoforma common stock with an exercise price equal to or greater than $10.00 per share were cancelled and
no consideration was paid for such options.

In addition, at the effective time of the Merger, VHA and UHC, which respectively owned 8,611,217 and 2,130,302 shares of Neoforma
common stock prior to the Merger, representing approximately 41.5% and 10.3% of Neoforma outstanding common stock, respectively
had 2,004,190 and 495,810 of their shares of Neoforma common stock converted into the right to receive $10.00 per share in cash in
the Merger. The remainder of the shares that they held were exchanged, immediately prior to the closing of the Merger, for
membership interests in GHX representing approximately an 11.6% ownership interest in GHX for VHA and a 2.9% ownership interest
in GHX for UHC, pursuant to exchange agreements.

The aggregate cash consideration to be paid by GHX in the Merger is approximately $125 million. A portion of the proceeds for this
transaction was provided pursuant to a loan agreement among GHX and certain of its subsidiaries and General Electric Capital
Corporation, as administrative agent, letter of credit issuer, swingline lender and lender, and Fifth Third Bank, as lender, which loan
was funded on March 3, 2006.

Item 5.02. Departure of Directors or Principal Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Principal Officers.

On March 3, 2006, Neoforma became a wholly-owned subsidiary of GHX upon consummation of the Merger as contemplated by the
Merger Agreement. As a result, GHX now controls 100% of the shares of Neoforma common stock. The board of directors of
Neoforma immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger have resigned and been replaced as directors by Michael Mahoney and
Greg Nash, the current Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, respectively, of GHX. In addition, Mr. Mahoney has been
appointed President and Mr. Nash has been appointed Secretary and Treasurer of Neoforma.

   Add NEOF to Portfolio      Set Alert          Email to a Friend  

Get SEC Filings for Another Symbol:  GO  Symbol Lookup

Quotes & Info for NEOF - All Recent SEC Filings
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1 Throughout the docket sheet, this defendant’s last name was spelled numerous different ways. 
The court will use “Cesare,” the spelling most often used by plaintiff’s counsel. 

2 Plaintiff’s complaint names “Shughart Thomson & Kilroy Watkins Boulware, P.C.” but the law
firm’s correct name is “Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C.”.  

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., )
)

Plaintiff, )
) CIVIL ACTION

v. )
) No. 05-2299-CM

NEOFORMA, INC., et al., )
)

Defendants. )
                                                                              )

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

On March 9, 2005, plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc. filed the above-captioned case in the

United States District Court for the District of Western Missouri, case number 05-2010-CV-W-ODS. 

Plaintiff brought suit against Neoforma, Inc., Robert J. Zollars, Volunteer Hospital Association (“VHA”),

Curt Nonomaque, University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert J. Baker, US Bancorp NA, U.S. Bank

National Association, Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare,1 Piper Jaffray Companies, Andrew S. Duff,

Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C.,2 and Novation, LLC.  Plaintiff’s 115 page complaint alleges sixteen

counts including claims for price restraint under the Sherman Act, restraint of trade and monopolization

under both federal and Missouri law, conspiracy, tortious interference with contract or business expectancy,

breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, prima facie tort, and claims under RICO and the USA

PATRIOT Act.
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On June 15, 2005, Judge Ortrie D. Smith of the Western District of Missouri granted defendants’

Motions to Transfer the case to the District of Kansas, citing this district court’s experience with “the almost

identical previous lawsuit” and the interests of justice.  (Doc. 26, at 2).  

Each group of defendants have filed a motion to dismiss, and two groups of defendants have filed

renewed motions after the case was transferred, resulting in seven motions to dismiss.  The motions to

dismiss pending before the court are defendant Robert Zollars’ Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal

Jurisdiction (Doc. 2); Defendant Neoforma, Inc.’s Motion to Dismiss, [sic] Complaint, or Alternatively to

Require Amendment, Pursuant to F.R.C.P. Rules 8 and 9 (Doc. 4); Defendants US Bancorp, U.S. Bank

National Association, Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare and Andrew S.

Duffs’ Motion to Transfer, Dismiss and/or Strike (Doc. 6); Defendants Curt Nonomaque and Robert

Baker’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction and for Failure to State a

Claim (Doc. 11); Defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C.’s Motion to Transfer, Dismiss and/or Strike

(Doc. 13); Defendants US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A.

Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare and Andrew S. Duffs’ Renewed Motion to Dismiss and/or Strike (Doc. 32);

and Novation, LLC, VHA Inc., University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert Baker and Curt

Nonomaque’s Renewed Motion to Dismiss Complaint for Failure to State a Claim (Doc. 34).  

Additional motions before the court are defendants US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association,

Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare and Andrew S. Duffs’ Motion for Sanctions

(Doc. 22); Defendants’ Motion to Stay Rule 26(f) Conference and Discovery (Doc. 24); plaintiff’s Motion

for Reconsideration of Order Transferring Venue (Doc. 28); Novation, LLC, VHA, University

Healthsystem Consortium, Robert Baker and Curt Nonomaque’s Motion for Sanctions (Doc. 36); plaintiff’s
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Motion to Strike Defendants’ Renewed Motion to Dismiss and/or Strike (Doc. 38); plaintiff’s Motion to

Consolidate Under Rule 42 (Doc. 39); plaintiff’s Motion to Require Consolidation Arguments to be in the

Form of Pleadings on the Record and Notice of Threat of Unlawful Sanctions (Doc. 42); plaintiff’s Motion

to Strike Novation Defendants’ Renewed Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 43); plaintiff’s Motion for Clarification

of Order in Case No. 03-2324 (Doc. 45); First Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Under F.

R. Civ. P. Local Rule 56.1 (Doc. 46); plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to Join Additional Defendants Under

Fed. R. Civ. P. 29(a) (Doc. 49); plaintiff’s Motion to Substitute Plaintiff Under F.R.C.P. Rules [sic] 17(a),

15(a) and 25(a) (Doc. 56); plaintiff’s Motion to Substitute Defendant Under F.R.C.P. Rules [sic] 17(a)

(Doc. 57); and Novation, LLC, VHA Inc., University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert Baker and Curt

Nonomaque’s Motion to Set Oral Hearing on Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 76).    

I. Background

A. Bret D. Landrith 

Plaintiff’s counsel for all of the pending motions before the court, Bret D. Landrith, withdrew as

counsel for plaintiff on January 30, 2006 after being disbarred from the practice of law in the state of Kansas

on December 9, 2005 for violating Kansas Rules of Professional Conduct relating to competence,

meritorious claims, candor toward the tribunal, fairness to opposing parties and counsel, respect for rights of

third persons, and misconduct.  See In re Landrith, 124 P.3d 467, 485-86 (Kan. 2005).  On February 7,

2006, Ira Dennis Hawver entered his appearance on behalf of Medical Supply Chain, Inc.  

B. Prior Relevant Cases

Plaintiff has brought two other cases in this court that are relevant to the court’s analysis.  The first,

captioned Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v. US Bancorp, NA, et al, case number 02-2539-CM (“Medical
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Supply I”), was filed on October 22, 2002 against defendants US Bancorp, NA; US Bank Private Client

Group, Corporate Trust, Institutional Trust and Custody, and Mutual Fund Services, LLC, a subsidiary of

US Bancorp; Piper Jaffray; Andrew Cesare; Susan Paine; Lars Anderson; Brian Kabbes; and Unknown

Healthcare Supplier.  Plaintiff contended these defendants engaged in conduct violating (1) the Sherman

Antitrust Act; (2) the Clayton Antitrust Act; and (3) the Hobbs Act.  Plaintiff also alleged defendants (4)

“fail[ed] to properly train [their] employees on the USA PATRIOT Act or to provide a compliance officer”;

(5) misused “authority and excessive use of force as enforcement officers under the USA PATRIOT Act”;

and (6) violated “criminal laws to influence policy under section 802 of the USA PATRIOT Act.”  The

complaint further charged defendants with (7) misappropriation of trade secrets under state law; (8) tortious

interference with prospective contracts; (9) tortious interference with contracts; (10) breach of contract;

(11) promissory estoppel; (12) fraudulent misrepresentation; and (13) violation of the covenant of good faith

and fair dealing.  Plaintiff sought over $943 million in damages and declaratory relief.  

On June 16, 2003, this court granted defendants’ motions to dismiss for failure to state any claims

upon which relief could be granted and dismissed the case.  Medical Supply I, 2003 WL 21479192, at *9

(D. Kan. June 16, 2003).  When discussing plaintiff’s USA PATRIOT Act claims, the undersigned judge

advised Mr. Landrith to “take greater care in ensuring that the claims he brings on his clients’ behalf are

supported by the law and the facts.”  Id. at *6.  Furthermore, with regard to the same claims, the

undersigned judge noted that “the court finds plaintiff’s allegation so completely divorced from rational

thought that the court will refrain from further comment until such time as federal criminal proceedings are

commenced, if indeed they ever are.”  Id. at *8.  On November 8, 2004, the Tenth Circuit affirmed the

district court’s dismissal, and ordered plaintiff to show cause why he should not be sanctioned for filing a
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frivolous appeal pursuant to Fed. R. App. P. 38.  Medical Supply I, 112 Fed. Appx. 730, 731-32 (10th

Cir. 2004).  On December 30, 2004, the undersigned judge assessed attorney fees and double costs as a

sanction against Mr. Landrith.  Defendants were awarded $23,956 in attorney fees.  Medical Supply I,

2005 WL 2122675, at *1 (D. Kan. May 13, 2005).

The second case brought by plaintiff in this court, captioned Medical Supply Chain, Inc. v.

General Electric Company, et al., case number 03-2324-CM (“Medical Supply II”), was filed on June

18, 2003.  Defendants included General Electric Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding

Corporation, GE Transportation Systems Global Signaling, LLC, and Jeffrey Immelt.  Plaintiff’s amended

complaint alleged violations of the Sherman Act, the Robinson-Patman Act, and various state law claims. 

Specifically, plaintiff alleged that it 

suffered antitrust injury from the defendants’ breach of a written contract to buy
out the remainder of a lease and provide financing for Medical Supply’s entry
into the hospital supply market.  This contract was a unique credit agreement
and an essential facility required for entry into the e-commerce market for
hospital supplies.

Plaintiff further alleged that “GE founded a cartel or trust with its horizontal and vertical competitors,

centered around an electronic marketplace that now has over 80% of the hospital e-commerce market,” and

that “GE’s refusal to deal and group boycott, preventing Medical Supply’s entry into a market GE has

monopoly power in[,] is a violation of the Sherman and Clayton Antitrust Acts.”  

On January 29, 2004, the undersigned judge granted defendants’ motions to dismiss, but opted not

to impose Rule 11 sanctions against plaintiff.  Medical Supply II, 2004 WL 956100, at *5 (D. Kan. Jan.

29, 2004).  In granting defendants’ motions to dismiss, the court noted that “at the most fundamental level,

plaintiff’s antitrust claims fail.”  Id. at *3.  On July 26, 2005, the Tenth Circuit affirmed the district court’s
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dismissal of plaintiff’s complaint, but reversed and remanded on the issue of sanctions against plaintiff, finding

that “at least [plaintiff’s] claims against Jeffrey Immelt in his individual capacity were frivolous in that no

allegation was made that Immelt had any personal connection with [plaintiff’s] alleged injury or even that he

knew [plaintiff] existed.”  Medical Supply II, 144 Fed. Appx. 708, 716 (10th Cir. 2005).  The issue of

sanctions remains pending.  

C. Instant Allegations 

Plaintiff asserts federal question subject matter jurisdiction based on several federal acts including the

Clayton Act, the Sherman Act, the Declaratory Judgment Act,3 the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt

Organizations Act (“RICO”), and the USA PATRIOT Act.  Plaintiff also asserts diversity jurisdiction,

despite acknowledging that both plaintiff and at least one defendant reside in Missouri.  (Compl., at 4-6). 

Therefore, this court does not have diversity jurisdiction over plaintiff’s case.  28 U.S.C. § 1332.  Plaintiff

alleges that this court has personal jurisdiction “over the parties who are in the territorial limits of the United

States and who have sufficient contacts with the State of Missouri.”  (Compl., at 5).

 In addition to the captioned defendants, plaintiff also lists eight “coconspirators not named as

defendants in this action,” several of which are relevant for purposes of this Order, including General Electric

Company, General Electric Capital Business Asset Funding Corporation, GE Transportation Systems

Global Signaling, LLC, and Jeffrey R. Immelt. 
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  The court is unclear on the bulk of plaintiff’s allegations.  On page 84 of its complaint, plaintiff lists

its “summary of claims” as follows:4 

423.  Medical Supply Chain, Inc., in its antitrust litigation opposing trade
restraint in the electronic market for hospital supplies. Medical Supply has
experienced substantial antitrust injury from the actions of Novation, a joint
venture created by UHC and VHA, Inc. in support of the electronic
marketplace entity Neoforma, Inc. which is believed to be an instrumentality of
UHC and VHA, Inc. which were both in an alliance to eliminate competition
among member competitors in a scheme to inflate prices similar to the alliance of
Shell and Texaco to create two joint ventures, Equilon Enterprises LLC and
Motiva Enterprises condemned for per se Sherman I prohibited conduct in
Dagher v Saudi Refining Inc, 369 F.3d 1108, 1114 (9th Cir. 2004).  

424. Medical Supply Chain, Inc. has been excluded from the hospital supply
market with agreements between UHA and VHA’s Novation in combination
with their electronic marketplace Neoforma, Inc. US Bancorp NA, and The
Piper Jaffray Companies exchanged directors with Novation and participated in
exclusive agreements with Novation and Neoforma to keep hospitals using
technology products from companies US Bancorp NA and Piper Jaffray had an
interest in. The purpose of these agreements was to injure the hospital supply
consumers with artificially inflated prices. 

425. Because of these illegal anticompetitive agreements with Novation and
Neoforma, Inc., Piper Jaffray and then US Bancorp refused to deal with
Medical Supply Chain, Inc. US Bancorp broke a contract with Medical Supply
Chain, Inc. to provide escrow accounts needed to capitalize Medical Supply’s
entry into the hospital supply marketplace, using the pretext of the USA
PATRIOT Act. US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray simultaneously stole Medical
Supply’s intellectual property, which has since been openly used by Novation
and Neoforma. US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray have continued to extort property
from Medical Supply Chain on behalf of the hospital supply cartel by obstructing
entry to the market for hospital supplies through the threat of malicious USA
PATRIOT Act reports.

426. Medical Supply attempted to obtain preliminary injunctive relief against US
Bancorp, The Piper Jaffray Companies and an Unknown Healthcare Supplier to

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume IV  1511



-8-

prevent them from using the USA PATRIOT Act as a sham petition designed to
prevent Medical Supply from entering the market and to stop the theft of its
intellectual property.  To date, Medical Supply has not been successful.

427. In June of 2004, Novation/ Neoforma, Inc. again stopped Medical Supply
from entering the market for hospital supplies using exclusive dealing agreements
with General Electric and GE’s electronic marketplace cartel GHX, LLC. 
These agreements caused GE to break a written contract to purchase a
commercial real estate lease from Medical Supply.  The contract included
Medical Supply’s requirement to use the proceeds to capitalize Medical
Supply’s entry to market since it was under the extortion of US Bancorp
threatened and malicious USA PATRIOT Act reporting. Medical Supply is
currently attempting to resolve its contract with GE and obtain injunctive relief
and treble damages under Sherman I and II.

428. On December 14, 2004 Medical Supply served notice on UHC, Robert J.
Baker, VHA, Inc., Curt Nonomaque, Novation LLC, Neoforma, Inc. and
Robert J. Zollars that Medical Supply had not succeeded in obtaining
prospective injunctive relief against the US Bancorp and Piper Jaffray
defendants to prevent antitrust injuries from being obstructed from entering the
market for hospital supplies or the theft of Medical Supply’s intellectual
property. The notice informed the UHC, Robert J. Baker, VHA, Inc., Curt
Nonomaque, Novation LLC, Neoforma, Inc. and Robert J. Zollars that if they
did not provide a substantiated response denying their responsibility for the
hospital supply cartel’s actions against Medical Supply, they would be held
jointly and severally liable:

“If you dispute that any of these actions were taken against
Medical Supply, or that your company is liable as an antitrust
coconspirator, please promptly provide a substantiated basis
for Medical Supply’s reliance on the same to me at the address
provided below.  Since your company has not refuted the
publicized events and relationships described herein, a
constructive use of the time remaining between now and our
anticipated filing of February 1, 2005 might be to reach an
agreement on the platform and electronic format the millions of
recorded transactions, hospital supply contracts, kickbacks and
equity shares that will be exchanged through discovery as we
collectively document the injuries to America’s hospitals and
our company from your concerted refusals to deal and group
boycotts.”
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429. Only counsel for Neoforma responded and the purpose of the
communication was to have Medical Supply await their answer till after the
holidays, an answer that never came.

430. The coconspirators UHC, Robert J. Baker, VHA, Inc., Curt Nonomaque,
Novation LLC, Neoforma, Inc. and Robert J. Zollars did however renew their
conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to achieve an unlawful
objective of keeping Medical Supply out of the market for hospital supplies by
reviewing the case against US Bancorp and consulting with representatives for
US Bancorp, US Bank, Jerry A. Grundhoffer, Andrew Cesere, Piper Jaffray
Companies and Andrew S. Duff.  The cartel decided to rely on the continuing
efforts to illegally influence the Kansas District Court and Tenth Circuit Court of
Appeals to uphold the trial court’s erroneous ruling.  The cartel also renewed
their efforts to have Medical Supply’s sole counsel disbarred, knowing that an
extensive search for counsel by Medical Supply had resulted in 100% of the
contacted firms being conflicted out of opposing US Bancorp and actually
effected a frenzy of disbarment attempts against Medical Supply’s counsel in the
period from December 14, 2004 to February 3rd, 2005, all originating from the
cartel’s agents Shughart Thomson and Kilroy’s past and current share holders.

(Compl., at 84-86).  

Plaintiff seeks “approximately $1,500,000,000.00 for the conduct related to the refusal to provide

trust accounts and . . . approximately $1,500,000,000.00 for the conduct related to preventing Medical

Supply from selling the office building lease to General Electric Transportation Co.” (Compl., at 114). 

Plaintiff also seeks $1 million for damages sustained as a “consequence of Defendants’ tortuous [sic]

interference with contract or business expectancy and/or in prima facie tort . . . together with punitive or

exemplary damages for the same, in an amount in excess of $10,000,” “approximately” $1.5 million in

damages for defendants’ violations of “civil racketeering laws,” $500,000 for damages plaintiff sustained as

a result of defendants’ USA PATRIOT Act violations, and costs and reasonable attorney fees.  (Compl., at

114-15).  

II. Legal Standard for Motions to Dismiss
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The court will dismiss a cause of action for failure to state a claim only when it appears beyond a

doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of the theory of recovery that would entitle him or

her to relief, Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45-46 (1957); Maher v. Durango Metals, Inc., 144 F.3d

1302, 1304 (10th Cir. 1998), or when an issue of law is dispositive, Neitzke v. Williams, 490 U.S. 319,

326 (1989).  The court accepts as true all well-pleaded facts, as distinguished from conclusory allegations,

Maher, 144 F.3d at 1304, and all reasonable inferences from those facts are viewed in favor of the plaintiff,

Swanson v. Bixler, 750 F.2d 810, 813 (10th Cir. 1984).  The issue in resolving a motion such as this is not

whether the plaintiff will ultimately prevail, but whether he or she is entitled to offer evidence to support the

claims.  Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974), overruled on other grounds, Davis v. Scherer,

468 U.S. 183 (1984).  

III. Analysis 

A. Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration of Order Transferring Venue (Doc. 28)

Whether to grant or deny a motion for reconsideration is committed to the court’s discretion.  GFF

Corp. v. Associated Wholesale Grocers, Inc., 130 F.3d 1381, 1386 (10th Cir. 1998);  Hancock v. City

of Okla. City, 857 F.2d 1394, 1395 (10th Cir. 1988).  In exercising that discretion, courts in general have

recognized three major grounds justifying reconsideration: (1) an intervening change in controlling law; (2)

availability of new evidence; and (3) the need to correct clear error or prevent manifest injustice.  See Marx

v. Schnuck Mkts., Inc., 869 F. Supp. 895, 897 (D. Kan. 1994) (citations omitted); D. Kan. Rule 7.3

(listing three bases for reconsideration of order).  “A party’s failure to present its strongest case in the first

instance does not entitle it to a second chance in the form of a motion to reconsider.”  Sithon Maritime Co.

v. Holiday Mansion, 177 F.R.D. 504, 505 (D. Kan. 1998).  Plaintiff’s arguments in support of
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reconsideration do not assert a change in controlling law or the availability of new evidence.  Moreover, in

arguing that the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Missouri committed clear error by transferring

the instant case to this district, plaintiff did not raise any arguments that it could not have raised in its motions

opposing transfer.  Because plaintiff is not entitled to a second chance at presenting its strongest case,

Sithon Maritime Co., 177 F.R.D. at 505, plaintiff’s motion for reconsideration is denied.  

B. Plaintiff’s Motions to Strike (Docs. 38 and 43)

Plaintiff requests that the court strike two renewed motions to dismiss.  The bulk of plaintiff’s

arguments simply respond to defendants’ motions to dismiss rather than argue in support of striking the

motions.  Plaintiff’s on-point argument is that the renewed motions to dismiss include new arguments and

authorities that were available when defendants filed their original motions to dismiss. 

The court may “order stricken from any pleading any insufficient defense or any redundant,

immaterial, impertinent, or scandalous matter.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f).  The court finds that defendants’

renewed motions do not fall within the purview of Rule 12(f).  Rather, defendants renewed their motions

only after the instant case was transferred from the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Missouri

(in the 8th Circuit) to this court (in the 10th Circuit).  Moreover, the court finds that striking the motions is

inconsequential; even if the court struck the motions at issue,  none of its instant rulings would change. 

Plaintiff’s motions to strike are denied. 

C. Motions to Dismiss
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Pending before the court are five motions to dismiss and two renewed motions to dismiss. 

Defendants assert several different arguments in support of dismissal, including that this court does not have

personal jurisdiction over certain defendants, plaintiff did not properly serve certain defendants, all of

plaintiff’s claims fail to state a claim for which relief can be granted pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 12(b)(6), several of plaintiff’s claims are barred by claim and/or issue preclusion, and plaintiff’s

complaint violates Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 8 and 9.  In addition, several defendants contend that

some of plaintiff’s allegations against specific defendants and third parties are so immaterial, impertinent and

scandalous that they should be stricken by the court.  

The court has reviewed the pending motions to dismiss and responses, along with the complaint and

plaintiff’s prior cases in this district.  Even presuming all well-pleaded allegations as true, resolving doubts in

favor of plaintiff, and viewing the pleadings in the light most favorable to plaintiff, the court finds that

dismissal of plaintiff’s complaint is warranted for several reasons.5 

1. Rule 12(b)(6)

Plaintiff’s complaint fails at the most basic level to allege sufficient facts to support cognizable legal

claims.  Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) allows the court to dismiss a cause of action for “failure to

state a claim upon which relief can be granted.”  The court recognizes that “[d]ismissal under Rule 12(b)(6)

is a ‘harsh remedy which must be cautiously studied, not only to effectuate the spirit of the liberal rules of

pleading but also to protect the interests of justice.’”  Morse v. Regents of Univ. of Colo., 154 F.3d 1124,

1127 (10th Cir. 1998) (quoting Cayman Exploration Corp. v. United Gas Pipe Line Co., 873 F.2d
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1357, 1359 (10th Cir. 1989)).  However, even considering the harshness of this remedy, dismissal under

12(b)(6) is warranted in this case.  

a. Sherman Act, § 1 (Counts I and II)

A plaintiff must plead three elements to state a claim under § 1 of the Sherman Act: (1) a contract,

combination, or conspiracy among two or more independent actors; (2) that unreasonably restrains trade;

and (3) is in, or substantially affects, interstate commerce.  15 U.S.C. § 1; TV Commc’ns Network, Inc. v.

Turner Network Television, Inc., 964 F.2d 1022, 1027 (10th Cir. 1992); 1 Irving Scher, et al., Antitrust

Adviser (4th ed. 2001) § 1.04.  Accepting the allegations contained in the complaint as true, the court finds

that plaintiff has failed to allege a contract, combination, or conspiracy among two or more independent

actors.  Plaintiff’s complaint alleges numerous conspiracies and agreements between various defendants. 

For example, plaintiff alleges that “Defendants entered into a combinations [sic] and or conspiracies in

unreasonable restraint of trade or commerce . . . in the markets for hospital supplies, hospital supplies sold in

e-commerce and the capitalization of healthcare technology and supply chain management companies.” 

(Compl., at 87).  Although plaintiff asserts many conspiracy theories, it does not allege any facts that support

its allegations.  See TV Commc’ns Network, Inc., 964 F.2d at 1024 (“Although the modern pleading

requirements are quite liberal, a plaintiff must do more than cite relevant antitrust language to state a claim for

relief.”) (citing Mountain View Pharmacy v. Abbott Labs., 630 F.2d 1383, 1387 (10th Cir. 1980));

Perington Wholesale, Inc. v. Burger King Corp., 631 F.2d 1369, 1373 (10th Cir. 1979) (holding that to

survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint stating violations of the Sherman Act “must allege facts sufficient, if

they are proven, to allow the court to conclude that claimant has a legal right to relief”) (citation omitted); see

also Medical Supply II, 2004 WL 956100, at *3 (dismissing plaintiff’s antitrust claims for, inter alia, failure
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to allege that the named defendants were parties to an unlawful agreement”), rev’d on other grounds, 144

Fed. Appx. 708 (10th Cir. 2005)); Medical Supply I, 2003 WL 21479192, at *3 (D. Kan. June 16,

2003), aff’d, 112 Fed. Appx. 730 (10th Cir. 2004) (“Accepting the allegations contained in the complaint

as true, the court finds plaintiff has failed to allege a contract, combination, or conspiracy among two or

more independent actors, and thus has not stated a claim under § 1.”).  Counts I and II fail to state a claim

upon which relief can be granted.  

b. Sherman Act, § 2 (Counts III and IV) 

Section 2 of the Sherman Act prohibits monopolies in interstate trade or commerce.  15 U.S.C. § 2

(“Every person who shall monopolize, or attempt to monopolize, or combine or conspire with any other

person or persons, to monopolize any part of the trade or commerce among the several States . . . shall be

deemed guilty of a felony.”).  Conduct violates this section when an entity acquires or maintains monopoly

power in such a way as to preclude other entities from engaging in fair competition.  United States v. E.I.

du Pont de Nemours & Co., 351 U.S. 377, 389-90 (1956); Instructional Sys. Dev. Corp. v. Aetna Cas.

& Sur. Co., 817 F.2d 639, 649 (10th Cir. 1987).  “The offense of monopoly under § 2 of the Sherman Act

has two elements: (1) the possession of monopoly power in the relevant market and (2) the willful acquisition

or maintenance of that power as distinguished from growth or development as a consequence of a superior

product, business acumen, or historic accident.”  United States v. Grinnell Corp., 384 U.S. 563, 570-71

(1966).  In the Tenth Circuit, “monopoly power is defined as the ability both to control prices and exclude

competition.”  Tarabishi v. McAlester Reg’l Hosp., 951 F.2d 1558, 1567 (10th Cir. 1991).  Further,

“determination of the existence of monopoly power requires proof of relevant product and geographic

markets.”  Id.  
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Plaintiff’s relevant allegations regarding § 2 of the Sherman Act specifically consists of the following

paragraph:

Defendants collectively have at all times material to this complaint
maintained, attempted to achieve and maintain, or combined or conspired to
achieve and maintain, a monopoly over the sale of hospital supplies, the sale of
hospital supplies in e-commerce, and over the capitalization of healthcare
technology companies and supply chain management companies in the several
Stated [sic] of the United States; and have used, attempted to use, or combined
and conspired to use, their monopoly power to affect competition in the sale of
hospital supplies, the sale of hospital supplies in e-commerce, and over the
capitalization of healthcare technology companies and supply chain management
companies sale [sic] of the same in the several States of the United States in
violation of 15 U.S.C. § 2.

(Compl., at 96).  

Thus, even accepting each of plaintiff’s allegations as true, plaintiff has clearly failed to allege (1)

defendants’ possession of monopoly power, (2) a relevant product and geographic market, or (3) that

defendants either controlled prices and excluded competition.  See Medical Supply II, 144 Fed. Appx. at

713 (affirming the district court’s holding on plaintiff’s Sherman Act, § 2 claim, and stating that “we see no

reason to disturb the district court’s conclusion that [plaintiff] failed to state a claim that GE had illegally

monopolized or attempted to monopolize the North American hospital supply e-commerce market”);

Medical Supply I, 2003 WL 21479192, at *3 (“Here, plaintiff has failed to allege that defendants both

controlled prices and excluded competition.  Further, plaintiff has not pled the existence of a relevant

product market or geographic market.  Plaintiff has not stated that defendants’ alleged market power stems

from defendants’ willful acquisition or maintenance of that power rather than from defendants’ development

“of a superior product, business acumen, or historic accident.”).  The court finds that Counts III and IV fail

to state a claim of monopoly under § 2.
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c. Clayton Act (Count V)

A provision of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 19, prohibits persons from serving, at the same time, as

a director or officer of any two corporations that are engaged in commerce and are competitors, “so that the

elimination of competition by agreement between them would constitute a violation of any of the antitrust

laws.”  15 U.S.C. § 19(a)(1).  Plaintiff’s complaint, however, fails to allege who the alleged interlocking

directors are, for which defendants’ companies they serve, or that the corporations in question are actual

competitors.  For these reasons, plaintiff’s Count V is dismissed for failure to state a claim.  

d. RICO (Count XV)

To plead a viable civil RICO claim under 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), plaintiff must allege that a defendant

“‘(1) participated in the conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of racketeering activity.’” 

Abbott v. Chem. Trust , 2001 WL 492388, at *15 (D. Kan. Apr. 26, 2001) (quoting BancOklahoma

Mortgage Corp. v. Capital Title Co., 194 F.3d 1089, 1100 (10th Cir. 1999)).  Plaintiff also alleges that

defendants conspired to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c).  See 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).  Under Rule 9(b), plaintiff

must allege with particularity not only each element of a RICO violation, but also the predicate acts of

racketeering.  Phillips USA, Inc. v. Allflex USA, Inc., 1993 WL 191615, at *2 (D. Kan. May 21, 1993)

(quoting Farlow v. Peat, Marwick, Mitchell & Co., 956 F.2d 982, 989 (10th Cir. 1992)).  To properly

allege the predicate acts, plaintiff must specify the “who, what, where, and when” of each purported act.  Id.

(citation omitted).
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Here, plaintiff failed to sufficiently allege the “who, what, where, and when” its RICO claim. 

Plaintiff’s specific RICO allegations consists of the following: “The Defendants engaged in (1) conduct (2) of

an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of racketeering activity,” as well as numerous assertions that

defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, a law firm based in Kansas City, Missouri, violated RICO by

conspiring with other unspecified defendants to shut plaintiff out of the healthcare supply industry.  Again,

plaintiff offers no specific facts in support of its numerous allegations.  Thus, plaintiff’s RICO claim fails to

state a claim for which relief may be granted.  

Plaintiff also cites to 18 U.S.C. §§ 1503 and 1513 in its RICO discussion.  Section 1503 prohibits

influencing, intimidating, impeding or injuring a juror or officer of the court, 18 U.S.C. § 1503(a), while §

1513 prohibits retaliation against a witness for attending or testifying in an official proceeding, or for

providing information relating to the commission of a federal offense to a law enforcement officer, 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1513(a)(1).   Plaintiff seems to argue that defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy violated these statutes

when it lodged ethics complaints against Mr. Landrith.  Plaintiff’s allegations have nothing to do with

unlawfully influencing a juror or officer of the court, or retaliating against a witness or informant.  Therefore,

these allegations fail to state a claim. 

Also as part of its RICO claim, plaintiff alleges that defendants violated 17 U.S.C. § 506 when it

“stole copyrighted works to keep Medical Supply from realizing its plan to enter the market for hospital

suppliers . . . that included business plans, algorithms, confidential proprietary business models, customer

and associate lists from Medical Supply Chain, Inc. in 2002 and from its predecessor company Medical

Supply Management in 1995 and 1996.”  (Compl., at 110).  This is the entirety of detail plaintiff gives

regarding its criminal copyright claim.  Thus, plaintiff does not allege exactly what material was stole by
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whom, how the allegedly stolen material fits the definition of copyrighted material, or how the material was

stolen. 

Plaintiff also alleges that defendants violated 18 U.S.C. § 2319.   However, because plaintiff makes

absolutely no allegations regarding this statute other than to state that “Defendants [sic] violation falls under

18 USC § 2319,” this claim fails to state a valid claim.  

As part of its RICO claims, plaintiff also alleges that defendants violated the Hobbs Act “by

preventing Medical Supply’s entry into commerce under color of official right,” citing to 18 U.S.C. § 1951. 

Section 1951 prohibits the obstruction, delay or affection of commerce by robbery or extortion.

Significantly, extortion is defined as the “wrongful use of actual or threatened force, violence, or fear, under

color of official right.”  18 U.S.C. § 1951(b)(2).  Here, there is no allegation that defendants, who are

private parties, acted under color of official right, or acted with any force, violence or fear.  Therefore,

plaintiff’s claim under the Hobbs Act fails to state a claim.

e. USA PATRIOT Act (Count XVI)

Plaintiff alleges that all defendants, through defendants US Bancorp NA and U.S. Bank National

Association, violated two sections of the USA PATRIOT Act, 31 U.S.C. § 5318(g)(3) and 18 U.S.C. §

1030, by “maliciously” filing a suspicious activity report regarding plaintiff and its founder Samuel Lipari.  No

private cause of action exists to enforce the USA PATRIOT Act.  Medical Supply I, 112 Fed. Appx. at

731.  Therefore, plaintiff’s USA PATRIOT Act claims are dismissed.    

f. State Law Claims

Federal district courts have supplemental jurisdiction over state law claims that are part of the “same

case or controversy” as federal claims.  28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).  “[W]hen a district court dismisses the federal

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume IV  1522



-19-

claims, leaving only the supplemental state claims, the most common response has been to dismiss the state

claim or claims without prejudice.”  United States v. Botefuhr, 309 F.3d 1263, 1273 (10th Cir. 2002)

(quotation marks, alterations, and citation omitted).  Having dismissed each of plaintiff’s federal claims, this

court finds no compelling reason to retain jurisdiction over the state law claims and dismisses them without

prejudice.

2. Issue/Claim Preclusion 

Several defendants argue that issue and/or claim preclusion bar several of plaintiff’s claims.  Claim

and issue preclusion are rules of “fundamental and substantial justice that enforce[] the public policy that

there be an end to litigation.”  May v. Parker-Abbott Transfer & Storage, Inc., 899 F.2d 1007, 1009

(10th Cir. 1990) (internal citation and quotation omitted).  Claim and issue preclusion serve to “avoid[]

unnecessary expense and vexation for parties, conserve[] judicial resources, and encourage[] reliance on

judicial action.”  Id.  

Under the doctrine of issue preclusion, “‘[w]hen an issue of ultimate fact has once been determined

by a valid and final judgment, that issue cannot again be litigated between the same parties in any future

lawsuit.’”  Botefuhr, 309 F.3d at 1282 (quoting Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 443 (1970)).  

Four elements must be demonstrated in order to trigger issue
preclusion: “(1) the issue previously decided is identical with the one presented
in the action in question, (2) the prior action has been fully adjudicated on the
merits, (3) the party against whom the doctrine is invoked was a party, or in
privity with a party, to the prior adjudication, and (4) the party against whom
the doctrine is raised had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in the
prior action.”

Id. at 1282 (quotations omitted).

08-3187 Medical Supply Chain vs. Neoforma Volume IV  1523



6 The court is confident that several of plaintiff’s instant claims, to the extend that the court
understands them, are also precluded by issue preclusion.  However, because the court has several other
grounds on which to base dismissal of plaintiff’s claims, the court opts to not wade through the details of
plaintiff’s claims looking for previously-litigated issues.

-20-

On the other hand, “claim preclusion applies when three elements exist: (1) a final judgment on the

merits in an earlier action; (2) identity of the parties in the two suits; and (3) identity of the cause of action in

both suits.”  MACTEC, Inc. v. Gorelick, 427 F.3d 821, 831 (10th Cir. 2005) (citations omitted).  “If these

requirements are met, [claim preclusion] is appropriate unless the party seeking to avoid preclusion did not

have a ‘full and fair opportunity’ to litigate the claim in the prior suit.  Id. (quoting Yapp v. Excel Corp., 186

F.3d 1222, 1226 n.4 (10th Cir. 1999)). 

Here, at least five of plaintiff’s claims against three defendants are barred by claim preclusion.  In

Medical Supply I, plaintiff brought suit against three of the same defendants as the instant case: US Bancorp

NA, Piper Jaffray, and Andrew Cesare.  This court reached final judgment on the merits of each of plaintiff’s

claims in US Bancorp by dismissing each claim for failure to state a claim for which relief can be granted

pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).  See Medical Supply I, 2003 WL 21479192.  Moreover, the Tenth Circuit

affirmed this court’s dismissal.  See Medical Supply I, 112 Fed. Appx. (10th Cir. 2004).  The identical

claims include Sherman Act § 1 claims, 15 U.S.C. § 1 (Counts I and II of the instant action), Sherman Act §

2 claims, 15 U.S.C. § 2 (Counts III and III), the Hobbs Act claims, 18 U.S.C. § 1951(b)(2) (Count XV),

the USA PATRIOT Act claims, 31 U.S.C. § 5318 (Count XVI), as well as several state claims.  Finding

that each of these claims (1) ended in a judgment on the merits in a prior case, (2) involved the many of the

same defendants and (3) involved the same causes of action, the court finds that claim preclusion bars

plaintiff’s claims as to the identical defendants.6 
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3. Rule 8

Plaintiff’s complaint, as a whole, violates Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 8(a) and 8(e)(1). 

Rule 8(a) states: “A pleading . . . shall contain . . a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the

pleader is entitled to relief.”  Rule 8(e)(1) elaborates on the short and plain requirement in requiring each

averment to be “simple, concise, and direct.”  Plaintiff’s 115 page, 613 paragraph complaint falls miles from

Rule 8’s boundaries.  Pages seven through fifty of plaintiff’s complaint are organized under the heading of

“The Relative Markets” and consist of a multitude of unsupported, unauthenticated commentary about the

healthcare industry in the United States.  These “facts” include quotes from President George W. Bush, U.S.

Senate Committee hearing testimony, quotations from newspaper articles and study findings.  Also included

is wholly irrelevant information such as paragraph eighty-eight, which seeks to educate the court about the

number of deaths in 2003 resulting from the lack of affordable health insurance, as well as unsubstantiated

and very weighty allegations, such as that “defendants in combinations and or conspiracies with hospital

suppliers, distributors and manufacturers caused hospitals to be overcharged $30,000,000,000.00 (thirty

billion dollars) in 2002.”  (Compl., at 11).  Pages fifty to eighty-four comprise  a section entitled “Events,”

which includes some background of this case and others, allegations regarding defendants and other third

persons, caselaw, newspaper article quotations, and discussion about disciplinary complaints lodged against

Mr. Landrith, to name a few.  The “Claims for Relief” section starts on page eighty-six, and continues in the

same style.  For instance, the discussion of plaintiff’s first count spans eleven pages, excluding the fact that

plaintiff begins each count by realleging all previous paragraphs.  In sum, plaintiff’s complaint is so

exceptionally verbose and cryptic that dismissal is appropriate.
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Although the short and plain requirement of Rule 8 is a low burden, several courts have dismissed

complaints like plaintiff’s.  See United States el rel. Garst v. Lockheed-Martin Corp., 328 F.3d 374,

378-79 (7th Cir. 2003) (affirming dismissal of plaintiff’s 155 page, 400 paragraph complaint, holding that

“[l]ength may make a complaint unintelligible, by scattering and concealing in a morass of irrelevancies the

few allegations that matter”) (citing In re Westinghouse Sec. Litig., 90 F.3d 696, 702-03 (3d Cir. 1996)

(240 pages, 600 paragraphs); Kuehl v. FDIC, 8 F.3d 905, 908-09 (1st Cir. 1993) (43 pages, 358

paragraphs), Michaelis v. Neb. State Bar Assoc., 717 F.2d 437, 439 (8th Cir. 1983) (98 pages, 144

paragraphs)).  

The court is unwilling to allow plaintiff to amend its complaint for three reasons.  First, for reasons

explained more fully below, the court believes amendment would be futile.  Second, before requesting

sanctions against plaintiff, two groups of defendants gave plaintiff at least twenty-one days notice pursuant to

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11(c)(1)(A).  After receiving such notice, plaintiff chose not to withdraw or

amend its complaint.  Therefore, any additional opportunity is not necessary. Third, the author of the

complaint is plaintiff’s original counsel, Mr. Landrith.  Mr. Hawver recently entered his appearance on behalf

of plaintiff, but has chosen not to amend the complaint in this case.  Thus, Mr. Hawver has chosen to step

into the shoes of Mr. Landrith and adopt the complaint as his own. 

D. Defendants’ Requests for Sanctions (Docs. 22 and 36)

Two groups of defendants filed two separate motions for sanctions against plaintiff and plaintiff’s

counsel.  Defendants argue that sanctions are warranted pursuant to Federal Civil Procedure Rule 11 and

28 U.S.C. § 1927 in light of plaintiff’s decision to disregard previous admonitions from this court and the
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Tenth Circuit.  Defendants also contend that plaintiff and its counsel filed the instant lawsuit unnecessarily to

harass and annoy defendants with frivolous and costly litigation. 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11(b) states that by filing a pleading, an attorney is certifying that the

information contained in the motion, 

(1) it is not being presented for any improper purpose, such as to harass or to
cause unnecessary delay or needless increase in the cost of litigation; 

(2) the claims, defenses, and other legal contentions therein are warranted by
existing law or by a nonfrivolous argument for the extension, modification, or
reversal of existing law or the establishment of new law; 

(3) the allegations and other factual contentions have evidentiary support or, if
specifically so identified, are likely to have evidentiary support after a
reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery; and

(4) the denials of factual contentions are warranted on the evidence or, if
specifically so identified, are reasonably based on a lack of information or
belief.

Violation of these requirements will result in sanctions imposed by the court.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(c); see

Griffen v. City of Okla. City, 3 F.3d 336, 342 (10th Cir. 1993) (“Rule 11 requires the district court to

impose sanctions if a document is signed in violation of the Rule.”).  The standard for Rule 11 sanctions is an

objective one.  See White v. Gen. Motors Corp., 908 F.2d 675, 680 (10th Cir. 1990) (“A good faith belief

in the merit of an argument is not sufficient; the attorney’s belief must also be in accord with what a

reasonable, competent attorney would believe under the circumstances.”).  Likewise, subjective bad faith is

not required to trigger Rule 11 sanctions.  Burkhart ex rel. Meeks v. Kinsley Bank, 804 F.2d 588, 589

(10th Cir. 1986). 

Section 1927 provides that “[a]ny attorney . . . who so multiplies the proceedings in any case

unreasonably and vexatiously may be required by the court to satisfy personally the excess costs, expenses,
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and attorneys’ fees reasonably incurred because of such conduct.”  28 U.S.C. § 1927. Sanctions may be

imposed under § 1927 “for conduct that, viewed objectively, manifests either intentional or reckless

disregard of the attorney’s duties to the court.”  Braley v. Campbell, 832 F.2d 1504, 1512 (10th Cir.

1987).  Like Rule 11, the court must apply an objective standard, and subjective bad faith is not a necessary

showing for application of § 1927 sanctions.  Because § 1927 is penal in nature, an award should only be

made “‘in instances evidencing a serious and standard disregard for the orderly process of justice’” and the

court must be aware of the “need to ensure that the statute does not dampen attorneys’ zealous

representation of their clients’ interests.”  Ford Audio Video Sys., Inc. v. AMX Corp., Inc., 1998 WL

658386, at *3 (10th Cir. Sept. 15, 1998) (quoting Dreiling v. Peugeot Motors of Am., Inc., 768 F.2d

1159, 1165 (10th Cir. 1985) (internal quotations omitted)).

The court notes that, pursuant to Rule 11(c)(1)(A), both groups of defendants requesting sanctions

gave plaintiff at least twenty-one days notice before filing their motions for sanctions.  “The basic

requirements of due process with respect to the assessment of costs, expenses, or attorney’s fees are notice

that such sanctions are being considered by the court and a subsequent opportunity to respond.”  Braley, at

1514.   Plaintiff responded to defendants’ motions by arguing that claim and issue preclusion do not bar

plaintiff’s claims, and that defendants violated Rule 11 and § 1927 by requesting sanctions.  Plaintiff chose

not to withdraw or amend its complaint.

The court finds that sanctions against plaintiff in the form of attorney fees and costs are appropriate

and necessary pursuant to both Rule 11 and § 1927 for four reasons.  First, the mere fact that plaintiff filed a

nearly unintelligible 115 page complaint, which the court already found violates Rule 8, suggests that

plaintiff’s complaint, and the instant suit as a whole, was brought for the purpose of harassing defendants or
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the court, causing unnecessary delay and/or needlessly increasing the cost of litigation in violation of Rule

11(b)(1).  Second, as discussed above, not one of plaintiff’s federal claims supports a viable claim for which

relief can be granted pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6).  As such, plaintiff’s complaint consists of frivolous claims in

violation of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 11(b)(2).  Moreover, each of plaintiff’s federal claims lack the

evidentiary support needed to avoid violating Rule 11(b)(3).  Third, plaintiff’s insistence on re-litigating

claims barred by claim preclusion “unreasonably and vexatiously” “multiplies the proceedings” in violation of

§ 1927.  

Fourth, and most importantly, plaintiff failed to heed the court’s previous admonitions and sanctions,

choosing instead to proceed with the instant suit and attempt another bite at the proverbial apple.  Plaintiff’s

previous two claims in this court were dismissed for failure to state a claim pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). 

Medical Supply I, 2003 WL 21479192, at *9; Medical Supply II, 2004 WL 956100, at *5.  In Medical

Supply I, the undersigned judge advised plaintiff’s counsel to “take greater care in ensuring that the claims he

brings on his clients’ behalf are supported by the law and the facts.”  Id. at *6.  In the same Order, the

undersigned judged found plaintiff’s allegations “completely divorced from rational thought.”  Id. at *8.  In

Medical Supply II, the undersigned judge noted that  “at the most fundamental level, plaintiff’s antitrust

claims fail.”  2004 WL 956100, at *3. 

Both prior dismissals were affirmed by the Tenth Circuit.  Medical Supply I, 112 Fed. Appx. at

731-32; Medical Supply II, 144 Fed. Appx. at 716.  In Medical Supply I, the Tenth Circuit ordered

plaintiff to show cause why sanctions should not be imposed.  112 Fed. Appx. at 731-32.  The undersigned

judge imposed attorney fees totaling $23,956 and double costs as a sanction against Mr. Landrith.  Medical
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Supply I, 2005 WL 2122675, at *1.  In Medical Supply II, the Tenth Circuit reversed and remanded on

the issue of sanctions against plaintiff, and the issue of sanctions remains pending.  144 Fed. Appx. at 716

Plaintiff and its counsel have had plenty of warning about filing frivolous claims from both this court

and the Tenth Circuit.  But plaintiff persisted, filing a third lawsuit against many of the same defendants and

alleging many of the same claims.  Enough is enough.  See Brooks v. Couchman, 2006 WL 137415, at *1

(10th Cir. Jan. 19, 2006) (affirming the district court’s dismissal of plaintiff’s third attempt at the same

argument, stating that “we have expended valuable court resources on at least two occasions dealing with

[plaintiff] and his various meritless theories.  We repeat our sentiment . . . : ‘We will spend no more judicial

time or resources addressing his frivolous claims.’” (internal citation omitted)); Sweeney v. Resolution Trust

Corp., 16 F3d 1, 6-7 (1st Cir. 1994) (finding that the district court did not abuse its discretion in imposing

sanctions on plaintiffs for filing a third and “repetitive” motion to remand when the court had previously

denied two “almost identical motions and made detailed findings of fact”). 

The court may impose sanctions against plaintiff, plaintiff’s counsel, or against both with joint and

several liability.  White, 908 F.2d at 685-86.  However, “the sanctioning of a party requires specific findings

that the party was aware of the wrongdoing.”  Id. at 685 (citations omitted); Barrett v. Tallon, 30 F.3d

1296, 1303 (10th Cir. 1993) (“Thus, in the case of a frivolously pleaded RICO claim, it seems that the court

should sanction the responsible attorneys rather than the plaintiffs, unless it finds that the plaintiffs insisted,

against the advice of counsel, that the RICO claim be asserted, or that the plaintiffs had a sufficient

understanding of the nature, elements, and limitations of the attempted RICO claim to independently evaluate

its applicability to the alleged facts.”).  
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Certainly plaintiff’s former counsel, Bret D. Landrith, is culpable.  Mr. Landrith was the attorney of

record when each of the sanctionable motions were filed, and Mr. Landrith signed and authored the

complaint and each of the motions before the court.  Nonetheless, sanctions against plaintiff are also

appropriate for two reasons.  First, plaintiff’s CEO and sole shareholder, Samuel Lipari, takes responsibility

for the decisions to knowingly bring the instant lawsuit after the result of plaintiff’s previous attempts at

litigation.  For instance, Mr. Lipari’s affidavit, entitled “Affidavit of Sam Lipari on The Unsuitability of

Transfer,” states: 

I chose to bring this new action in Missouri District court because I have a
responsibility to Medical Supply’s stakeholders . . . to adjudicate these claims. 
I brought two earlier and related actions to Kansas District court based on the
advice of my counsel. I have witnessed first hand that no decision or outcome in
either case including from the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals had any
relationship to the pleadings of my company or applicable law.  I make this
determination based on my considerable personal experience as a clerk and
researcher for a Missouri legal firm and upon discussion with what I believe are
the foremost healthcare antitrust authorities in our nation. 

(Doc. 30, exh. 1).  Mr. Lipari’s affidavit continues with a litany of conspiracy theories involving defendants,

this court, and other government agencies and employees.  Significantly, however, Mr. Lipari’s affidavit also

discusses numerous instances when he actively participated in prior and current litigation.  Mr. Lipari’s

affidavit also discusses attending one of Mr. Landrith’s disciplinary conferences.  Thus, Mr. Lipari was well-

aware of the legal arguments and allegations being brought by his attorney, as well as the disciplinary

allegations against Mr. Landrith prior to his disbarment.  Even so, plaintiff chose to continue vigorously

litigating the instant case.  Second, after Mr. Landrith was disbarred, plaintiff chose to retain new counsel

and continue litigating this case.  Therefore, sanctioning plaintiff as well as Mr. Landrith serves to deter both

from future frivolous filings. 
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In sum, the court finds that defendants’ reasonable attorney fees and costs against plaintiff and Mr.

Landrith jointly and severally is the minimum amount of sanctions necessary to “adequately deter the

undesirable behavior.”  White v. Gen. Motors, 977 F.2d 499, 502 (10th Cir. 1992) (internal quotations and

citations omitted). 

E. Plaintiff’s Motion for Clarification of Order in Case No. 03-2324 (Doc. 45)

Plaintiff’s motion for clarification seems to request this court to clarify its ruling in a separate case,

case number 03-2324, which found that plaintiff’s request to consolidate case number 03-2324 with the

instant case is moot.  Case number 03-2324 was closed as of February 13, 2004, with attorney fees the

only remaining issue.  The court need not address this motion for two reasons.  First, plaintiff has previously

requested the court to “clarify” its decision in case number 03-2324, and the court found plaintiff’s request

moot in light of the posture of the case.  Second, plaintiff’s instant case will soon be closed, as the instant

Memorandum and Order’s holdings dismiss plaintiff’s entire complaint.  Therefore, the issue of whether to

consolidate two closed cases is a moot one. 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that defendant Robert Zollars’ Motion to Dismiss for Lack of

Personal Jurisdiction (Doc. 2); Defendant Neoforma, Inc.’s Motion to Dismiss, [sic] Complaint, or

Alternatively to Require Amendment, Pursuant to F.R.C.P. Rules 8 and 9 (Doc. 4); Defendants US

Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare

and Andrew S. Duffs’ Motion to Transfer, Dismiss and/or Strike (Doc. 6); Defendants Curt Nonomaque

and Robert Baker’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction and for Failure

to State a Claim (Doc. 11); Defendant Shughart Thomson & Kilroy, P.C.’s Motion to Transfer, Dismiss

and/or Strike (Doc. 13); Defendants US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, Piper Jaffray
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Companies, Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare and Andrew S. Duffs’ Renewed Motion to Dismiss

and/or Strike (Doc. 32); and Novation, LLC, VHA Inc., University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert

Baker and Curt Nonomaque’s Renewed Motion to Dismiss Complaint for Failure to State a Claim (Doc.

34) are granted.  Plaintiff’s case is hereby dismissed. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that defendants US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association,

Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A. Grundhofer, Andrew Cesare and Andrew S. Duffs’ Motion for Sanctions

(Doc. 22), and Novation, LLC, VHA Inc., University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert Baker and Curt

Nonomaque’s Motion for Sanctions (Doc. 36) are granted.  Plaintiff and Mr. Bret D. Landrith are hereby

jointly and severally sanctioned in the amount of defendants’ reasonable attorney fees and costs. 

Defendants shall submit an accounting of their attorney fees and costs within twenty (20) days of

this Memorandum and Order.  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration of Order Transferring

Venue (Doc. 28); plaintiff’s Motion to Strike Defendants’ Renewed Motion to Dismiss and/or Strike (Doc.

38); plaintiff’s Motion to Strike Novation Defendants’ Renewed Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 43); and

plaintiff’s Motion for Clarification of Order in Case No. 03-2324 (Doc. 45) are denied.  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants’ Motion to Stay Rule 26(f) Conference and

Discovery (Doc. 24); plaintiff’s Motion to Consolidate Under Rule 42 (Doc. 39); plaintiff’s Motion to

Require Consolidation Arguments to be in the Form of Pleadings on the Record and Notice of Threat of

Unlawful Sanctions (Doc. 42); First Plaintiff’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Under F. R. Civ. P.

Local Rule 56.1 (Doc. 46); plaintiff’s Motion for Leave to Join Additional Defendants Under Fed. R. Civ.

P. 29(a) (Doc. 49); plaintiff’s Motion to Substitute Plaintiff Under F.R.C.P. Rules [sic] 17(a), 15(a) and
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25(a) (Doc. 56); plaintiff’s Motion to Substitute Defendant Under F.R.C.P. Rules [sic] 17(a) (Doc. 57);

and Novation, LLC, VHA Inc., University Healthsystem Consortium, Robert Baker and Curt

Nonomaque’s Motion to Set Oral Hearing on Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 76) are denied as moot.  

SO ORDERED.

Dated this 7th day of March 2006, at Kansas City, Kansas.

 s/ Carlos Murguia                   
   CARLOS MURGUIA
   United States District Judge
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
 
 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., ) 
(Party in interest Samuel K. Lipari) ) 
  Plaintiff,   ) Case No. 05-2299-CM 
v.      ) Formerly W.D. MO. 
NEOFORMA, INC. et al   ) Case No. 05-0210 
 

MOTION TO WITHDRAW 
 

 COMES NOW Ira Dennis Hawver, attorney for the Plaintiff Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc., and moves the Court, pursuant to Rule 83.5.5 of the Rules of 

Practice and Procedure for the United States District Court for the District of 

Kansas, for an Order allowing him to withdraw as counsel for Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc., for the following reason: 

1. Party in interest Samuel K. Lipari has dismissed me and no longer 

requires my representation. 

WHEREFORE, counsel respectfully moves this Court for an Order 

allowing Ira Dennis Hawver to withdraw as counsel for Medical Supply Chain, 

Inc. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

      S/Ira Dennis Hawver 
      Ira Dennis Hawver 8337 
      Attorney at Law 
      6993 Highway 92 
      Ozawkie, Kansas 66070 
      Phone: (785) 876-2233 
      Fax: (785) 876-3038 
      E-mail: hawverlaw@direcway.com 
      Attorney for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I, Dennis Hawver certify that on March 17, 2006, I electronically filed the 
foregoing with the clerk of the court by using CM/ECF system which will send a 
notice of electronic filing to the following: 
 
Andrew M. DeMarea 
 
Sophie N. Froelich 
 
Jonathan H. Gregor 
 
Kathleen A. Hardee 
 
Janice Vaughn Mock 
 
Mark A. Olthoff 
 
John K. Power 
 
Stephen N. Roberts 
 
Notice by U.S. Mail, postage pre-paid will be sent to the following 
 
Samuel K. Lapari 
297 NE Bayview 
Lee’s Summit, MO 64201 
 
      Respectfully submitted, 

      S/Ira Dennis Hawver 
      Ira Dennis Hawver 8337 
      Attorney at Law 
      6993 Highway 92 
      Ozawkie, Kansas 66070 
      Phone: (785) 876-2233 
      Fax: (785) 876-3038 
      E-mail: hawverlaw@direcway.com 
      Attorney for Plaintiff 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) 
v.      ) Case No. 05-2299-CM 
      ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
 

SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY’S OPPOSITION TO 
PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION 

NOW THEREFORE, for its opposition to the Motion for Reconsideration filed by Mr. 

Samuel K. Lipari, allegedly on behalf of plaintiff, Medical Supply Chain, Inc., Shughart 

Thomson & Kilroy states as follows: 

1. On March 7, 2006, this Court entered its Memorandum and Order, ruling upon 

several various pending motions, including defendants’ motions to dismiss.  As a result thereof, 

plaintiff’s claims have been dismissed. 

2. On March 14, 2006, plaintiff’s CEO, Mr. Samuel K. Lipari, discharged his legal 

counsel and purported to enter his appearance, pro se, on behalf of Medical Supply Chain, Inc.  

Lipari then filed a motion for reconsideration of the March 7, 2006 Order.  Such motion must be 

denied on both procedural and substantive grounds. 

3. Procedural Grounds for Denial 

  a. Mr. Lipari is not a party plaintiff in this case, but instead has simply 

inserted his name into the caption of the case as a “party in interest.”  He is not a plaintiff, and 

cannot unilaterally substitute himself as such.  
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  b. There is no substantive reason for a request by Mr. Lipari to be substituted 

as a plaintiff for the corporation in this action.  Pursuant to K.S.A. § 17-6807, corporations have 

the capacity to sue and to be sued for three years after their date of dissolution.   

  c. Rather, Mr. Lipari is aware that as a non-attorney, he is prohibited from 

representing the corporation.  Such is in fact the unauthorized practice of law.  For that reason, 

Mr. Lipari is attempting to make himself an individual defendant so that he has the ability to 

represent himself, pro se. 

  d. Procedurally, the Local Rules of Civil Procedure for the District of 

Kansas, Rule 7.3(a), provides that “reconsideration” of dispositive orders is only permitted in the 

form of a motion for new trial, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 59 (inapplicable here)or a motion for 

relief from a judgment or order, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P.  60.  Plaintiff’s motion cites to no 

relevant justification under Fed.R.Civ. 60 for reconsidering the Memorandum and Order (see 

para. 4, below). 

4. Substantive grounds for denial -  Lipari’s motion for reconsideration of the 

Court’s March 7, 2006 Memorandum and Order cites no new arguments, no new evidence and 

no new law.  Nothing new is included within the motion for reconsideration which was not 

previously briefed and considered by this Court in the Memorandum and Order (and in each 

previous ruling on the same issues.)  In particular, when the issues in this particular case have 

been considered on multiple occasions by multiple courts, reconsideration would be an 

extraordinary further waste of judicial resources. 

5. Shughart Thomson & Kilroy incorporates herein its previously filed motion to 

dismiss, memoranda in support and the arguments, authorities and evidence relied upon therein.   
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6. As noted by this Court in its Memorandum and Order granting sanctions, this case 

has continued far too long, totally without legal basis.  It should not be allowed to continue 

further. 

WHEREFORE, for the above and foregoing reasons, Samuel K. Lipari’s Motion for 

Reconsideration should be denied, defendants be awarded there costs herein, and for such other 

and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
   /s/  Kathleen A. Hardee  
KATHLEEN A. HARDEE 13923 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT SHUGHART 
THOMSON & KILROY 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify a true and correct copy of the above item was filed in PDF format with 
the Court pursuant to its Case Management / Electronic Case Files program and thereby a notice 
of filing was e-mailed to counsel of record herein, all on the 21 day of March, 2006. 

 
 
/s/ Kathleen A. Hardee  
Attorney for Defendant 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) 
v.      ) Case No. 05-2299-CM 
      ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
 

MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO 
PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION 

Plaintiff’s “Motion for Reconsideration” should be denied.  The Court’s Memorandum and 

Order of March 7, 2006 should stand.  As further reasons in opposition to plaintiff’s “Motion for 

Reconsideration,” defendants state: 

1. On March 7, 2006, the Court entered its Memorandum and Order dismissing the 

plaintiff’s claims. 

2. On March 14, 2006, plaintiff–by “interested party” Sam Lipari–filed its “Motion for 

Reconsideration” of the Memorandum and Order.  Mr. Lipari has not been substituted as a party 

plaintiff in this case and he has not entered his appearance as attorney of record.  Moreover, no 

attorney of record filed the “Motion for Reconsideration” and neither Mr. Lipari (who is not an 

attorney) nor plaintiff (itself) can represent Medical Supply.  The motion should, therefore, be 

stricken. 

3. In any event, no reason has been presented why the Court’s Memorandum and Order 

should be revisited.  Plaintiff’s brief is nothing more than a re-hash of the arguments the Court has 

now rejected several times.  Plaintiff has not submitted any new law or new evidence justifying 

reconsideration or in any respect altering or amending the March 7, 2006 Memorandum and Order. 
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4. The “motion” violates the Court’s Local Rule 7.3(a), which provides that 

“reconsideration” of dispositive orders is not permitted.  Plaintiff has not filed a motion requesting 

relief under Fed. R. Civ. P. 59 or 60. 

5. Defendants incorporate by this reference all of their previously filed memoranda of 

law, authorities and evidence in support of their various motions to dismiss. 

6. This litigation should be ended.  Defendants would suffer manifest injustice should 

the Court reconsider the Memorandum and Order. 

For all of the above reasons, plaintiff’s “Motion for Reconsideration” should be denied. 

 
 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF KS FED #70339 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 
 
and 
 
ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES, 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, ANDREW CECERE 
AND ANDREW S. DUFF 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify a true and correct copy of the above item was filed in PDF format with the 
Court pursuant to its Case Management / Electronic Case Files program and thereby a notice of 
filing was e-mailed to counsel of record herein, all on the 24th day of March, 2006. 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) 
v.      ) Case No. 05-2299-CM 
      ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
 

DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO FILE EXHIBITS UNDER SEAL 

Pursuant to D. Kan. Local Rule 5.4.6, the below-named Defendants collectively move this 

Court for an Order allowing them to file, under seal, three exhibits supporting these Defendants’ 

contemporaneously-filed Motion for Attorneys’ Fees.  In support of this motion, Defendants state: 

1. On March 7, 2006, this Court entered a Memorandum and Order granting 

Defendants’ motions to dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief 

can be granted.  In that Memorandum and Order, the Court also granted Defendants’ Motion for 

Sanctions. 

2. Pursuant to the Court’s March 7, 2006 Memorandum and Order, Defendants have 

contemporaneously filed a Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Memorandum in Support of Motion for 

Attorneys’ Fees. 

3. Three exhibits that are referenced in, and intended to accompany, Defendants’ 

Memorandum in Support have not been filed.  Those exhibits are:  (1) billing records for March 

2005 through February 2006 setting forth the attorneys’ fees sought by Defendants (Exhibits A, B); 

and (2) the Declaration of Mark A. Olthoff (Exhibit C), which verifies the amount of attorneys’ fees 

sought by Defendants. 
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4. The billing records contain detailed descriptions of the work performed by counsel 

for Defendants in representing Defendants during the course of the case.  The Declaration of 

Mark A. Olthoff contains rate information in explaining and verifying the attorneys’ fees sought. 

5. Based on the sensitive nature of the information contained in the billing records and 

Declaration, and Defendants’ desire to keep the information confidential, Defendants respectfully 

request that the Court enter an Order allowing Defendants to file the billing records and Declaration 

under seal, with access limited to the Court, the attorneys of record, and the parties to this case. 

6. Plaintiff will not be prejudiced by an Order allowing the billing records and the 

Declaration to be filed under seal because it will nevertheless have full access to both documents. 

7. Defendants further request that the Court not permit any person identified in 

Paragraph 5, with access to such records, to publish or otherwise use these records in any manner 

other than these proceedings or any appeal thereof. 

8. A proposed Order will be submitted to the Court via e-mail upon the filing of this 

Motion. 

WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully request that the Court enter an Order granting them 

leave to file under seal the billing records (Exhibits A, B) and Declaration of Mark A. Olthoff 

(Exhibit C) supporting Defendants’ Motion for Attorneys’ Fees. 
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/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF KS FED #70339 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 
 
and 
 
ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES, 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, ANDREW CECERE 
AND ANDREW S. DUFF 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify a true and correct copy of the above item was filed in PDF format with the 
Court pursuant to its Case Management / Electronic Case Files program and thereby a notice of 
filing was e-mailed to counsel of record herein, all on the 27th day of March, 2006. 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) 
v.      ) Case No. 05-2299-CM 
      ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

Plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc.’s claims in this case were dismissed pursuant to 

Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for failure to state a claim upon which relief 

can be granted.  (See Memorandum and Order dated March 7, 2006.)  The Memorandum and Order 

also granted the below-named Defendants’ Motion for Sanctions, awarding their attorneys’ fees and 

costs because of Plaintiff’s (and its former counsel’s) violations of Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 and 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1927.  Defendants therefore move the Court to enter an Order determining the amount of 

attorneys’ fees incurred by Defendants in opposing Plaintiff’s Complaint and awarding that amount 

to Defendants. 

Defendants’ counsel has analyzed the billing records applicable to this matter.  The billing 

records applicable to the case are attached to this memorandum as Exhibits A and B.  The records 

identify each time entry by date, the attorney or paralegal performing the work, time expended, and 

amount.  Each time entry also contains a description of the work performed. 

After closely analyzing the billing records, Defendants’ counsel has determined that the total 

amount of attorneys’ fees incurred in successfully opposing Plaintiff’s Complaint is $59,856.41.  

(See Ex. C, Declaration of Mark A. Olthoff, at ¶ 3.) 
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The $59,856.41 figure is verified and sworn pursuant to the Declaration of Mark A. Olthoff.  

(See Ex. C.)  Only that work done and expenses incurred for responding to the March 9, 2005 

Complaint is included.  (Id. ¶¶ 3, 6.)  Based on Defendants’ counsel’s detailed review of the billing 

records, and personal knowledge of the work completed, the attorneys’ fees sought are true, 

accurate, and reasonable.  (Id. at ¶¶ 7-9.)  Moreover, the work underlying the attorneys’ fees was 

necessary to properly oppose Plaintiff’s Complaint and obtain dismissal.  (Id. at ¶¶ 3, 4, 6-9; 

Exhibits A, B to Memorandum.) 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants respectfully request that the Court enter an Order 

determining that Defendants should be awarded $59,856.41 in attorneys’ fees. 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF KS FED #70339 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 
 
and 
 
ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES, 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, ANDREW CECERE 
AND ANDREW S. DUFF 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify a true and correct copy of the above item was filed in PDF format with the 
Court pursuant to its Case Management / Electronic Case Files program and thereby a notice of 
filing was e-mailed to counsel of record herein, all on the 27th day of March, 2006. 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) 
v.      ) Case No. 05-2299-CM 
      ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

Plaintiff Medical Supply Chain, Inc.’s claims in this case were dismissed pursuant to 

Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure for failure to state a claim upon which relief 

can be granted.  (See Memorandum and Order dated March 7, 2006.)  The Memorandum and Order 

also granted the below-named Defendants’ Motion for Sanctions, awarding their attorneys’ fees and 

costs because of Plaintiff’s (and its former counsel’s) violations of Fed. R. Civ. P. 11 and 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1927.  Defendants therefore move the Court to enter an Order determining the amount of 

attorneys’ fees incurred by Defendants in opposing Plaintiff’s Complaint and awarding that amount 

to Defendants. 

Defendants’ counsel has analyzed the billing records applicable to this matter.  The billing 

records applicable to the case are attached to this memorandum as Exhibits A and B.  The records 

identify each time entry by date, the attorney or paralegal performing the work, time expended, and 

amount.  Each time entry also contains a description of the work performed. 

After closely analyzing the billing records, Defendants’ counsel has determined that the total 

amount of attorneys’ fees incurred in successfully opposing Plaintiff’s Complaint is $59,856.41.  

(See Ex. C, Declaration of Mark A. Olthoff, at ¶ 3.) 
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The $59,856.41 figure is verified and sworn pursuant to the Declaration of Mark A. Olthoff.  

(See Ex. C.)  Only that work done and expenses incurred for responding to the March 9, 2005 

Complaint is included.  (Id. ¶¶ 3, 6.)  Based on Defendants’ counsel’s detailed review of the billing 

records, and personal knowledge of the work completed, the attorneys’ fees sought are true, 

accurate, and reasonable.  (Id. at ¶¶ 7-9.)  Moreover, the work underlying the attorneys’ fees was 

necessary to properly oppose Plaintiff’s Complaint and obtain dismissal.  (Id. at ¶¶ 3, 4, 6-9; 

Exhibits A, B to Memorandum.) 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Defendants respectfully request that the Court enter an Order 

determining that Defendants should be awarded $59,856.41 in attorneys’ fees. 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF KS FED #70339 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 
 
and 
 
ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES, 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, ANDREW CECERE 
AND ANDREW S. DUFF 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify a true and correct copy of the above item was filed in PDF format with the 
Court pursuant to its Case Management / Electronic Case Files program and thereby a notice of 
filing was e-mailed to counsel of record herein, all on the 27th day of March, 2006. 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. ) Case No. 05-2299-CM
)

NOVATION, LLC, et al., )
)

Defendants. )

ORDER

Before the Court is Defendants' Motion to File Exhibits Under Seal (Doc. #84), filed

March 27, 2006.  For good cause shown, the Court grants the motion and orders that Defendants are

granted leave to file the billing records (Exhibits A, B) and Declaration of Mark A. Olthoff (Exhibit

C) supporting their Motion for Attorneys' Fees under seal.  It is further ordered that no party,

attorney or other person with access to such records publish or use them for any purpose other than

these proceedings or any appeal thereof.

Dated this 27th day of March, 2006.

s/ Carlos Murguia                       
Carlos Murguia
United States District Court Judge
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 2:05-cv-2299-CM 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 

 
 

MOTION FOR LEAVE TO 
FILE ACCOUNTING ONE DAY OUT OF TIME 

 
Defendants Novation, LLC (“Novation”), VHA Inc. (“VHA”), University Healthsystem 

Consortium (“UHC”), Robert Baker, and Curt Nonomaque (collectively, “Defendants”) move 

the Court for a one-day extension to file its Accounting of their attorneys fees and costs pursuant 

to the March 7, 2006 Order.  Defendants request that they be given to March 28, 2006 to file 

their Accounting.  The reasons for this Motion are as follows: 

 1. The undersigned counsel for Defendants was detained out of town and was unable 

to file the Accounting or a motion for extension. 

 2. No party will be prejudiced by a one-day delay in filing the Accounting. 

 3. Defendants thus request that they be given until March 28, 2006 to file and serve 

their Accounting. 

 4. No prior extension of time to file the Accounting has been requested. 

 WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully request the Court to enter an Order granting 

Defendants leave to file their Accounting of their attorneys fees and costs on March 28, 2006.   
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HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on March 28, 2006, I electronically filed the foregoing with the clerk 
of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the 
following: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Sophie N. Froelich   sfroelich@nossaman.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Ira Dennis Hawver   hawverlaw@direcway.com 
Janice Vaughn Mock   jvaughnmock@nossaman.com 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 
Stephen N. Roberts   sroberts@nossaman.com 
 
I further certify that I mailed the foregoing document and the notice of electronic filing 

by first-class mail to the following non-CM/ECF participant: 
 
Samuel K. Lapari 
297 NE Bayview 
Lee’s Summit, MO 64201 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 2:05-cv-2299-CM 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 

 
 

NOVATION, LLC, VHA INC., 
UNIVERSITY HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM 
ROBERT BAKER AND CURT NONOMAQUE’S  

OPPOSITION TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION 
 

 
Defendants Novation, LLC (“Novation”), VHA Inc. (“VHA”), University Healthsystem 

Consortium (“UHC”), Robert Baker, and Curt Nonomaque (collectively, “Defendants”) oppose 

the Motion for Reconsideration filed by Samuel K. Lipari and state as follows: 

1. Defendants join in and adopt the arguments set forth in Shughart Thompson & 

Kilroy’s Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration (filed 3/21/06) and in the 

Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration filed by the Defendants 

US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A. Grundhofer, 

Andrew Cecere and Andrew S. Duff (filed 3/24/2006).   

2. In further response, Defendants also incorporate by reference all their previously 

filed briefing in support of the Motion to Dismiss and the Motions for Sanctions. 

For all of the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff’s Motion for Reconsideration should be denied. 
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HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on March 28, 2006, I electronically filed the foregoing with the clerk 
of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the 
following: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Sophie N. Froelich   sfroelich@nossaman.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Ira Dennis Hawver   hawverlaw@direcway.com 
Janice Vaughn Mock   jvaughnmock@nossaman.com 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 
Stephen N. Roberts   sroberts@nossaman.com 
 
I further certify that I mailed the foregoing document and the notice of electronic filing 

by first-class mail to the following non-CM/ECF participant: 
 
Samuel K. Lapari 
297 NE Bayview 
Lee’s Summit, MO 64201 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 
MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
v.       ) Case No. 2:05-cv-2299-CM 
       ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 

 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO FILE ACCOUNTING UNDER SEAL 

 
Defendants Novation, LLC (“Novation”), VHA Inc. (“VHA”), University Healthsystem 

Consortium (“UHC”), Robert Baker, and Curt Nonomaque (collectively, “Defendants”) move 

this Court for an Order allowing them to file, under seal, their Accounting of their attorneys fees 

and costs.  In support of this motion, Defendants state: 

1. On March 7, 2006, this Court entered a Memorandum and Order granting 

Defendants’ motions to dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint for failure to state a claim upon which 

relief can be granted.  In that Memorandum and Order, the Court also granted Defendants’ 

Motion for Sanctions. 

2. Defendants are contemporaneously filing an Accounting of Attorney’s Fees and 

Costs as directed by the Court. 

3. The accounting includes (1) billing records for March 2005 through February 

2006 of Kathleen Bone Spangler; (2) Affidavit of Kathleen Bone Spangler; (3) billing records for 

March 2005 through February 2006 of John K. Power; and (4) Declaration of John K. Power. 

4. The billing records contain detailed descriptions of the work performed by 

counsel for Defendants in representing Defendants during the course of the case.  The Affidavit 
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of Kathleen Bone Spangler and Declaration of John K. Power further contain rate information in 

explaining and verifying the attorneys’ fees sought.  

5. Based on the sensitive nature of the information contained in the billing records, 

Affidavit and Declaration, and Defendants’ desire to keep the information confidential, 

Defendants respectfully request that the Court enter an Order allowing Defendants to file the 

billing records, Affidavit and Declaration under seal, with access limited to the Court, the 

attorneys of record, and the parties to this case. 

6. Plaintiff will not be prejudiced by an Order allowing the billing records and the 

Affidavit and Declaration to be filed under seal because it will nevertheless have full access to 

both documents. 

7. Defendants further request that the Court not permit any person identified in 

Paragraph 5, with access to such records, to publish or otherwise use these records in any manner 

other than these proceedings or any appeal thereof. 

8. A proposed Order will be submitted to the Court via e-mail upon the filing of this 

Motion. 

WHEREFORE, Defendants respectfully request that the Court enter an Order granting 

them leave to file under seal the billing records and Affidavit of Kathleen Bone Spangler and the 

billing records and Declaration of John K. Power as their Accounting for their attorneys fees and 

costs. 
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HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 
 
 
 
 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 
1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 
 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 
 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 
LLC, VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 
CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 
HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 
BAKER 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on March 28, 2006, I electronically filed the foregoing with the clerk 
of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the 
following: 
 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 
Sophie N. Froelich   sfroelich@nossaman.com 
Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 
Ira Dennis Hawver   hawverlaw@direcway.com 
Janice Vaughn Mock   jvaughnmock@nossaman.com 
Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 
Stephen N. Roberts   sroberts@nossaman.com 
 
I further certify that I mailed the foregoing document and the notice of electronic filing 

by first-class mail to the following non-CM/ECF participant: 
 
Samuel K. Lapari 
297 NE Bayview 
Lee’s Summit, MO 64201 

 
 
        /s/ John K. Power    
        John K. Power 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC.,  ) 

       ) 

    Plaintiff,  ) 

       ) 

v.       ) Case No. 2:05-cv-2299-CM 

       ) 

NOVATION, LLC, et al.,    ) 

       ) 

    Defendants.  ) 

 

DEFENDANTS’ ACCOUNTING OF ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS 

 

Defendants Novation, LLC (“Novation”), VHA Inc. (“VHA”), University Healthsystem 

Consortium (“UHC”), Robert Baker, and Curt Nonomaque (collectively, “Defendants”) submit 

the following documents, under seal, as their Accounting of Attorneys’ Fees and Costs in 

accordance with the Court’s March 7, 2006 Memorandum and Order: 

(1) Billing records of Kathleen Bone Spangler; 

(2) Affidavit of Kathleen Bone Spangler; 

(3) Billing records of John K. Power; and 

(4) Declaration of John K. Power. 

HUSCH & EPPENBERGER, LLC 

 

 By: /s/ John K. Power  

John K. Power, # 70448 

1200 Main Street, Suite 1700 

 Kansas City, MO  64105 

 Telephone: (816) 421-4800 

 Facsimile: (816) 421-0596 

 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS NOVATION, 

LLC, VOLUNTEER HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION, 

CURT NONOMAQUE, UNIVERSITY 

HEALTHSYSTEM CONSORTIUM, ROBERT J. 

BAKER 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

 I hereby certify that on March 28, 2006, I electronically filed the foregoing with the clerk 

of the court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of electronic filing to the 

following: 

 

Andrew M. DeMarea   ademarea@stklaw.com 

Sophie N. Froelich   sfroelich@nossaman.com 

Kathleen Ann Hardee   khardee@stklaw.com 

Ira Dennis Hawver   hawverlaw@direcway.com 

Janice Vaughn Mock   jvaughnmock@nossaman.com 

Mark A. Olthoff   molthoff@stklaw.com 

Stephen N. Roberts   sroberts@nossaman.com 

 

I further certify that I mailed the foregoing document and the notice of electronic filing 

by first-class mail to the following non-CM/ECF participant: 

 

Samuel K. Lapari 

297 NE Bayview 

Lee’s Summit, MO 64201 

 

 

        /s/ John K. Power    

        John K. Power 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) 
v.      ) Case No. 05-2299-CM 
      ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
 

DEFENDANTS’ EXHIBITS TO BE FILED UNDER SEAL 

Defendants US Bancorp, U.S. Bank National Association, Piper Jaffray Companies, Jerry A. 

Grundhofer, Andrew Cecere And Andrew S. Duff submit the following documents, under seal, as 

their exhibits to the Memorandum in Support of Defendants’ Motion for Attorneys’ Fees filed on 

March 27, 2006: 

A. Billing records of counsel to US Bancorp, U.S. Bank, Jerry Grundhofer and Andrew 

Cecere; 

B. Billing records of counsel to Piper Jaffray and Andrew S. Duff; and 

C. Declaration of Mark A. Olthoff. 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF KS FED #70339 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 
 
and 
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ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES, 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, ANDREW CECERE 
AND ANDREW S. DUFF 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify a true and correct copy of the above item was filed in PDF format with the 
Court pursuant to its Case Management / Electronic Case Files program and thereby a notice of 
filing was e-mailed to counsel of record herein, all on the 29th day of March, 2006. 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

KANSAS CITY, KANSAS 

MEDICAL SUPPLY CHAIN, INC., ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) 
v.      ) Case No. 05-2299-CM 
      ) 
NOVATION, LLC, et al.,   ) 
      ) 
   Defendants.  ) 
 

DEFENDANTS’ MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO 
PLAINTIFF’S MOTIONS FOR LEAVE TO AMEND AND TO STRIKE 

The “plaintiff’s” motions for leave to amend (Doc. #92) and to strike (Doc. #95) should be 

denied.  This lawsuit has been dismissed.  The only remaining issue is with respect to the Court’s 

award of attorneys’ fees. 

While Samuel Lipari continues to file pleadings as a “party in interest,” the Court, in its 

March 7, 2006 Order, denied plaintiff’s motion to substitute a new plaintiff.  (Order at pp. 29-30.)  

The Court should not permit Mr. Lipari to continue to file pleadings as he has not been substituted as 

a party and has no demonstrated authority, legal or otherwise, to represent Medical Supply Chain, 

Inc. in this Court.  See D. Kan. Rule 83.5.1; In re Arnold, 56 P.3d 259 (Kan. 2002); Atchison 

Homeless Shelters, Inc. v. Atchison County, 946 P.2d 113 (Kan. App. 1997).  While Medical Supply 

Chain, Inc.’s previous counsel, Dennis Hawver, has apparently been terminated, no order permitting 

Mr. Lipari to proceed on behalf or instead of Medical Supply Chain, Inc. has been entered.  Unless 

and until Medical Supply Chain, Inc. engages other counsel who enters his or her appearance, 
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Mr. Lipari should be barred from filing any further pleadings in this case in any “pro se,” “party in 

interest” or “representative” capacity.1 

For all of these reasons, plaintiff’s motions to amend (Doc. #92) and to strike (Doc. #95) 

should be denied. 

/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
MARK A. OLTHOFF KS FED #70339 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
1700 Twelve Wyandotte Plaza 
120 W 12th Street 
Kansas City, Missouri  64105-1929 
Telephone:  (816) 421-3355 
Facsimile:  (816) 374-0509 
 
and 
 
ANDREW M. DeMAREA KS #16141 
SHUGHART THOMSON & KILROY, P.C. 
32 Corporate Woods, Suite 1100 
9225 Indian Creek Parkway 
Overland Park, Kansas  66210 
Telephone:  (913) 451-3355 
Facsimile:  (913) 451-3361 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS US 
BANCORP, U.S. BANK NATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION, PIPER JAFFRAY COMPANIES, 
JERRY A. GRUNDHOFER, ANDREW CECERE 
AND ANDREW S. DUFF 

                                                 
1 Mr. Lipari’s suggestion that service of pleadings is improper because he has not received a 

copy of pleadings by mail should be disregarded.  Mr. Lipari is not the plaintiff, the plaintiff’s 
motion to substitute was denied and he is not an attorney of record.  Moreover, it is clear that 
Mr. Lipari has access to the Court’s docket since he is able to identify the pleadings filed. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify a true and correct copy of the above item was filed in PDF format with the 
Court pursuant to its Case Management / Electronic Case Files program and thereby a notice of 
filing was e-mailed to counsel of record herein, all on the 5th day of April, 2006. 

 
 
/s/ Mark A. Olthoff  
Attorney for Defendants 
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